
ACTUA CORP

FORM 10-K
(Annual Report)

Filed 03/31/03 for the Period Ending 12/31/02
    

Address 555 E. LANCASTER AVENUE
SUITE 640
RADNOR, PA 19087

Telephone 610-727-6900
CIK 0001085621

Symbol ACTA
SIC Code 7371 - Computer Programming Services

Industry IT Services & Consulting
Sector Technology

Fiscal Year 12/31

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2016, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.

http://www.edgar-online.com


   



   

________________________________________________________________________________ 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549  

FORM 10-K  
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15 (d) OF THE  

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934  

For Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2002  

Commission file 000-26929  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  

(610) 989-0111  
( Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)  

      Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and 
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports) and (2) has 
been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.     Yes                 No      �  

      Indicated by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be 
contained, to the best of Registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this 
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.      �  

      Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b-2).     Yes      �           No       
            

      The approximate aggregate market value of Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the Company was $59.7 million as of June 28, 2002. 
(For purposes of determining this amount only, the Company has defined affiliates including, as of June 28, 2002, (a) its executive officers, 
(b) its directors and (c) each stockholder that the Company is aware is a beneficial owner of 10% or more of the outstanding common stock of 
the Company.  

      The number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock outstanding as of March 14, 2003 was 286,720,469 shares.  

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  

      Portions of the definitive proxy statement (the “Definitive Proxy Statement”) to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“SEC”) relative to the Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002 are incorporated by reference 
into Part II and Part III of this Report.  

      
Delaware   23-2996071 

(State of other jurisdiction of  
incorporation or organization) 

  (I.R.S. Employer  
Identification Number) 

  
600 Building, 435 Devon Park Drive, Wayne, PA    19087 

(Address of principal executive offices)   (Zip Code) 





   

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
FORM 10-K  

DECEMBER 31, 2002  

INDEX  

2  

                
Page 

Number 

PART I       4   
  Item 1.    Business      4   
  Item 2.    Properties      9   
  Item 3.    Legal Proceedings      9   
  Item 4.    Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders     10   
PART II     10   
  Item 5.    Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters     10   
  Item 6.    Selected Consolidated Financial Data     11   

  
Item 7.  

  
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 
Results of Operations     12   

  Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk     37   
  Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data     37   

  
Item 9.  

  
Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and 
Financial Disclosures     76   

PART III     76   
  Item 10.    Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant     76   
  Item 11.    Executive Compensation     76   
  Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management     76   
  Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions     76   
  Item 14.    Controls and Procedures     76   
PART IV     76   
  Item 15.    Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K     76   
SIGNATURES     82   



   

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
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Persona, Inc. (“Persona”)  
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PART I  

      Although we refer in this report on Form 10-K (“Report”) to companies in which we have acquired a convertible debt or an equity ownership 
interest as our “partner companies” and indicate that we have a “partnership” with these companies, we do not act as an agent or legal 
representative for any of our partner companies, we do not have the power or authority to legally bind any of our partner companies, and we do 
not have the types of liabilities in relation to our partner companies that a general partner of a partnership would have.  

Item 1.      Business  

Business Overview  

      Internet Capital Group, Inc. (“ICG” or the “Company”) is an information technology company actively engaged in delivering software 
solutions and services that are designed to enhance business operations by increasing efficiency, reducing costs and improving sales results. ICG 
operates through a network of partner companies that deliver those solutions to customers. To help drive partner company progress, ICG 
provides operational assistance, capital support, industry expertise, access to operational best practices, and a strategic network of business 
relationships. ICG was formed on March 4, 1996 and is headquartered in Wayne, Pennsylvania.  

      In the information technology industry, certain terms are often used to describe the nature of a company’s business, including the following 
terms: internet company, business to business e-commerce, software company, outsourcing, procurement services, supply chain and customer 
relationship management. These terms apply, in varying degrees, to our partner companies. Our partner companies also typically provide 
customers with systems integration consulting services or stand alone services. For convenience throughout this Report, we generally refer to our 
partner companies’ businesses as technology solutions and services.  

      The current market environment creates a substantial opportunity for providers of software and services that improve sales results, reduce 
costs and increase efficiencies by streamlining business processes both within an enterprise and across the value chain. An increasing number of 
large enterprises are focusing on their core competencies to drive differentiation and competitive advantage for their firms. This means that they 
are looking for ways to outsource non-core, or non-strategic processes that cost time and money, and more importantly distract them from top 
priorities, of achieving profitability, growing market share and delivering new products or services. Our partner companies deliver software and 
services to help businesses focus on their core competencies. As of December 31, 2002, our partner company network is made up of 
38 companies in which we own interests.  

      With a sharp focus on those companies that we believe have the greatest potential to generate value for ICG stockholders, our operating 
strategy is to build and develop our partner companies by providing them with both human and financial resources. This support leverages the 
collective knowledge and best practices both within ICG and across our network of partner companies. We use these collective resources to 
actively support the business strategies, operations and management teams of our partner companies. Our resources include the experience, 
industry relationships and specific expertise of our management team, our partner companies’ management teams, our Board of Directors and 
our Advisory Board.  

      ICG is a successor to a business originally founded as a Delaware limited liability company under the name Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. 
As a limited liability company, Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. was treated for income tax purposes as a partnership with taxes on the income 
generated by Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. paid by its members. Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. merged into Internet Capital Group, Inc. on 
February 2, 1999 with Internet Capital Group, Inc. surviving (the “Reorganization.”) As required by its limited liability company agreement to 
satisfy the members’ tax liabilities, Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. declared a $10.7 million distribution to its members. Internet Capital Group, 
Inc. has assumed all liabilities of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. including the distribution to members of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. Also as 
part of the Reorganization, Internet Capital Group, Inc. issued 164,011,098 shares of common stock to the  
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members of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. The separate existence of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. ceased in connection with the 
Reorganization.  

Industry Overview  

      The internet’s growth creates substantial market opportunities for companies that provide software and services to help traditional businesses 
increase efficiency and cost savings by leveraging the internet and other technologies. Historically, e-commerce has occurred through electronic 
data interchange over proprietary networks, which are costly and available only to a limited number of participants. The internet provides an 
open platform with common communication protocols to build efficient, cost-effective networks that facilitate e-commerce.  

      During 2002, the e-commerce market continued a period of development and growth as enterprises of all sizes and across all industries 
looked for vehicles to help them:  

Increase efficiency and reduce cost  

      Traditional businesses are utilizing the internet to automate their internal operations, including manufacturing, finance, sales and purchasing 
functions. The internet is also used to increase information flow and access throughout the value chain. This increases operational efficiency by 
reducing the time, costs and resources required to transact business, lowering inventory levels and procurement costs and improving 
responsiveness to customers and suppliers. Recently, challenging market conditions only served to increase the need for companies to reduce 
bottom line costs and increase operational efficiencies to support growth, or even survival in some cases.  

Focus on core competencies and outsource non-core, non-strategic processes  

      There are an increasing number of large enterprises focusing on their core competencies to drive differentiation and competitive advantage 
for their firms. This means that they are looking for ways to outsource non-core, or non-strategic, processes that cost time and money, and more 
importantly distract them from their top priorities, which are to grow market share and deliver new products or services.  

Expand access to new and existing customers and suppliers  

      Traditional businesses have relied on their sales forces and purchasing departments to develop and maintain customer and supplier 
relationships. This model is constrained by the time and cost required to exchange current information regarding requirements, prices and 
product availability, and the difficulty of cost-effectively locating new customers and suppliers and managing existing relationships. Traditional 
businesses can leverage the internet to obtain and communicate real-time, accurate information regarding requirements, prices and products to a 
global audience, including suppliers, customers and business partners. This should make it easier for businesses to attract new customers and 
suppliers, improve service and increase revenue.  

      We believe that the benefits of e-commerce are broad and will be realized by businesses in times of economic growth or contraction, because 
e-commerce can be used to build top line revenues in times of growth, and new levels of efficiency in times of contraction.  

Our Solution and Strategy  

      Our goal is to become a leader in information technology by owning significant stakes in leading companies that deliver the savings and 
efficiency of the internet to businesses of all sizes across all industries.  
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      With a sharp focus on those companies that we believe offer the greatest potential to generate value for ICG stockholders, our operating 
strategy is to build and develop our partner companies by providing them with both human and financial resources. This support leverages the 
collective knowledge and best practices both within ICG and across our network of partner companies. We use these collective resources to 
actively support the business strategies, operations and management teams of our partner companies. Our resources include the experience, 
industry relationships and specific expertise of our management team, our partner companies’ management team, our Board of Directors and our 
Advisory Board.  

      Although ICG’s mission of building leading companies has remained constant since its inception, the Company’s focus and operational 
tenets have evolved with the growth of the e-commerce market and in response to changes within the overall business environment. This 
evolution included:  

Identifying key markets and owning stakes in potential leaders  

      Our expertise in the e-commerce market has allowed us to identify companies that we believe are positioned to succeed. In building our 
partner company network, we applied an analysis that capitalized on this competitive advantage. We were very active in acquiring new 
companies during 1999 and 2000, bringing the network composition to an all-time high of 80 companies by late 2000. In evaluating whether to 
enter a market or acquire a stake in a specific company, we weighed each opportunity in terms of several industry and company factors. With 
regards to industry criteria, we evaluated the inefficiencies within each market, its competitive landscape and the potential each market had in 
terms of the number and dollar value of transactions it would be able to support. In measuring the potential of each partner company, we looked 
at market position and share, our ability to own a significant stake and the company’s potential to contribute to the network’s value in terms of 
operational resources and the quality of its management team.  

      After we identified an attractive potential partner company, we negotiated the acquisition of a significant interest in the company. As a 
condition to an acquisition, we generally required representation on the company’s board of directors to ensure our ability to provide active 
guidance to the partner company. We structured acquisitions to permit the partner company’s management and key personnel to retain an equity 
stake in the company. During our negotiations with potential partner companies we emphasized the value of our network and resources, which 
we believe gave us a competitive advantage over other acquirers in successfully consummating transactions.  

      In late 2000, we reallocated our capital resources as described below to focus on those partner companies that we believed presented the 
greatest potential for ICG stockholders. Due to this increased focus on certain existing partner companies, we decreased our focus on new 
acquisitions. Accordingly, our strategy since late 2000 has been to acquire interests in new partner companies only when we believe the strategic 
value of such companies was extremely compelling.  

      After acquiring interests in partner companies, we selectively continue to participate in their follow-on financings and selectively increase 
our ownership positions.  

Aggregating companies into network to promote growth  

      During 1999 and 2000 we acquired interests in numerous partner companies, and as we made those acquisitions, we immediately took an 
active role in the partner companies by providing both strategic guidance and operational support:  

      Strategic Guidance. We provide strategic guidance to our partner companies regarding market positioning, business model development and 
market trends. Our focus on the e-commerce market and the knowledge  
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base of our partner companies, strategic investors, management and advisory board give us valuable experience that we share with our partner 
company network.  

      Operational Support. We provide operational support to our partner companies in the areas of finance, sales and marketing, business 
development and human resources. The majority of our partner companies have an assigned operations and finance team. This team advises our 
partner companies’ management on day-to-day management and operational issues.  

      Exchange of Best Practices and Economies of Scale. One of the principal goals of our network is to promote best practices and economies of 
scale among our partner companies. We promote and facilitate the information flow among our partner companies and as they follow similar 
business cycles and challenges, key learnings are leveraged to increase operational efficiencies, accelerate decision-making and promote growth. 
This includes the negotiation of umbrella vendor contracts in specific areas such as marketing and human resources that can be beneficial to 
many partner companies. Importantly, the challenging economic environment has had a significant effect on most of our partner companies. The 
benefits of a network effect has enabled many of these companies to leverage strategies implemented by some companies to cut costs and evolve 
business models to quickly respond to these common challenges.  

Prioritize resources to accelerate development of most promising companies  

      Although we do and will continue to concentrate on providing the operational and strategic support to promote growth and profitability at our 
partner companies, the market volatility that began in early 2000 necessitated a prioritization of both our human and capital resources toward 
partner companies believed to have the greatest potential to generate value for our stockholders. Based on our active involvement in the e-
commerce market since 1996, we believe that our expertise allows us to identify companies that are positioned to succeed. This enables the 
prioritization of our resources to accelerate the development of partner companies we believe offer the greatest value for our stockholders over 
the long-term. We believe this prioritization and focus will result in the streamlining of our partner company network into a smaller but stronger 
group of companies. We intend to continue to focus on our private and public partner companies that we believe have the greatest value 
potential, which we refer to as our core (“Core”) partner companies. We believe these companies are gaining traction in delivering the software 
and services that we believe have the potential to dramatically increase efficiency and savings for businesses. However, this categorization does 
not necessarily imply that every one of our Core partner companies is a de facto success at this time. Rather, it captures those companies that are 
receiving the majority of management’s time and resources as we consider them our most promising.  

      At December 31, 2002 our Core partner companies consisted of:  

      These Core partner companies deliver a wide array of software and services to help customers streamline and automate business processes 
with the goal of reducing costs and increasing efficiencies both within the four walls of the enterprise and across their individual value chains.  

      We believe that additional partner companies may be included in this category in the future and that, conversely, certain partner companies 
may be removed from this category in the future.  

Government Regulations and Legal Uncertainties  

      Government regulation of the internet and e-commerce is evolving and unfavorable changes could harm our partner companies’ business. 
Our partner companies are subject to general business regulations and laws, as well as regulations and laws specifically governing the internet 
and e-commerce. Such existing and future laws and regulations may impede the growth of the internet or other online services. These regulations 
and laws may cover taxation, user privacy, pricing, content, copyrights, distribution, electronic contracts, consumer protection, the provision of 
online payment services, broadband residential internet access and the characteris-  
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tics and quality of products and services. It is not clear how existing laws governing issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes, 
libel and personal privacy apply to the internet and e-commerce. Unfavorable resolution of these issues may harm our partner companies’ 
business.  

Proprietary Rights  

      Our partner companies have copyrights with respect to software applications, websites and other materials. These materials may constitute an 
important part of our partner companies’ assets and competitive strengths. Federal law generally protects such copyrights for 90 years from the 
creation of the underlying material.  

Competition  

Competition From our Stockholders and Within our Network  

We may compete with one of our stockholders and some of our partner companies, and our partner companies may compete with each other, 
which could deter companies from partnering with us and may limit future business opportunities.  

      We may compete with one of our stockholders and some of our partner companies for internet-related opportunities. As of December 31, 
2002, Safeguard Scientifics, Inc. (“Safeguard Scientifics”) owns 12.9% of our outstanding common stock and may compete with us to acquire 
interests in e-commerce companies. The Chairman of Safeguard Scientifics’ Board of Directors and Safeguard Scientifics’ former Chairman and 
CEO are currently members of our Board of Directors. This may give Safeguard Scientifics access to our business plan and knowledge about 
potential transactions. In addition, we may compete with our partner companies to acquire interests in e-commerce companies and our partner 
companies may compete with each other for e-commerce opportunities. This competition, and the complications posed by the Safeguard 
Scientifics affiliated directors, may deter companies from partnering with us and may limit our business opportunities.  

Competition Facing our Partner Companies  

      Competition for information technology and internet products and services is intense. As the market for e-commerce grows, we expect that 
competition will intensify. Barriers to entry are minimal and competitors can offer products and services at a relatively low cost. Our partner 
companies compete for a share of a customer’s:  

      In addition, some of our partner companies compete to attract and retain a critical mass of buyers and sellers. Several companies offer 
competitive solutions that compete with one or more of our partner companies. We expect that additional companies will offer competing 
solutions on a stand-alone or combined basis in the future. Furthermore, our partner companies’ competitors may develop information 
technology and internet products or services that are superior to, or have greater market acceptance than, the solutions offered by our partner 
companies. Many of our partner companies’ competitors have greater brand recognition and greater financial, marketing and other resources 
than our partner companies. This may place our partner companies at a disadvantage in responding to their competitors’ pricing strategies, 
technological advances, advertising campaigns, strategic partnerships and other initiatives.  

      If our partner companies are unable to compete successfully against their competitors, our partner companies may fail.  
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Employees  

      We have reduced our headcount from 31 at March 15, 2002 to 23 at March 14, 2003 in order to reduce our corporate expenses. Although we 
believe our and our consolidated partner companies current staffing levels are adequate to conduct business, we cannot ensure that we and our 
consolidated partner companies will not need to increase headcount in the future.  

      Headcount at our consolidated partner companies at March 14, 2003 is 1,040.  

Financial Information About Segments  

      Segment information is set forth in Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 below and incorporated 
herein by reference.  

Financial Information About Geographic Areas  

      We do not believe that foreign or geographic area revenues are material or significant to an understanding of our business and operations.  

Item 2.      Properties  

      The location and general description of our properties as of March 14, 2003 are as follows:  

Corporate Offices  

      Our corporate headquarters are located at 435 Devon Park Drive, Building 600 in an office facility located in Wayne, Pennsylvania, where 
we lease approximately 23,000 square feet. We utilize approximately 10,000 square feet for our corporate operations and sublease the residual 
13,000 square feet.  

Partner Company Properties  

      Our consolidated partner companies lease approximately 390,647 square feet of office, administrative, sales and marketing, operations and 
data center space, principally in California, Colorado, Georgia, Illinois, Indiana, Massachusetts, Missouri, New Hampshire, New York, North 
Carolina, Pennsylvania, Texas and Virginia in the United States, and also Australia, Canada, China, France, Germany, Hong Kong, Spain, 
Sweden and the United Kingdom.  

Item 3.      Legal Proceedings  

      In May and June 2001, certain of the Company’s present directors, along with the Company, certain of its former directors, certain of its 
present and former officers and its underwriters, were named as defendants in nine class action complaints filed in the United States District 
Court for the Southern District of New York. The plaintiffs and the alleged classes they seek to represent include present and former 
stockholders of the Company. The complaints generally allege violations of Sections 11 and 12 of the Securities Act of 1933 and Rule 10b-5 
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, based on, among other things, the dissemination of statements allegedly containing 
material misstatements and/or omissions concerning the commissions received by the underwriters of the initial public offering and follow-on 
public offering of the Company as well as failure to disclose the existence of purported agreements by the underwriters with some of the 
purchasers in these offerings to buy additional shares of the Company’s stock subsequently in the open market at pre-determined prices above 
the initial offering prices. The plaintiffs seek for themselves and the alleged class members an award of damages and litigation costs and 
expenses. The claims in these cases have been consolidated for pre-trial purposes (together with other issuers and underwriters) before one judge 
in the Southern District of New York federal court. In April 2002, a consolidated, amended complaint was filed against these defendants which 
generally alleges the same violations and also refers to alleged misstatements or omissions that relate to the recommendations regarding the 
Company’s stock by analysts employed by the underwriters. In June and July 2002, defendants, including the Company defendants, filed 
motions to dismiss plaintiffs’ complaints on numerous grounds. The Company’s motion was denied in its entirety in a lengthy  
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opinion by the Court dated February 19, 2003. The Company will hereafter be required to answer the complaint and participate in the discovery 
process. There have been no other material developments in these cases to date.  

      On August 6, 2002, EOP-One Market, L.L.C. filed a lawsuit against the Company and ten John Doe defendants in the Superior Court of 
California, City and County of San Francisco. The action asserts a claim for breach of contract and alleges a failure to pay rent on property at 
One Market Street, San Francisco, since October 1, 2001, under a lease extending to December 31, 2010. The lawsuit seeks damages, interest, 
attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company has asserted a cross-complaint against EOP-One Market, L.L.C. and 20 John Doe cross-defendants 
asserting claims for breach of contract, return of security deposit and unfair business act or practices. The cross-complaint alleges, among other 
things, that the cross-defendants breached an agreement under which the Company would return a portion of the leased space to EOP-One 
Market, L.L.C. in exchange for a cash payment to the Company. The cross-complaint seeks compensatory damages, interest, restitution of the 
security deposit and an injunction against further withholding of the security deposit amount, attorneys’ fees and costs.  

      On December 20, 2002, the Company was named as a defendant in an action filed in the United States District Court for the District of 
Maine. The plaintiffs include former stockholders of Animated Images, Inc (“Animated Images”), one of the Company’s former partner 
companies. In addition to the Company, the defendants include FreeBorders, a current partner company, and four individual defendants, 
including former officers of the Company and former Animated Images directors. The complaint generally alleges violations of Section 10(b) of 
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Section 5(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, fraud, breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty and civil 
conspiracy, among other claims, in connection with the merger of Animated Images into FreeBorders. In support of these claims, the plaintiffs 
allege, among other things, that the defendants misrepresented the value of the stock of FreeBorders, resulting in plaintiffs’ having received less 
consideration in the merger than that to which they believe they were entitled. The litigation is currently in its preliminary stage.  

Item 4.      Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  

      No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders, through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise, during the fourth quarter of 2002.  

PART II  

Item 5.      Market For Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters  

      (a) Our common stock is currently traded on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market under the symbol “ICGE”. We transferred from the Nasdaq 
National Market to the Nasdaq SmallCap Market effective June 10, 2002. Our initial public offering of stock occurred on August 5, 1999 at 
$6.00 (post split) per share on the Nasdaq National Market. The price range per share reflected in the table below is the highest and lowest sale 
price for our stock as reported by the Nasdaq National Market and the Nasdaq SmallCap Market during each quarter our common stock has been 
publicly traded.  

      As of March 14, 2003, the last reported sale price for our common stock on the Nasdaq SmallCap was $0.29 per share.  

      (b)  Holders. As of March 14, 2003, there were approximately 1,742 holders of record of our common stock, although there is a much larger 
number of beneficial owners.  
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Three Months Ended 

March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31 
2001 2001 2001 2001 2002 2002 2002 2002 

High      6.78       4.14       2.10       1.54       1.58       0.67       0.42       0.89   
Low      1.70       1.22       0.34       0.42       0.61       0.24       0.17       0.15   



   

      (c)  Dividends. We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock and we do not intend to pay cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future. We plan to retain any earnings for use in the operation of our business and to fund future growth.  

      (d)  Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  

      We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our Definitive Proxy 
Statement for our annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Report pursuant to 
Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

Item 6.      Selected Consolidated Financial Data  

      The following table summarizes certain selected historical consolidated financial information of ICG that has been derived from our audited 
consolidated financial statements for each of the five years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999 and 1998. The financial information for 
2001 and 2000 has been adjusted to reflect that the method of accounting for Jamcracker changed from the cost method to the equity method of 
accounting. See Note 1 — “Prior period adjustments” to our Consolidated Financial Statements. The financial information may not be indicative 
of our future performance. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included in this Report.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 

(in thousands, except share data) 
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:                                          
Revenue    $ 108,457     $ 115,651     $ 42,238     $ 16,536     $ 3,135   
Operating Expenses                                          
  Cost of revenue      69,095       84,818       46,065       8,156       4,643   
  Selling, general and administrative      91,870       244,266       243,871       45,606       15,221   
  Research and development expenses      24,100       43,788       68,821       —      —  
  Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles      12,000       125,854       239,813       3,318       293   
  Impairment related and other      12,376       851,257       160,844       —      —  
                                
    Total operating expenses      209,441       1,349,983       759,414       57,080       20,157   
                                
      (100,984 )     (1,234,332 )     (717,176 )     (40,544 )     (17,022 ) 
                                
Other income (loss), net      93,333       (109,795 )     627,227       67,384       30,483   
Interest income (expense), net     (19,757 )     (25,775 )     7,126       5,734       925   
                                
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interest 

and equity Loss      (27,408 )     (1,369,902 )     (82,823 )     32,574       14,386   
Income tax expense (benefit)      (179 )     12,584       319,449       23,722       —  
Minority interest      15,438       108,223       84,245       6,026       5,382   
Equity loss      (81,114 )     (1,048,860 )     (980,391 )     (92,099 )     (5,869 ) 
                                
Income (loss) before discontinued operations and 

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      (93,263 )     (2,297,955 )     (659,520 )     (29,777 )     13,899   
Loss on discontinued operations, net of gain of 

$10,317 (2002) and tax benefit of $2,917 (2001) and 
$7,806 (2000)  

    
(8,956 ) 

    
(32,889 ) 

    
(7,028 ) 

    
—

      
—

  

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      —      (7,886 )     —      —      —  
                                
    Net Income (Loss)    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 )   $ (666,548 )   $ (29,777 )   $ 13,899   
                                



   

      The Company has not paid a cash dividend since its inception. In December 1999, the Company declared and paid a 100% stock dividend. 
All share information in this Report reflects this dividend.  
   

      The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations contains forward-looking 
statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking 
statements as a result of certain factors, including those set forth elsewhere in this Report and the risks discussed in our other SEC filings. The 
following discussion should be read in conjunction with our audited Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto included 
elsewhere in this Report.  

      Although we refer in this Report to companies in which we have acquired a convertible debt or an equity ownership interest as our “partner 
companies” and indicate that we have a “partnership” with these companies”, we do not act as an agent or legal representative for any of our 
partner companies, we do not have the power or authority to legally bind any of our partner companies, and we do not have the types of 
liabilities in relation to our partner companies that a general partner of a partnership would have.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 

(in thousands, except share data) 
Diluted Loss Per Share:                                          
Income (loss) before discontinued operations and 

cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per 
share — diluted  

  
$ (0.35 ) 

  
$ (8.25 ) 

  
$ (2.40 ) 

  
$ (0.15 ) 

  
$ 0.12 

  

Loss on discontinued operations per share — diluted      (0.03 )     (0.12 )     (0.02 )     —      —  
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle per 

share — diluted      
—

      
(0.03 ) 

    
—

      
—

      
—

  

                                
Net income (loss) per share — diluted    $ (0.38 )   $ (8.40 )   $ (2.42 )   $ (0.15 )   $ 0.12   
Weighted average shares outstanding — diluted      267,998       278,353       275,044       201,851       112,299   
Pro forma net income (loss) (unaudited)(1)      —      —      —    $ (37,449 )   $ 8,756   
Pro forma net income (loss) per share — diluted 

(unaudited) (1)      
—

      
—

      
—

    
$ (0.19 ) 

  
$ 0.08 

  

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:                                          
Cash and cash equivalents    $ 118,657     $ 238,135     $ 410,073     $ 1,343,460     $ 26,841   
Working capital    $ 74,919     $ 177,275     $ 356,524     $ 1,305,380     $ 20,453   
Total assets    $ 366,246     $ 655,047     $ 3,330,583     $ 2,050,384     $ 96,785   
Other long-term debt, net of current portion    $ 7,919     $ 10,645     $ 169     $ 3,185     $ 352   
Convertible subordinated notes    $ 283,114     $ 446,061     $ 566,250     $ 566,250     $ —  
Total stockholders’  equity (deficit)    $ (51,646 )   $ 34,737     $ 2,266,167     $ 1,420,221     $ 80,724   

(1)  On February 2, 1999, the Company converted from an LLC to a C corporation. The Company became subject to corporate federal and state 
income taxes concurrent with the conversion to a C corporation. The information for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 include 
pro forma information with respect to income taxes, net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share assuming the Company had been 
taxed as a C corporation since January 1, 1999 and 1998. The unaudited pro forma information provided does not necessarily reflect the 
income taxes, net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share that would have occurred had the Company been taxed as a C corporation 
since January 1, 1998. 

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 



   

      Because we own significant interests in information technology companies, many of which generate net losses, we have experienced, and 
expect to continue to experience, significant volatility in our quarterly results. While many of our partner companies have consistently reported 
losses, we have recorded net income in certain periods and experienced significant volatility from period to period due to one-time or 
infrequently occurring transactions and other events incidental to our ownership interests in partner companies. These transactions and events are 
described in more detail in Note 2 and Note 18 of our Consolidated Financial Statements and include dispositions of and changes to, our partner 
company ownership interests, dispositions of our holdings of available-for-sale securities, debt extinguishment and impairment charges.  

Critical Accounting Policies  

      Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which 
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. The preparation of these financial 
statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to our investments in our 
partner companies, marketable securities, income taxes, commitments and contingencies. We base our estimates on historical experience and on 
various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments 
about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.  

      We believe the following critical accounting policies are most important to the presentation of our financial statements and require the most 
difficult, subjective and complex judgment.  

Valuation of Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Ownership Interests in Partner Companies  

      We perform on-going business reviews and, based on quantitative and qualitative measures, assess the need to record impairment losses on 
goodwill, intangible assets and our ownership interests in our partner companies when impairment indicators are present. Where impairment 
indicators are present, we determine the amount of the impairment charge as the excess of the carrying value over the fair value. We determine 
fair value based on a combination of the discounted cash flow methodology, which is based upon converting expected future cash flows to 
present value, and the market approach, which includes analysis of market price multiples of companies engaged in lines of business similar to 
the company being evaluated. The market price multiples are selected and applied to the company based on relative performance, future 
prospects and risk profile of the company in comparison to the guideline companies. Significant assumptions relating to future operating results 
must be made when estimating the future cash flows associated with these companies. Significant assumptions relating to achievement of 
business plan objectives and milestones must be made when evaluating whether impairment indicators are present. Should unforeseen events 
occur or should operating trends change significantly, additional impairment losses could occur.  

Revenue  

      We may assume all or a part of a customer’s procurement function as part of sourcing arrangements. Typically, in these engagements, we are 
paid a fee based on a percentage of the amount spent by our customer’s purchasing department in the specified areas we manage, a fixed fee 
agreed upon in advance, and in many cases we have the opportunity to earn additional fees based on the level of savings achieved for customers. 
We recognize fee income as earned and any additional fees as we become entitled to them. In these arrangements, we do not assume inventory, 
warranty or credit risk for the goods or services a customer purchases, but we do negotiate the arrangements between a customer and supplier.  

      We recognize license revenue when a signed contract or purchase order exists, the software has been shipped or electronically delivered, the 
license fee is fixed or determinable, and collection of the resulting receivable is probable. When contracts contain multiple elements wherein 
vendor specific objective evidence exists for all undelivered elements, we account for the delivered elements in accordance with the “Residual  

13  



   

Method” prescribed by Statements of Position No. 98-9 “Modification of SOP 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, With Respect to Certain 
Transactions.”  

      We assess whether the fee is fixed or determinable and collection is probable at that time of the transaction. In determining whether the fee is 
fixed or determinable, we compare the payment terms of the transaction to our normal payment terms. If a significant portion of a fee is due after 
our normal payment terms, we account for the fee as not being fixed or determinable and recognize revenue as the fees become due. We assess 
whether collection is probable based on a number of factors, including the customer’s past transaction history and credit-worthiness. We do not 
request collateral from our customers. If we determine that collection of a fee is not probable, we defer the fee and recognize revenue at the time 
collection becomes probable, which is generally upon receipt of cash.  

      First-year maintenance typically is sold with the related software license and renewed on an annual basis thereafter. For such arrangements 
with multiple obligations, we allocate revenue to each component of the arrangement based on the fair value of the undelivered elements. Fair 
values of ongoing maintenance and support obligations are based on separate sales of renewals to other customers or upon renewal rates quoted 
in the contracts. Maintenance revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the maintenance and support period. Fair value of 
services, such as consulting or training, is based upon separate sales of these services. Consulting and training services are generally billed based 
on hourly rates and revenues are generally recognized as the services are performed. Consulting services primarily consist of implementation 
services related to the installation of our products and generally do not include significant customization to or development of the underlying 
software code.  

Deferred Income Taxes  

      We record a valuation allowance to reduce our deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. We consider 
future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax planning strategies in determining the need for a valuation allowance. In the event that we 
determine that we would not be able to realize all or part of our net deferred tax assets, an adjustment to the deferred tax assets is charged to 
earnings in the period such determination is made. Likewise, if we later determine that it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets 
would be realized, then the previously provided valuation allowance would be reversed.  

Commitments and Contingencies  

      From time to time, we are a defendant or plaintiff in various legal actions that arise in the normal course of business. We are also a guarantor 
of various third-party obligations and commitments. We are required to assess the likelihood of any adverse judgments or outcomes to these 
matters as well as potential ranges of probable losses. A determination of the amount of reserves required for these contingencies, if any, which 
would be charged to earnings, is made after careful analysis of each individual matter. The required reserves may change in the future due to 
new developments in each matter or changes in circumstances, such as a change in settlement strategy. Changes in required reserves could 
increase or decrease our earnings in the period the changes are made.  

Basis of Presentation  

Effect of Various Accounting Methods on our Results of Operations  

      The various interests that we acquire in our partner companies are accounted for under three broad methods: consolidation, equity method 
and cost method. The applicable accounting method is generally determined based on our voting interest in a partner company.  

      Consolidation. Partner companies in which we directly or indirectly own more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities are generally 
accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting. Under this method, a partner company’s accounts are reflected within our 
Consolidated Statements of Operations. Participation of other partner company stockholders in the earnings or losses of a consolidated partner  
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company is reflected in the caption “Minority interest’ in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Minority interest adjusts our consolidated 
net results of operations to reflect only our share of the earnings or losses of the consolidated partner company.  

      Equity Method. Partner companies whose results we do not consolidate, but over whom we exercise significant influence, are generally 
accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Whether or not we exercise significant influence with respect to a partner company 
depends on an evaluation of several factors including, among others, representation on the partner company’s board of directors and ownership 
level, which is generally a 20% to 50% interest in the voting securities of the partner company, including voting rights associated with our 
holdings in common, preferred and other convertible securities of the partner company. Under the equity method of accounting, a partner 
company’s accounts are not reflected within our Consolidated Statements of Operations; however, our share of the earnings or losses of the 
partner company is reflected in the caption “Equity loss” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

      Cost Method. Partner companies not accounted for under either the consolidation or the equity method of accounting are accounted for under 
the cost method of accounting. Under this method, our share of the earnings of losses or these companies is not included in our Consolidated 
Statements of Operations.  

Reportable Segments  

      Our reportable segments using the “management approach” under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, (SFAS) No. 131, 
“Disclosure About Segments of a Business Enterprise and Related Information”, consist of two operating segments, the Core partner companies 
operating segment and the emerging (“Emerging”) partner companies operating segment. Each segment includes the results of our consolidated 
partner companies, our share of earnings and losses of partner companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting and captures our 
basis in the assets of all of our partner companies. Our operations, as well as our partner companies’ operations, were principally in the United 
States of America during all periods presented.  

      As of December 31, 2002, we owned interests in 38 partner companies which are categorized below based on segment and method of 
accounting.  

CORE PARTNER COMPANIES (% Voting Interest)  
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Consolidated Equity Cost 

CommerceQuest (80%)    CreditTrade (30%)   Blackboard (15%) 
eCredit (99.9%)    eMerge Interactive (33%)     
FreeBorders (55%)    GoIndustry (31%)     
ICG Commerce (75%)    Investor Force (38%)     
OneCoast (97%)    iSky, Inc (25%)     
    Jamcracker (21%)     
    LinkShare (40%)     
    Marketron (40%)     
    Syncra Systems (28%)     
    Universal Access (22%)     
    Verticalnet (22%)     



   

EMERGING PARTNER COMPANIES (% Voting Interest)  

      The following summarizes the unaudited selected financial information related to our segments. Each segment includes the results of our 
consolidated partner companies and records our share of the earnings and losses of partner companies accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting. The partner companies included within the segments are consistently the same 38 partner companies for 2002, 2001 and 2000. The 
method of accounting for any particular partner company may change based on our ownership interest.  

      The Core operating segment includes those partner companies in which our management takes a very active role in providing strategic 
direction and management assistance. The Emerging operating segment includes investments in companies that are, in general, managed to 
provide the greatest near-term stockholder value. Discontinued operations and dispositions are those partner companies that have been sold or 
ceased operations and are no longer included in a segment for all periods presented. Corporate expenses represent our General and 
Administrative expenses of supporting the partner companies. The measure of segment net loss reviewed by us does not include items such as 
impairment related charges, income taxes, extraordinary items and accounting changes, which are reflected in other reconciling items in the 
information which follows.  

      The financial information for 2001 and 2000 has been adjusted to reflect that the method of accounting for Jamcracker changed from the cost 
method to the equity method of accounting. See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Consolidated Equity Cost 

Captive Capital (54%)    Agribuys (31%)   Anthem (9%) 
    ComputerJobs.com (46%)   Arbinet (3%) 
    Co-nect (36%)   Citadon (2%) 
    inreon (17%)   ClearCommerce (12%) 
    Internet Commerce Systems (44%)   Emptoris (12%) 
    Mobility Technologies (25%)   Entegrity Solutions (2%) 
    OnMedica (33%)   FuelSpot (9%) 
    Onvia.com (22%)   Persona (11%) 
    Sourceree (39%)     
    StarCite (22%)   Tibersoft (5%) 
    Surgency (22%)     

                                                          
For the Year Ended December 31, 2002 

Reconciling Items 

Discontinued 
Operations 

Total and Consolidated 
Core Emerging Segment Dispositions Corporate Other Results 

(in thousands) 
Revenues    $ 107,964     $ 507     $ 108,471     $ —    $ —    $ (14 )   $ 108,457   
Net loss    $ (104,608 )   $ (17,272 )   $ (121,880 )   $ (4,750 )   $ (55,026 )   $ 79,437     $ (102,219 ) 
                                                          

For the Year Ended December 31, 2001 

Reconciling Items 

Discontinued 
Operations 

Total and Consolidated 
Core Emerging Segment Dispositions Corporate Other Results 

(in thousands) 
Revenues    $ 91,155     $ 2,936     $ 94,091     $ 22,855     $ —    $ (1,295 )   $ 115,651   
Net loss    $ (525,202 )   $ (102,232 )   $ (627,434 )   $ (394,786 )   $ (108,617 )   $ (1,207,893 )   $ (2,338,730 ) 



   

Results of Operations — Core Companies  

      The following presentation of our Results of Operations — Core Companies includes the results of our consolidated Core partner companies 
and our share of the results of our equity method Core partner companies.  

Core Segment Results  

   

      Revenue from Core companies was $108.0 million for 2002 versus $91.2 million for 2001. As a result of CommerceQuest, eCredit, 
OneCoast and FreeBorders being consolidated for a greater period during 2002 than in 2001, Core revenue increased $29.2 million for 2002 
versus 2001. Increases in the customer base, increased activity of existing customers and an acquisition resulted in increased revenues at ICG 
Commerce of $4.3 million for 2002 versus 2001. These increases were offset by a decrease of $16.7 million as a result of deconsolidating 
AssetTrade.com, Inc. (“AssetTrade”) during 2001.  

      Revenue from Core companies was $91.2 million for 2001 versus $7.8 million for 2000. As a result of our acquisitions of majority 
ownership positions in AssetTrade, CommerceQuest, eCredit and OneCoast, Core revenue increased $46.9 million for 2001 versus 2000. 
Increases in the customer base, increased activity of existing customers and an acquisition at ICG Commerce resulted in increased ICG 
Commerce revenues of $38.7 million for 2001 versus 2000.  
   

      Operating expenses including cost of revenue, selling, general and administrative and research and development for core companies were 
$148.6 million for 2002, versus $172.4 million for 2001. These operating expenses have decreased by $38.9 million as ICG Commerce 
implemented cost reduction programs and by $28.0 million as a result of deconsolidating AssetTrade during 2001. These decreases were 
partially offset by an increase of $43.1 million due to CommerceQuest, eCredit, OneCoast and FreeBorders being consolidated for a greater 
period during 2002 than in 2001.  
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2000 

Reconciling Items 

Discontinued 
Operations 

Total and Consolidated 
Core Emerging Segment Dispositions Corporate Other Results 

(in thousands) 
Revenues    $ 7,809     $ 2,979     $ 10,788     $ 33,770     $ —    $ (2,320 )   $ 42,238   
Net loss    $ (472,191 )   $ (91,056 )   $ (563,247 )   $ (705,398 )   $ (135,860 )   $ 737,957     $ (666,548 ) 

                          
2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Selected data:                          
Revenue    $ 107,964     $ 91,155     $ 7,809   
Cost of Revenue      (68,670 )     (61,857 )     (22,055 ) 
Selling general and administrative      (55,795 )     (95,831 )     (50,302 ) 
Research and development      (24,100 )     (14,675 )     (20,503 ) 
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles      (12,000 )     (49,142 )     (19,025 ) 
Equity loss      (39,868 )     (356,360 )     (368,141 ) 
Impairment and other      (12,139 )     (38,492 )     26   
                    
Net loss    $ (104,608 )   $ (525,202 )   $ (472,191 ) 
                    

Revenue 

Operating Expenses 



   

      Operating expenses for core companies were $172.4 million for 2001 versus $92.9 million for 2000. These operating expenses increased by 
$52.0 million due to our acquisition of majority ownership positions in AssetTrade, CommerceQuest, eCredit and OneCoast. In addition, those 
costs associated with ICG Commerce increased $31.1 million as they developed their business model.  
   

      Amortization of goodwill ceased on January 1, 2002 in accordance with SFAS No. 142. Amortization of other intangibles related to Core 
companies was $12.0 million for 2002. Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles related to Core companies was $49.1 million for 2001 
versus $19.0 million for 2000. The increase for 2001 versus 2000 primarily relates to the consolidation of CommerceQuest, eCredit and 
OneCoast. (See Note 1 to our Consolidated Financial Statements)  
   

      A significant portion of our net results from our Core companies is derived from those partner companies in which we hold a substantial 
minority ownership interest. Our share of income or losses of these companies, amortization of goodwill related to our carrying value of these 
companies and any impairment losses related to these companies is recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Operations under “Equity loss”.  

      The following table summarizes the components of Equity loss for segment reporting purposes (in thousands):  

      Our share of income and net losses of Core companies decreased to $39.9 million in 2002 versus $267.3 million in 2001. As a result of our 
share of Verticalnet’s, eMerge Interactive’s and Universal Access’ reduced 2002 losses versus 2001, our equity loss decreased by 
$185.8 million. Equity loss decreased $19.5 million as we consolidated CommerceQuest, eCredit and OneCoast for a greater period in 2002 
versus accounting for these companies as equity method companies for the majority of 2001. The residual decrease of $22.1 million is due to 
decreased losses at the majority of our Core equity method companies in 2002 versus 2001 as they increased revenues and reduced operating 
expenses.  

      Our share of net income and net losses of Core companies was $267.3 million for 2001 versus $211.8 million for 2000. As the result of our 
share of Verticalnet’s, eMerge Interactive and Universal Access’s increased losses for 2001 versus 2000, equity loss increased by $105.2 million. 
Equity loss decreased $31.1 as we consolidated AssetTrade, CommerceQuest, eCredit and OneCoast for a portion of 2001 versus accounting for 
these companies as equity method companies for all of 2000. The residual decrease is due to decreased losses at a majority of our Core equity 
method companies resulting from increased revenue and reduced operating expenses.  

      Our investment in certain Core equity method partner companies had been reduced to zero at December 31, 2001. As a result we do not 
record our share of these companies losses until such time as our share of income equals the unrecorded losses or the partner companies equity 
transactions result in an adjustment of our investment. Of those companies which had a zero basis as of December 31, 2001, Verticalnet has had 
the largest impact on our past results. Our share of Verticalnet’s loss for 2001 and 2000 was $184.8 million and $85.2 million, respectively. As 
our basis in Verticalnet was reduced to zero during the fourth quarter of 2001 we only recorded $167.0 million of our share of losses in 2001. 
Our share of Verticalnet’s 2002 results exceeded the unrecorded losses resulting in $3.8 million in income. Other partner companies with a zero 
or near zero basis that continue to incur losses may not have an impact on our 2003 results.  
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Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles 

Equity Loss 

                          
2002 2001 2000 

Share of income (losses), net    $ (39,868 )   $ (267,339 )   $ (211,797 ) 
Amortization of goodwill      —      (89,021 )     (156,344 ) 
                    
    $ (39,868 )   $ (356,360 )   $ (368,141 ) 
                    



   

      Amortization of goodwill ceased effective January 1, 2002 in accordance with SFAS No. 142. Approximately $58.6 million of the 2001 
versus 2000 decrease relates to AssetTrade, CommerceQuest, eCredit and OneCoast becoming consolidated companies during 2001.  

      Impairment losses related to Core equity method partner companies totaled $7.0 million and $367.5 million for 2002 and 2001 and are 
included in “other” for segment reporting purposes. See “Other” subsection below.  

Results of Operations — Emerging Companies  

      The following presentation of our Results of Operations — Emerging Companies includes the results of our Consolidated Emerging Partner 
Companies and our share of the results of our equity method Core partner companies.  

Emerging Segment Results  

      Our consolidated Emerging companies have generated negligible revenues to date. The period over period decreases and increases in 
operating expenses is primarily a result of deconsolidating Emptoris and OnMedica during 2002 and consolidating Emptoris and OnMedica for a 
greater period in 2001 versus 2000.  

      The following table summarizes the components of Equity loss (in thousands):  

      Our share of income and net losses of Emerging companies was $15.9 million for 2002 versus $40.5 million for 2001. The decrease is 
principally the result of our basis in these companies being reduced to zero, our ownership interest being reduced and reduced losses at these 
companies.  

      Amortization of goodwill ceased effective January 1, 2002 in accordance with SFAS No. 142.  

      Impairment losses related to Emerging equity method companies totaled $16.8 million and $15.6 million for 2002 and 2001 and are included 
in “other” for segment reporting purposes. See “Other” subsection below.  

Discontinued Operations and Dispositions  

      During 2002, two consolidated subsidiaries sold substantially all of their assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, these transactions were 
treated as discontinued operations. Accordingly, the revenue and operating results for 2002, 2001 and 2000 have been presented, net, in one line 
item “Loss on discontinued operations” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. These two consolidated subsidiaries, Delphion, Inc. 
(“Delphion”) and Logistics.com, Inc. (“Logistics.com”) had revenue of $16.1 million, $8.0 million and  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Selected data:                          
Revenue    $ 507     $ 2,936     $ 2,979   
Cost of revenue      (425 )     (2,073 )     (1,615 ) 
Selling general and administrative      (1,409 )     (14,988 )     (9,441 ) 
Research and development      —      (7,879 )     (5,670 ) 
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles      —      (7,708 )     (8,113 ) 
Equity loss      (15,945 )     (57,517 )     (69,709 ) 
Minority interest and other      —      (15,003 )     513   
                    
Net loss    $ (17,272 )   $ (102,232 )   $ (91,056 ) 
                    

                          
2002 2001 2000 

Share of income (losses), net    $ (15,945 )   $ (40,466 )   $ (53,631 ) 
Amortization of goodwill      —      (17,051 )     (16,078 ) 
                    
    $ (15,945 )   $ (57,517 )   $ (69,709 ) 
                    



   

$0.7 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000 respectively. Our share of these companies’ losses totaled $19.3 million, $32.9 million and $7.0 million for 
2002, 2001 and 2000 respectively. Additionally, we recorded a gain of $10.3 million in 2002 relating to these transactions.  

      The impact to our consolidated results of the partner companies that we have disposed of our ownership interest in or have ceased operations 
during 2002, 2001 or 2000 is also included in the caption “Dispositions” for segment reporting purposes. The most significant individual 
consolidated partner companies’ revenues and net loss related to these dispositions were as follows: RightWorks, Inc. (“RightWorks”) revenues 
of $15.2 million and $19.4 million and net losses of $135.8 million and $227.6 million in 2001 and 2000, respectively; and PaperExchange.com, 
Inc. (“PaperExchange.com”) revenues of $4.4 million and $12.6 million and net losses of $15.6 million and $41.1 million in 2001 and 2000, 
respectively.  

      Our share of income and losses of those equity method companies we disposed of was income of $4.2 million in 2002 and losses of 
$159.3 million and $257.9 million for 2001 and 2000, respectively. The most significant individual equity method company, Breakaway 
Solutions, Inc. (“Breakaway Solutions”) represented $59.4 million and $83.7 million of this equity loss in 2001 and 2000, respectively. Goodwill 
amortization related to these equity method companies totaled $35.2 million and $126.9 million in 2001 and 2000.  

      Impairment losses related to equity method partner companies classified as “Dispositions” totaled $5.7 million, $57.4 million and 
$157.8 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively, and are included in “other” for segment reporting purposes. See subsection below.  

Corporate  

   

      Our general and administrative costs consist primarily of employee compensation, facilities, outside services such as legal, accounting and 
consulting, travel-related costs and stock-based compensation. The decrease is the result of the restructuring of our operations. See subsection 
Restructuring below. Included in these expenses is stock-based compensation of $15.3 million, $14.3 million and $7.1 million for 2002, 2001 
and 2000, respectively, consisting primarily of amortization expense related to options granted below fair value in 1999 and grants of restricted 
stock to employees during 2001. Stock-based compensation for 2002 and 2001 increased as the result of restricted stock grants to employees and 
modifications to certain stock option grants and related stockholder notes during 2001 and 2002.  
   

      During 2002, 2001 and 2000, we restructured our operations to better align our general and administrative expenses with the reduction in the 
number of our partner companies. The restructuring resulted in charges of $1.5 million, $32.9 million and $25.9 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The total of $60.3 million consisted of $21.2 million of non-cash charges related to vesting 
acceleration of stock options and fixed assets write-offs and $39.1 million in employee severance and lease termination costs. These charges are 
included in Impairment Related and Other section in the Consolidated Statement of Operations (See Note 8 to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements).  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
General and administrative    $ (34,680 )   $ (51,964 )   $ (85,832 ) 
Impairment related and other      (1,499 )     (32,862 )     (25,919 ) 
Research and development      —      —      (22,548 ) 
Interest (income) expense, net      (18,847 )     (23,791 )     (1,561 ) 
                    
Total Corporate Operating Expenses    $ (55,026 )   $ (108,617 )   $ (135,860 ) 
                    

General and Administrative 

Restructuring (Impairment Related and Other) 



   

   

      The decrease in interest expense, net of $5.0 million is primarily attributable to the reduction in the amount of notes outstanding at 
December 31, 2002 versus 2001. Interest expense during the year ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was primarily attributed to the December 
1999 issuance of $566.3 million in convertible subordinated notes due 2004 bearing interest at 5.5%. The increase in interest expense, net of 
$22.2 million in 2001 is primarily due to the decrease in the average balance of cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments during 
2001 versus 2000.  

Other  

   

      We continually evaluate the carrying values of our partner companies. Additionally, we operate in an industry that is rapidly evolving, 
extremely competitive and where many businesses have experienced difficulty in raising additional capital necessary to fund operating losses. In 
1999 and 2000 the Company announced several significant acquisitions that were financed principally with shares of the Company’s stock and, 
based on the price of the Company’s stock at that time were valued in excess of $1 billion. Valuations of public companies operating in our 
industry declined significantly during 2001 and 2002. Based on our periodic review of our partner company carrying values impairment charges 
of $43.5 million, $1.3 billion and $348.6 million were recorded in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively (See Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial 
Statements).  
   

      In 2002 and 2001, the Company purchased and extinguished $163.0 million and $120.2 million, respectively, face value of convertible 
subordinated notes for $48.8 million and $35.5 million, respectively, in cash. The purchases resulted in gains in the amount of $111 million and 
$81 million, respectively, net of expenses. In addition, other income (loss), net decreased in 2002 as compared to 2001 principally as a result of 
sales of available for sale securities and losses related to the fair value of partner company warrants in 2001.  

      Other income (loss), net decreased in 2001 as compared to 2000 as we recognized significant gains in 2000 relating to our sale of TRADEX 
Technologies, Inc. to Ariba, Inc. (“Ariba”) and stock issuances by Verticalnet and Breakaway Solutions versus losses in 2001 for impairment 
charges on cost method partner companies, sales of available-for-sale securities and losses related to the fair value of partner company warrants.  
   

      Our net deferred tax asset of $779.1 million at December 31, 2002 consists of deferred tax assets of $780.2 million, relating primarily to net 
operating loss carry forwards, offset by deferred tax liabilities of $1.1 million primarily related to non-deductible stock-based compensation. 
During 2001, we recorded a full valuation allowance against our net assets which was maintained during 2002 (See note 14 to our Consolidated 
Financial Statements).  
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Interest Income/Expense 

                          
2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Impairment (Note 2)    $ (43,490 )   $ (1,275,941 )   $ (348,597 ) 
Other income (loss) (Note 18)      107,668       (44,873 )     682,860   
Taxes      (179 )     12,584       319,449   
Minority interest      15,438       108,223       84,245   
Change in Accounting Principle      —      (7,886 )     —  
                    
    $ 79,437     $ (1,207,893 )   $ 737,957   
                    

Impairment Charges 

Other Income (Loss), Net 

Income Taxes 



   

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

      As of December 31, 2002, we had $88.9 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, $10.2 million in available-for-sale 
securities, principally consisting of shares in i2 Technologies, Inc. (“i2 Technologies”) and $9.2 million in restricted cash for total liquidity of 
$108.3 million. In addition, our consolidated partner companies had cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash and short-term investments of 
$38.8 million. Consolidated working capital decreased to $74.9 million at December 31, 2002 compared to $177.3 million at December 31, 
2001, primarily as a result of advances we made to partner companies, our repurchase of debt and net cash outflows from operations during the 
year ended December 31, 2002.  

      Net cash used in operating activities was approximately $86.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 compared to $267.7 million 
during the same prior year period. The decrease is primarily the result of the decreased losses at our consolidated partner companies.  

      Net cash provided by investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2002 was $18.0 million, versus net cash provided by investing 
activities of $97.4 million during the comparable 2001 period. The decrease is primarily due to reduced proceeds from the sale of available-for-
sale securities and proceeds from partner company dispositions offset by fewer acquisitions of ownership interests.  

      Existing cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, proceeds from the issuance of debt and equity securities of our consolidated 
partner companies to third parties, proceeds from the potential sales of all or a portion of our available-for-sale securities or minority interests in 
certain partner companies, and other internal sources of cash flow are expected to be sufficient to fund our cash requirements through March 31, 
2004, including commitments to existing partner companies, debt obligations and repurchases and general operations requirements. At 
December 31, 2002, we had $23 million of funding and guarantee commitments relating to partner companies, of which approximately 
$6.9 million was funded during the three months ended March 31, 2003. If a certain consolidated partner company achieves a fair market value 
in excess of $1.0 billion, we will be obligated to pay, in cash or stock at our option, 4% of the partner company’s fair market value in excess of 
$1.0 billion, up to $70 million. This contingent obligation will expire on the earlier to occur of May 31, 2005 or an unaffiliated company sale, if 
the valuation milestone is not achieved. Currently, the fair market value of this partner company is well below $1.0 billion. We will continue to 
evaluate acquisition opportunities and may acquire additional equity or debt interests in new and existing partner companies during the next 
12 months; however, such acquisitions are largely discretionary. If we elect to make additional acquisitions, it may become necessary for us to 
raise additional funds. We may not be able to raise additional capital and failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on our business. If 
additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity securities, our existing stockholders may experience significant dilution.  

      We are a party to a loan agreement which provides for issuances of letters of credit up to $20 million subject to a cash secured borrowing 
base. As of December 31, 2002, $5.9 million in letters of credit were outstanding under the agreement.  

      We and our consolidated subsidiaries are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. We do not 
expect the ultimate liability with respect to these actions will materially affect our financial position or cash flows.  
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Contractual Cash Obligations and Commercial Commitments  

      The following table summarizes our contractual cash obligations and commercial commitments at December 31, 2002:  

      See Notes 6 and 19 to our Consolidated Financial Statements for additional information.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

      In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” 
SFAS No. 143, which addresses accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the 
associated asset retirement costs is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. We do not expect the adoption of this new standard to 
have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.  

      In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which supersedes 
SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” and certain portions of 
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a 
Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS No. 144 provides updated guidance 
concerning the recognition and measurement of an impairment loss for certain types of long-lived assets, and requires that long-lived assets to be 
disposed of by sale be measured at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell, and reported separately in the asset and 
liabilities sections of the consolidated balance sheet. SFAS No. 144 also expands the reporting of discontinued operations to include components 
of an entity that have been or will be disposed of. The scope of SFAS No. 144 excludes long-lived assets, goodwill and other intangibles that are 
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 142. As we discussed above, the adoption of SFAS No. 144, as of January 1, 2002, impacted our 
consolidated results of operations and statements of cash flows with the sale of assets related to two of our partner companies, Delphion and 
Logistics. As a result, our 2001 and 2000 Consolidated Financial Statements were restated to reflect the effect of the dispositions.  

      In March 2002, the EITF reached consensus on Issue 50, “Accounting for the conversion of a recourse note to a nonrecourse note” of EITF 
No. 00-23, “Issues Related to the Accounting for Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No. 25 and FASB Interpretation No. 44.” This 
consensus establishes that the conversion of a substantive recourse note to a nonrecourse note should be accounted for as the repurchase of the 
shares previously exercised where the repurchase amount is equal to the sum of (a) the then-current principal balance of the recourse note, 
(b) accrued interest, if any and (c) the intrinsic value of the new option. In most instances, compensation expense is recorded where the fair 
market value of the repurchased shares is less than the repurchase amount at the date of conversion. This consensus was applied prospectively to 
conversions of recourse notes to nonrecourse notes occurring after March 21, 2002 and resulted in compensation expense of approximately 
$3.7 million for 2002.  

      In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, 
and Technical Corrections,” which is effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. This statement rescinds the indicated statements 
and amends other existing pronouncements to make various technical corrections, clarify meanings, or describe their applicability under  
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Less than 

Total 1 year Thereafter 

(in thousands) 
Convertible Subordinated Notes    $ 314,257     $ 15,571     $ 298,686   
Funding Commitments      22,710       15,975       6,735   
Operating Leases      71,435       30,467       40,968   
Other borrowings      19,647       11,728       7,919   
                    
Total    $ 428,049     $ 73,741     $ 354,308   
                    



   

changed conditions. SFAS No. 145 encourages early adoption of the provision of this standard that rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and 
Losses from Extinguishments of Debt.” Accordingly, we elected to early adopt this provision during the second quarter of fiscal 2002. We 
reclassified prior year extraordinary gains related to the early retirement of debt to “Other Income (loss), net” in our Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. The adoption of the remaining provisions of this new standard did not have a material impact on our results of operations or 
financial position.  

      In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which is effective for exit 
or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. This statement nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force Issue (EITF) No. 94-3, 
“Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a 
Restructuring).” This statement requires that liabilities associated with exit or disposal activities initiated after adoption be recognized and 
measured at fair value when incurred as opposed to at the date an entity commits to the exit or disposal plans. We anticipate the adoption of this 
new standard to have an impact on the timing of when we recognize any future restructuring charges in our Consolidated Financial Statements.  

      In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including 
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” which expands previously issued accounting guidance and disclosure requirements for certain 
guarantees. The interpretation requires an entity to recognize an initial liability for the fair value of an obligation assumed by issuing a guarantee. 
The provision for initial recognition and measurement of the liability will be applied on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after 
December 31, 2002. We do not expect this interpretation to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. 

      In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” which provides optional transition guidance for those companies electing to voluntarily adopt the 
accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123. In addition, the statement mandates certain new disclosures that are incremental to those required by 
SFAS No. 123. We will continue to account for stock-based compensation in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opinion 
No. 25. As such, we do not expect this standard to have a material impact on our consolidated financial position or results of operations. We 
adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 148 as of December 31, 2002.  

      In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of APB Opinion 
No. 51,” which requires all variable interest entities (VIEs) to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity 
that holds the majority of the beneficial interests in the VIE. In addition, the interpretation expands disclosure requirements for both variable 
interest entities that are consolidated as well as VIEs from which the entity is the holder of a significant amount of the beneficial interests, but 
not the majority. The disclosure requirements of this interpretation are effective for all financial statements issued after January 31, 2003. The 
consolidation requirements of this interpretation are effective for all periods beginning after June 15, 2003. It is possible that under the 
consolidation provisions, we may be required to consolidate previously unconsolidated partner companies. Our management is still assessing the 
impact of this interpretation.  

      In November 2002, the FASB issued EITF Issue No. 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” This issue 
addresses how to account for arrangements that may involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services and/or rights to use 
assets. The final consensus of this issue is applicable to agreements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Additionally, 
companies will be permitted to apply the guidance in this issue to all existing arrangements as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting 
principle in accordance with APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes.” We do not believe that adoption of this issue will have a material 
impact on our consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.  
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Risk Factors  

      Forward-looking statements made with respect to our financial condition and results of operations and business in this Report and those 
made from time to time by us through our senior management are made pursuant to the “safe harbor” provisions of the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations and projections about future events but 
are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us and our partner companies that may cause our actual results, 
levels of activity, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, levels of activity, performance, or 
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  

      Factors that could cause our actual results, levels of activity, performance or achievements to differ materially from those anticipated in 
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, factors discussed elsewhere in this Report and include among other things:  

      In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “expect,” 
“plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “continue” or the negative of such terms or other similar expressions. All forward-looking statements 
attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in this Form 10-K. 
We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or 
otherwise. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events discussed in this Form 10-K might not occur.  

Risks Particular to Internet Capital Group  

Our ability to grow our business and the businesses of our partner companies may be adversely affected if economic conditions in the United 
States are not favorable.  

      The United States economy has been weakened by, among other things, a recession, the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 and the 
response of the United States to such attacks and hostilities in the Middle East involving the United States Armed Forces. These matters, and 
subsequent future terrorist attacks or hostilities or economic deterioration, could continue to result in further weakness in the United States 
economy, which could negatively affect our business.  

Our stock price has been volatile in the past and may continue to be volatile in the future.  

      Our stock price has historically been very volatile. Stock prices of technology companies have generally been volatile as well. This volatility 
may continue in the future.  

      The following factors, among others, will add to our common stock price’s volatility:  
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  •  our ability and our partner companies’ ability to access the capital markets; 

  
  •  our ability to effectively manage existing capital resources; 

  
  •  our ability to retain key personnel; 

  
  •  our ability to maximize value in connection with divestitures; 

  
  •  development of the e-commerce and information technology markets; 

  
  •  our outstanding indebtedness; and 

  
  •  our partner companies’ ability to compete successfully against competitors. 

  •  actual or anticipated variations in our quarterly results and those of our partner companies; 

  
  •  changes in the market valuations of our partner companies and other technology and internet companies; 

  
  •  conditions or trends in the software industry in general and the e-commerce sector in particular; 



   

      Many of these factors are beyond our control. These factors may decrease the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating 
performance.  

If our common stock ceases to be listed for trading on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market, the price and liquidity of our common stock may be 
adversely affected.  

      Companies listed on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market are required to maintain a minimum bid price of $1.00 per share. When we transferred 
from the Nasdaq National Market to the Nasdaq SmallCap Market, our securities were trading below $1.00. As a result of our transfer to the 
SmallCap market, we were granted an initial grace period lasting until October 22, 2002 to regain compliance with the $1.00 per share minimum 
bid price requirement. On October 23, 2002 we received a letter from Nasdaq informing us that, although we did not regain compliance during 
the initial grace period, we qualified for and would be provided with a second grace period, lasting 180 calendar days, to regain compliance. 
Accordingly, while we are not now in compliance with the SmallCap Market’s $1.00 per share minimum bid price requirement, we currently 
have until April 21, 2003 to regain compliance. In the event that we have not regained compliance by April 21, 2003, we may be eligible for a 
third grace period. Nasdaq recently proposed, and received SEC approval for, an additional grace period for minimum bid price deficient 
companies. This new grace period would allow us 90 additional days after April 21, 2003 to regain compliance. To qualify for this new grace 
period, on April 21, 2003 our most recent public financial filing must demonstrate that we meet one of three “core” criteria for the SmallCap 
Market. We currently meet one of these criteria (the requirement that the market value of our listed securities be at least $50 million); however, 
there can be no assurance that our most recent public financial filing as of April 21, 2003 will demonstrate compliance with any of the three 
relevant criteria necessary to qualify for the additional 90-day grace period.  

      In order to regain compliance with the SmallCap Market’s minimum bid price requirement, the bid price of our common stock must close at 
$1.00 per share or more for a minimum of ten consecutive trading days before the end of the relevant grace period. There can be no assurance 
that we will achieve compliance with the $1.00 per share minimum bid price before the last applicable grace period is exhausted, or that we will 
continue to satisfy all of the other listing requirements of the Nasdaq SmallCap Market. In the event that we do not qualify for listing on the 
Nasdaq SmallCap Market, sales of our common stock would likely be conducted only in the over-the-counter market. This could have a negative 
impact on the price and liquidity of our common stock, as investors could find it more difficult to purchase or dispose of, or to obtain accurate 
quotations as to the market value of, our common stock.  
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  •  negative public perception of the prospects of internet companies; 

  
  •  changes in our financial estimates and those of our partner companies by securities analysts; 

  
  •  new products or services offered by us, our partner companies and their competitors; 

  
  •  announcements by our partner companies and their competitors of technological innovations; 

  
  •  announcements by us or our partner companies or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships or joint ventures; 

  
  •  our capital commitments; 

  
  •  additional sales of our securities; 

  
  •  additions to or departures of our key personnel or key personnel of our partner companies; and 

  
  •  general economic conditions such as a recession or interest rate or currency rate fluctuations and the reluctance of enterprises to increase 

spending on new technologies. 



   

We may not be able to pay our long-term debt when it matures.  

      In December 1999 the Company issued convertible subordinated notes that bear interest at an annual rate of 5.5% and mature in December 
2004. As of December 31, 2002, $283.1 million in face value of these notes remained outstanding. We may be unable to repay or refinance this 
long-term debt when it matures. If we successfully refinance this debt, then we may issue securities that will be senior to our common stock and 
may issue equity securities that would dilute the interests of the holders of our common stock. If we are unable to pay or refinance these 
obligations when due, we would probably be rendered insolvent and could be forced into bankruptcy. In a bankruptcy proceeding it is likely that 
the holders of our common stock would lose most or all of their investment.  

Our outstanding indebtedness could negatively impact our future prospects.  

      As of December 31, 2002, we had $283.1 million in outstanding convertible subordinated notes and $19.6 million in long-term debt 
(including the current portion thereof). This indebtedness may:  

      If we are unable to satisfy our debt service requirements, substantial liquidity problems could result, which would negatively impact our 
future prospects.  

Our business depends upon the performance of our partner companies, which is uncertain.  

      Economic, governmental, industry and internal company factors outside our control affect each of our partner companies. If our partner 
companies do not succeed, the value of our assets and the price of our common stock will decline. The material risks relating to our partner 
companies include:  

      Of our $366.2 million in total assets as of December 31, 2002, $71.7 million, or 19.6%, consisted of ownership interests in and advances to 
our partner companies accounted for under the equity and cost methods. The carrying value of our partner company ownership interests includes 
our original acquisition cost, the effect of accounting for certain of our partner companies under the equity method of accounting, the effect of 
adjustments to our carrying value resulting from certain issuances of equity securities by our partner companies, and the effect of impairment 
charges recorded for the decrease in value of certain partner companies. The carrying value of our partner companies will be impaired and 
decrease if one or more of our partner companies do not succeed. The carrying value of our partner companies is not marked to market; 
therefore, a decline in the market value of one of our publicly traded partner companies may impact our financial position by not more than the 
carrying value of the partner company. However, this decline would likely affect the price of our common stock. For example, our stakes in our 
publicly traded partner companies,  
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  •  make it more difficult to obtain additional financing; 

  
  •  limit our ability to deploy existing capital resources; and 

  
  •  constrain our ability to react quickly in an unfavorable economic climate. 

  •  fluctuations in the market price of the common stock of Verticalnet, eMerge Interactive, Onvia.com and Universal Access, our publicly 
traded partner companies, and other future publicly traded partner companies, which are likely to affect the price of our common stock; 

  
  •  many of our partner companies are in the early stages of their development with limited operating history, little revenue and substantial 

losses; 
  
  •  lack of the widespread commercial use of the internet, decreased spending on information technology software and services and elongated 

sales cycles which may prevent our partner companies from succeeding; 
  
  •  intensifying competition for the products and services our partner companies offer, which could lead to the failure of some of our partner 

companies; and 
  
  •  the inability of our partner companies to secure additional financing, which may force some of our partner companies to cease or scale 

back operations. 



   

had a combined market value of $12.6 million in the aggregate as of December 31, 2002. A decline in the market value of our publicly traded 
partner companies will likely cause a decline in the price of our common stock.  

      Other material risks relating to our partner companies are more fully described below under “Risks Particular to Our Partner Companies.”  

Because we have limited resources to dedicate to our partner companies, some of the partner companies may not be able to raise sufficient 
capital to sustain their operations.  

      Our allocation of resources to our partner companies is mostly discretionary. Because our resources and our ability to raise capital are 
limited, we cannot commit to provide our partner companies with sufficient capital resources to allow them to reach a cash flow positive 
position. If our partner companies are not able to raise capital from other outside sources, then they may need to cease operations.  

If public and private capital markets are not favorable for the technology sector we may not be able to execute on our strategy.  

      Our strategy includes creating value for our stockholders by building leading technology e-commerce companies. Our success depends on 
the acceptance by the public and private capital markets of technology companies in general, including initial public offerings of those 
companies. The technology market has experienced significant volatility recently and the market for initial public offerings of technology 
companies has been extremely weak since 2000. If these conditions continue, we may not be able to create stockholder value by taking our 
partner companies public. In addition, reduced market interest in technology e-commerce companies may reduce the market value of our 
publicly traded partner companies.  

Fluctuations in our quarterly results may adversely affect our stock price.  

      We expect that our quarterly results will fluctuate significantly due to many factors, including:  

      We believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results are not meaningful. If our operating results in one or more quarters do 
not meet securities analysts’ or investors’ expectations, the price of our common stock could decrease.  

The loss of any of our or our partner companies’ executive officers or other key personnel or our or our partner companies’ inability to attract 
additional key personnel could disrupt our business and operations.  

      We believe that our success will depend on continued employment by us and our partner companies of executive officers and key personnel, 
as well as on our and our partner companies’ ability to attract additional qualified personnel. If one or more members of our executive officers or 
key personnel, or our partner  
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  •  the operating results of our partner companies; 

  
  •  significant fluctuations in the financial results of technology companies generally; 

  
  •  changes in equity losses or income; 

  
  •  the acquisition or divestiture of interests in partner companies; 

  
  •  changes in our methods of accounting for our partner company interests, which may result from changes in our ownership percentages of 

our partner companies; 
  
  •  sales of equity securities by our partner companies, which could cause us to recognize gains or losses under applicable accounting rules; 

  
  •  the pace of development or a decline in growth of the technology market; 

  
  •  competition for the goods and services offered by our partner companies; and 

  
  •  our ability to effectively manage our growth and the growth of our partner companies. 



   

companies’ executive offices or key personnel were unable or unwilling to continue in their present positions, or if we or our partner companies 
were unable to hire qualified personnel, our business and operations could be disrupted and our operating results and financial condition would 
be seriously harmed.  

      The success of some of our partner companies also depends on their having highly trained technical and marketing personnel. A shortage in 
the number of trained technical and marketing personnel could limit the ability of our partner companies to increase sales of their existing 
products and services and launch new product offerings.  

We have had a history of losses and expect continued losses in the foreseeable future.  

      We have had significant operating losses and, excluding the effect of any future non-operating gains, we expect to continue incurring 
significant operating losses in the future. As a result, we may not have sufficient resources to expand our operations in the future. We can give 
no assurances as to when or whether we will achieve profitability, and if we ever have profits, we may not be able to sustain them.  

We may have difficulty assisting our partner companies in managing their operations.  

      Our partner companies are facing different challenges. Some are growing rapidly. Some face elongated sales cycles where our prospective 
customers maintain tight controls over technology spending. These situations are likely to place significant strain on their resources and on the 
resources we allocate to assist our partner companies. In addition, our management may be unable to convince our partner companies in adopting 
ideas for effectively and successfully managing such situations.  

Our accounting estimates with respect to the ultimate recoverability of our basis in our partner companies could change materially in the near 
term.  

      We operate in an industry that is rapidly evolving and extremely competitive. Many internet-based businesses, including some with business 
models similar to ours, have experienced difficulty in raising additional capital necessary to fund operating losses and continue investments that 
their management teams believe are necessary to sustain operations. Valuations of public companies operating in the technology sector have 
declined significantly since early 2000. In the first quarter of 2000 we announced several significant acquisitions that were financed principally 
with shares of our stock and based on the price of our stock at that time, were valued in excess of $1 billion. Based on our periodic review of our 
partner company holdings, including those valued during 2001, impairment charges of $1.3 billion were recorded to write off certain partner 
company holdings. It is reasonably possible that our accounting estimates with respect to the useful life and ultimate recoverability of our 
carrying basis including goodwill in other partner companies could change in the near term and that the effect of such changes on the financial 
statements could be material. At year end, the recorded amount of carrying basis including goodwill is not impaired, although we cannot assure 
that our future results will confirm this assessment, that a significant write-down or write-off of partner company carrying basis including 
goodwill will not be required in the future, or that a significant loss will not be recorded in the future upon the sale of a partner company.  

We may compete with one of our stockholders and some of our partner companies, and our partner companies may compete with each other, 
which could deter companies from partnering with us and may limit future business opportunities.  

      We may compete with one of our stockholders and some of our partner companies for internet-related opportunities. As of December 31, 
2002, Safeguard Scientifics owns 12.9% of our outstanding common stock and may compete with us to acquire interests in e-commerce 
companies. The Chairman of Safeguard Scientifics’ Board of Directors and Safeguard Scientifics’ former Chairman and CEO are currently 
members of our Board of Directors. This may give Safeguard Scientifics access to our business plan and knowledge about potential transactions. 
In addition, we may compete with our partner companies to acquire interests in e-commerce companies and our partner companies may compete 
with each other for e-commerce opportunities. This competition, and the complications posed by the Safeguard Scientifics affiliated directors, 
may deter companies from partnering with us and may limit our business opportunities.  
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Our partner companies could make business decisions that are not in our best interests or that we do not agree with, which could impair the 
value of our partner company interests.  

      Although we generally seek a significant equity interest and participation in the management of our Core partner companies, we may not be 
able to control significant business decisions of our Core partner companies. In addition, although we currently own a controlling interest in 
several of our Core partner companies, we may not maintain this controlling interest. Equity interests in partner companies in which we lack 
control or share control involves additional risks that could cause the performance of our interest and our operating results to suffer, including 
the management of a partner company having economic or business interests or objectives that are different from ours and partner companies not 
taking our advice with respect to the financial or operating difficulties that they may encounter.  

      Our inability to prevent dilution of our ownership interests in our partner companies or our inability to otherwise have a controlling influence 
over the management and operations of our partner companies could have an adverse impact on our status under the Investment Company Act. 
Our ability to adequately control our partner companies could also prevent us from assisting them, or could prevent us from liquidating our 
interest in them at a time or at a price that is favorable to us. Additionally, our partner companies may not collaborate with each other or act in 
ways that are consistent with our business strategy. These factors could hamper our ability to maximize returns on our interests and cause us to 
recognize losses on our interests in partner companies.  

Our operations and growth could be impaired by limitations on our and our partner companies’ ability to raise money.  

      We have been dependent on the capital markets for access to funds for acquisitions, operations and other purposes. While we attempt to 
operate our business in such a manner so as to be independent from the capital markets, there is no assurance that we will be successful in doing 
so. Our partner companies are also dependent on the capital markets to raise capital for their own purposes. During the past three years, the 
market for internet-related and software companies and initial public offerings weakened dramatically. If this weakness continues for an 
extended period of time, our ability and the ability of our partner companies to grow and access the capital markets, if necessary, will be 
impaired, which would require us to take other actions, such as borrowing money on terms that may be unfavorable to us, or divesting of 
interests in our partner companies to raise capital.  

Our stakes in some partner companies have been and are likely to be diluted, which could materially reduce the value of our stake in such 
partner companies.  

      Since we allocate our financial resources to those partner companies that we believe have the most potential, our ownership interests in other 
partner companies have been and are likely to continue to be diluted due to our decision not to participate in financings. This dilution results in a 
reduction in the value of our stakes in such partner companies.  

In the future, we may need to raise additional capital to fund our operations and this capital may not be available on acceptable terms, if at all.  

      We may need to raise additional funds in the future and we cannot be certain that we will be able to obtain additional financing on favorable 
terms, if at all.  

Even if a number of our partner companies achieve profitability, we may not be able to extract cash from such companies, which could have a 
negative impact on our operations.  

      One of our goals is to help our partner companies achieve profitability. Even if a number of our partner companies do meet such goal, we 
may not be able to access cash generated by such partner companies to fund our own operations, which could have a negative impact on our 
operations.  
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When we divest partner company interests, we may be unable to obtain maximum value for such interests.  

      We focus our capital and human resources on those partner companies that we believe present the greatest long-term stockholder value. We 
may divest our interests in those partner companies that do not fit this criterion or in other partner companies that we believe are no longer core 
to our strategy. We divest of our interests in other partner companies to generate cash or for strategic reasons. When we divest all or part of an 
interest in a partner company interest, we may not receive maximum value for our position. For partner companies with publicly-traded stock, 
we may be unable to sell our interest at then-quoted market prices. Furthermore, for those partner companies that do not have publicly-traded 
stock, the realizable value of our interests may ultimately prove to be lower than the carrying value currently reflected in our consolidated 
financial statements. We continually evaluate the carrying value of our ownership interests in and advances to each of our partner companies for 
possible impairment based on achievement of business plan objectives and milestones, the value of each ownership interest in the partner 
company relative to carrying value, the financial condition and prospects of the partner company and other relevant factors. If we are unable to 
raise capital from other sources we may be forced to sell our stakes in partner companies at unfavorable prices in order to sustain our operations. 
Additionally, we may be unable to find buyers for certain of our assets, which could adversely affect our business.  

We may have difficulty selling our stakes in our publicly-traded partner companies.  

      Because we hold significant stakes of restricted securities thinly-traded public companies, we may have difficulty selling our interest in such 
companies and, if we are able to sell our shares, such sales may be subject to volume limitations and may be at prices that are below the then-
quoted bid prices.  

The Companies that we have identified as Core partner companies may not succeed.  

      We cannot ensure that the companies we have identified as Core partner companies are those that actually have the greatest value proposition 
or are those to which we will continue to allocate capital. Although we have identified certain of our partner companies as Core partner 
companies, this categorization does not necessarily imply that every one of our Core partner companies is a de facto success at this time or will 
become successful in the future. There is no guarantee that a Core partner company will remain categorized as Core or that it will be able to 
successfully continue operations.  

Due to our decision to allocate the majority of our resources to partner companies we believe present the greatest long-term stockholder value, 
our ability to provide support to our other partner companies will be limited.  

      We allocate our resources to focus on those partner companies that we believe present the greatest stockholder value. We cannot ensure that 
the companies we identified in this process are those that actually have the greatest value proposition. As a result of our reallocation of resources, 
we will not allocate capital to all of our existing partner companies. Our decision to not provide additional capital support to some of our partner 
companies could have a material adverse impact on the operations of such partner companies.  

We may have to buy, sell or retain assets when we would otherwise choose not to in order to avoid registration under the Investment Company 
Act of 1940, which would impact our investment strategy.  

      We believe that we are actively engaged in the business of technology through our network of majority-owned subsidiaries and companies 
that we are considered to “control.” Under the Investment Company Act, a company is considered to control another company if it owns more 
than 25% of that company’s voting securities and is the largest stockholder of such company. A company may be required to register as an 
investment company if more than 45% of its total assets consist of, and more than 45% of its income/ loss and revenue attributable to it over the 
last four quarters is derived from, ownership interests in companies it does not control. Because many of our partner companies are not majority-
owned subsidiaries, and because we own 25% or less of the voting securities of a number of our partner companies, changes in the value of our 
interests in our partner companies and the income/ loss and revenue attributable to our partner companies could subject  
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us to regulation under the Investment Company Act unless we take precautionary steps. For example, in order to avoid having excessive income 
from “non-controlled” interests, we may not sell minority interests we would otherwise want to sell or we may have to generate non-investment 
income by selling interests in partner companies that we are considered to control. We may also need to ensure that we retain more than 25% 
ownership interests in our partner companies after any equity offerings. In addition, we may have to acquire additional income or loss generating 
majority-owned or controlled interests that we might not otherwise have acquired or may not be able to acquire “non-controlling” interests in 
companies that we would otherwise want to acquire. It is not feasible for us to be regulated as an investment company because the Investment 
Company Act rules are inconsistent with our strategy of actively managing, operating and promoting collaboration among our network of partner 
companies. On August 23, 1999, the SEC granted our request for an exemption under Section 3(b)(2) of the Investment Company Act declaring 
us to be primarily engaged in a business other than that of investing, reinvesting, owning, holding or trading in securities. This exemptive order 
reduces the risk that we may have to take action to avoid registration as an investment company, but it does not eliminate the risk.  

We have implemented certain anti-takeover provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us.  

      Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, could make it more difficult for a third party 
to acquire us, even if doing so would be beneficial to our stockholders. Our certificate of incorporation provides that our board of directors may 
issue preferred stock without stockholder approval and also provides for a staggered board of directors. We are subject to the provisions of 
Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which restricts certain business combinations with interested stockholders. Additionally, 
we have a Rights Agreement which has the effect of discouraging any person or group from beneficially owning more that 15% of our 
outstanding common stock unless our board has amended the plan or redeemed the rights. The combination of these provisions may inhibit a 
non-negotiated merger or other business combination.  

In August 2003, members of management may sell shares of the Company’s common stock in connection with the vesting of restricted stock 
grants, which could have a negative effect on the price of the Company’s stock.  

      Members of our management have been granted shares of restricted stock, of which approximately 1.2 million will vest in August 2003. We 
believe that individuals are likely to sell shares of the Company’s common stock to cover tax liabilities associated with the vesting and they may 
sell additional vested shares. Such sales could have a negative effect on the stock price.  

Risks Particular to Our Partner Companies  

Many of our partner companies have a limited operating history and may never be profitable.  

      Many of our partner companies are early-stage companies with limited operating histories, have significant historical losses and may never 
be profitable. Many of these companies have incurred substantial costs to develop and market their products and expand operations, have 
incurred net losses and cannot fund their cash needs from operations. Operating expenses of these companies could increase in the foreseeable 
future as they continue to develop products, increase sales and marketing efforts and expand operations.  

Fluctuation in the price of the common stock of our publicly-traded partner companies may affect the price of our common stock.  

      Verticalnet, eMerge Interactive, Onvia.com and Universal Access are our publicly-traded partner companies. The price of their common 
stock has been highly volatile. As of December 31, 2002, the market value of our publicly-traded partner companies was $12.6 million. 
Fluctuations in the price of Verticalnet’s, eMerge Interactive’s, Onvia.com’s and Universal Access’ and other future publicly-traded partner 
companies’ common stock are likely to affect the price of our common stock. Our assets as reflected in our balance sheet  
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dated December 31, 2002, were $366.2 million, of which $11.2 million related to Verticalnet, eMerge Interactive, Onvia.com and Universal 
Access. However, we believe that comparisons of the value of our holdings in partner companies to the value of our total assets are not 
meaningful because not all of our partner company ownership interests are marked to market in our balance sheet.  

      Verticalnet’s results of operations, and accordingly the price of its common stock, may be adversely affected by the risk factors disclosed in 
its SEC filings, including the following factors:  

      eMerge Interactive’s results of operations, and accordingly the price of its common stock, may be adversely affected by the risk factors 
disclosed in its SEC filings, including the following factors:  

      Onvia.com’s results of operations, and accordingly the price of its common stock, may be adversely affected by the risk factors disclosed in 
its SEC filings, including the following factors:  

  •  potential inability to sustain operations due to cash constraints and exploration of alternatives that include a sale of all or part of its 
business or a reorganization or liquidation of Verticalnet; 

  
  •  inability to retain key management and experienced software personnel; 

  
  •  inability to generate significant revenues from enterprise, software licensing and professional services; 

  
  •  inability to reduce expenses or generate an operating profit; 

  
  •  inability to establish brand awareness; 

  
  •  inability to acquire additional funding; 

  
  •  inability to maintain listing on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market; and 

  
  •  lengthy sales and implementation cycles for products. 

  •  lack of commercial acceptance of eMerge Interactive’s products and services; 

  
  •  inability to respond to competitive developments; 

  
  •  failure to achieve brand recognition; 

  
  •  failure to introduce new products and services; and 

  
  •  failure to upgrade and enhance its technologies to accommodate expanded product and service offerings and increased customer traffic. 

  •  potential loss of rights to distribute governmental content; 

  
  •  potential reduction in governmental spending resulting in a reduction of Onvia.com’s bid flow; 

  
  •  inability to increase subscribership to its premium, higher priced services; 

  
  •  many competitors of Onvia.com have larger customer bases and greater brand recognition; 

  
  •  government agencies’  unwillingness to purchase their business services and products online; 

  
  •  a significant number of small businesses, government agencies and their vendors’ unwillingness to use its emarketplace to buy and sell 

services and products; 
  
  •  failure of small business customers to provide data about themselves; 

  
  •  inability to enhance the features and services of its exchange to achieve acceptance and scalability; 
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  •  negative impact on stock price and future operations resulting from a declared cash distribution; and 

  
  •  inability to manage a change in strategy. 



   

      Universal Access’ results of operations, and accordingly the price of its common stock, may be adversely affected by the risk factors 
disclosed in its SEC filings, including the following factors:  

The success of our partner companies depends on the development of the e-commerce market, which is uncertain.  

      Some of our partner companies rely on e-commerce markets for the success of their businesses. The development of the e-commerce market 
is in its early stages. If widespread commercial use of the internet does not develop, or if the internet does not develop as an effective medium 
for providing products and services, our partner companies may not succeed.  

Our long-term success depends on widespread market acceptance of e-commerce.  

      A number of factors could prevent widespread market acceptance of e-commerce, including the following:  
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  •  failure of its services to be sufficiently rapid, reliable and cost-effective; 

  
  •  unwillingness of clients to outsource the obtaining of circuits; 

  
  •  inability to market its services effectively; 

  
  •  inability to expand its Universal Transport Exchange (UTX) facilities; 

  
  •  failure to successfully operate a network operations center; 

  
  •  inability to implement and maintain its Universal Information Exchange (UIX) databases; 

  
  •  failure of the market for UTX services to grow; 

  
  •  inability to maintain listing on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market; 

  
  •  changes in market valuations of telecommunications and internet-related companies; 

  
  •  inability of clients’  to pay their obligations; 

  
  •  inability to obtain third party financing; 

  
  •  inability to reduce costs and increase revenues, difficulties or delays in delivering circuits; 

  
  •  inability to successfully aggregate circuits; and 

  
  •  dependence on several large clients. 

  •  the unwillingness of businesses to shift from traditional processes to e-commerce processes; 

  
  •  the network necessary for enabling substantial growth in usage of e-commerce may not be adequately developed; 

  
  •  increased government regulation or taxation, which may adversely affect the viability of e-commerce; 

  
  •  insufficient availability of telecommunication services or changes in telecommunication services which could result in slower response 

times for the users of e-commerce; and 
  
  •  concern and adverse publicity about the security of e-commerce transactions. 



   

Our partner companies may fail if their competitors provide superior technology offerings or continue to have greater resources than our 
partner companies have.  

      Competition for technology products and services is intense. As the market for technology grows, we expect that competition will intensify. 
Barriers to entry are minimal and competitors can offer products and services at a relatively low cost. Our partner companies compete for a share 
of a customer’s:  

      In addition, some of our partner companies compete to attract and retain a critical mass of buyers and sellers. Many companies offer 
competitive solutions that compete with one or more of our partner companies. We expect that additional companies will offer competing 
solutions on a stand-alone or combined basis in the future. Furthermore, our partner companies’ competitors may develop products or services 
that are superior to, or have greater market acceptance than, the solutions offered by our partner companies. If our partner companies are unable 
to compete successfully against their competitors, our partner companies may fail.  

      Many of our partner companies’ competitors have greater brand recognition and greater financial, marketing and other resources than our 
partner companies. This may place our partner companies at a disadvantage in responding to their competitors’ pricing strategies, technological 
advances, advertising campaigns, strategic partnerships and other initiatives.  

In the future, our partner companies may need to raise additional capital to fund their operations and this capital may not be available on 
acceptable terms, if at all.  

      Our partner companies may need to raise additional funds in the future and we cannot be certain that they will be able to obtain additional 
financing on favorable terms, if at all.  

The inability of our partner companies’ customers to pay their obligations to them in a timely manner or at all could have an adverse effect on 
our partner companies.  

      Some of the customers of our partner companies may have inadequate financial resources to meet all their obligations. If a significant 
number of customers are unable to pay amounts owed to a partner company, such partner company’s results of operations and financial 
condition could be adversely affected.  

Some of our partner companies may be unable to protect their proprietary rights and may infringe on the proprietary rights of others.  

      Our partner companies are inventing new solutions for doing business. In support of this innovation, they will develop proprietary 
techniques, trademarks, processes and software. Although we believe reasonable efforts will be taken to protect the rights to this intellectual 
property, the complexity of international trade secret, copyright, trademark and patent law, coupled with the limited resources of these young 
companies and the demands of quick delivery of products and services to market, create risk that their efforts will prove inadequate. Further, the 
nature of internet business demands that considerable detail about their innovative processes and techniques be exposed to competitors, because 
it must be presented on the websites in order to attract clients. Some of our partner companies also license content from third parties and it is 
possible that they could become subject to infringement actions based upon the content licensed from those third parties. Our partner companies 
generally obtain representations as to the origin and ownership of such licensed content; however, this may not adequately protect them. Any 
claims against our partner companies’ proprietary rights, with or without merit, could subject our partner companies to costly litigation and the 
diversion of their technical and management personnel. If our partner companies incur costly litigation and their personnel are not effectively 
deployed, the expenses and losses incurred by our partner companies will increase and their profits, if any, will decrease.  
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  •  purchasing budget for information technology and services, materials and supplies with other online providers and traditional distribution 
channels; and 

  
  •  dollars spent on consulting services with many established information systems and management consulting firms. 



   

Government regulation of the internet and e-commerce may harm our partner companies’ businesses.  

      Government regulation of the internet and e-commerce is evolving and unfavorable changes could harm our partner companies’ business. 
Our partner companies are subject to general business regulations and laws specifically governing the internet and e-commerce. Such existing 
and future laws and regulations may impede the growth of the internet or other online services. These regulations and laws may cover taxation, 
user privacy, pricing content, copyrights, distribution, electronic contracts, consumer protection, the provision of online payment services, 
broadband residential internet access and the characteristics and quality of products and services. It is not clear how existing laws governing 
issues such as property ownership, sales and other taxes, libel and personal privacy apply to the internet and e-commerce. Unfavorable resolution 
of these issues may harm our partner companies’ business.  

Our partner companies that publish or distribute content over the internet may be subject to legal liability.  

      Some of our partner companies may be subject to legal claims relating to the content on their websites, or the downloading and distribution 
of this content. Claims could involve matters such as defamation, invasion of privacy and copyright infringement. Providers of internet products 
and services have been sued in the past, sometimes successfully, based on the content of material. In addition, some of the content provided by 
our partner companies on their websites is drawn from data compiled by other parties, including governmental and commercial sources. The data 
may have errors. If any of our partner companies’ website content is improperly used or if any of our partner companies supply incorrect 
information, it could result in unexpected liability. Any of our partner companies that incur this type of unexpected liability may not have 
insurance to cover the claim or its insurance may not provide sufficient coverage. If our partner companies incur substantial cost because of this 
type of unexpected liability, the expenses incurred by our partner companies will increase and their profits, if any, will decrease.  

Our partner companies’ computer and communications systems may fail, which may discourage parties from using our partner companies’ 
systems.  

      Some of our partner companies’ businesses depend on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of their computer and communications 
hardware systems. Any system interruptions that cause our partner companies’ websites to be unavailable to web browsers may reduce the 
attractiveness of our partner companies’ websites to third parties. If third parties are unwilling to use our partner companies’ websites, our 
business, financial condition and operating results could be adversely affected. Interruptions could result from natural disasters as well as power 
loss, telecommunications failure and similar events.  

Our partner companies’ businesses may be disrupted if they are unable to upgrade their systems to meet increased demand.  

      Capacity limits on some of our partner companies’ technology, transaction processing systems and network hardware and software may be 
difficult to project and they may not be able to expand and upgrade their systems to meet increased use. As traffic on our partner companies’ 
websites continues to increase, they must expand and upgrade their technology, transaction processing systems and network hardware and 
software. Our partner companies may be unable to accurately project the rate of increase in use of their websites. In addition, our partner 
companies may not be able to expand and upgrade their systems and network hardware and software capabilities to accommodate increased use 
of their websites. If our partner companies are unable to appropriately upgrade their systems and network hardware and software, the operations 
and processes of our partner companies may be disrupted.  

Our partner companies may be unable to acquire or maintain easily identifiable website addresses or prevent third parties from acquiring 
website addresses similar to theirs.  

      Some of our partner companies hold various website addresses relating to their brands. These partner companies may not be able to prevent 
third parties from acquiring website addresses that are similar to their addresses, which could adversely affect the use by businesses of our 
partner companies’ websites. In these  
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instances, our partner companies may not grow as we expect. The acquisition and maintenance of website addresses generally is regulated by 
governmental agencies and their designees. The regulation of website addresses in the United States and in foreign countries is subject to change. 
As a result, our partner companies may not be able to acquire or maintain relevant website addresses in all countries where they conduct 
business. Furthermore, the relationship between regulations governing such addresses and laws protecting trademarks is unclear.  
   

      We are exposed to equity price risks on the marketable portion of our equity securities. Our public holdings at December 31, 2002 include 
equity positions in companies in the technology industry sector, including: eMerge Interactive; Universal Access; Onvia.com; and Verticalnet, 
many of which have experienced significant historical volatility in their stock prices. A 20% adverse change in equity prices, based on a 
sensitivity analysis of our public holdings as of December 31, 2002, would result in an approximate $2.5 million decrease in the fair value of our 
public holdings.  

      Although we typically do not attempt to reduce or eliminate our market exposure on these securities, particularly with respect to securities of 
our partner companies, we did enter into a forward contract on 1.8 million shares of our holdings in i2 Technologies. The forward contract limits 
our exposure to and benefits from price fluctuations in the underlying equity securities. As of December 31, 2002, 1.8 million shares of 
i2 Technologies remain under this arrangement. In addition, 0.5 million shares of i2 Technologies were held in escrow, which were released to 
us in 2002, and have not been hedged which have a market value of $0.5 million at December 31, 2002. The combined value of the forward 
contract, the underlying hedged securities and the unhedged securities at December 31, 2002 was $10.1 million. The forward contract matures in 
September 2003. We may enter into similar collar arrangements in the future; particularly with respect to available-for-sale securities, which do 
not constitute ownership interests in our partner companies.  

      The carrying values of financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and notes payable, 
approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments. At December 31, 2002, the fair value of convertible subordinated 
notes is $116.1 million versus a carrying value of $283.1 million. The carrying value of other long-term debt approximates its fair value, as 
estimated by using discounted future cash flows based on our current incremental borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements.  

      We have historically had very low exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, and as such, have not used derivative financial 
instruments to manage foreign currency fluctuation risk.  
   

      The following Consolidated Financial Statements, and the related Notes thereto, of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and the Report of 
Independent Auditors are filed as a part of this Report on Form 10-K.  

37  

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

          
Page 

Number 

Report of Independent Auditors      38   
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002 and 2001      39   
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 

2002, 2001 and 2000      40   
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 

2002, 2001 and 2000      41   

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years 
ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000      42   

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended 
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000      

43 
  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements      44   



   

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

      We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 
2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and comprehensive loss for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s 
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  

      We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

      In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Internet 
Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the 
years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  

      As discussed in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill, discontinued 
operations, accounting for an investment, accounting for notes receivable from stockholders and reporting gains on extinguishment of debt in 
2002 and derivatives in 2001.  

/s/ KPMG LLP          

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
February 20, 2003  
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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As of December 31, 

2002 2001 

(as adjusted) 
(in thousands except per 

share data) 
ASSETS 

Current Assets                  
  Cash and cash equivalents    $ 118,657     $ 238,135   
  Restricted cash      10,876       10,457   
  Short term investments      7,311       10,475   

  
Accounts receivable, net of allowance ($4,255 – 2002; $5,249 – 

2001)      32,859       31,400   

  Prepaid expenses and other current assets      6,528       10,255   
              
    Total current assets      176,231       300,722   
Assets of discontinued operations      5,746       45,444   
Fixed assets, net      10,292       20,735   
Ownership interests in Partner Companies      71,732       163,137   
Available for sale securities      10,228       17,389   
Goodwill, net      61,938       55,806   
Other      30,079       51,814   
              
    Total Assets    $ 366,246     $ 655,047   
              

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) 
Current Liabilities                  
  Current maturities of other long-term debt    $ 11,728     $ 17,156   
  Accounts payable      13,042       16,042   
  Accrued expenses      33,812       38,895   
  Accrued compensation and benefits      11,554       13,723   
  Accrued restructuring      12,113       14,660   
  Deferred revenue      19,063       22,971   
              
    Total current liabilities      101,312       123,447   
Liabilities of discontinued operations      5,296       23,278   
Other long-term debt      7,919       10,645   
Other liabilities      13,145       8,985   
Minority interest      7,106       7,894   
Convertible subordinated notes      283,114       446,061   
              
      417,892       620,310   
Commitments and contingencies (Note 19)                  
Stockholders’  Equity (Deficit)                  
  Preferred stock (Note 12)      —      —  

  
Common stock, $.001 par value; 2,000,000 shares authorized, 

286,720 (2002) and 287,689 (2001) issued and outstanding      
287 

      
288 

  

  Additional paid in capital      3,085,232       3,081,088   
  Accumulated deficit      (3,134,036 )     (3,031,817 ) 
  Unamortized deferred compensation      (2,968 )     (9,610 ) 
  Notes receivable-stockholders      (460 )     (4,721 ) 
  Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)      299       (491 ) 
              
    Total stockholders’  equity (deficit)      (51,646 )     34,737   
              
      Total Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity (Deficit)    $ 366,246     $ 655,047   
              





   

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(as adjusted) (as adjusted) 
(in thousands except per share data) 

Revenue    $ 108,457     $ 115,651     $ 42,238   
Operating expenses                          
  Cost of revenue      69,095       84,818       46,065   
  Selling, general and administrative      91,870       244,266       243,871   
  Research and development      24,100       43,788       68,821   
  Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles      12,000       125,854       239,813   
  Impairment related and other      12,376       851,257       160,844   
                    
  Total operating expenses      209,441       1,349,983       759,414   
                    
      (100,984 )     (1,234,332 )     (717,176 ) 
Other income (loss), net      93,333       (109,795 )     627,227   
Interest income      4,098       17,226       51,379   
Interest expense      (23,855 )     (43,001 )     (44,253 ) 
                    
Loss before income taxes, minority interest and equity loss      (27,408 )     (1,369,902 )     (82,823 ) 
Income tax (expense) benefit      (179 )     12,584       319,449   
Minority interest      15,438       108,223       84,245   
Equity loss      (81,114 )     (1,048,860 )     (980,391 ) 
                    
Loss before discontinued operations and cumulative effect of change in 

accounting principle      (93,263 )     (2,297,955 )     (659,520 ) 
Loss on discontinued operations, net of gain of $10,317 (2002) (Note 9) and 

tax benefit of $2,917 (2001) and $7,806 (2000) (Note 14)      (8,956 )     (32,889 )     (7,028 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle (Note 4)      —      (7,886 )     —  
                    
Net loss    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 )   $ (666,548 ) 
                    
Basic and diluted loss per share:                          
Loss before discontinued operations and cumulative effect of change in 

accounting principle    
$ (0.35 ) 

  
$ (8.25 ) 

  
$ (2.40 ) 

Loss on discontinued operations      (0.03 )     (0.12 )     (0.02 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      —      (0.03 )     —  
                    
    $ (0.38 )   $ (8.40 )   $ (2.42 ) 
                    
Shares used in computation of basic and diluted loss per share      267,998       278,353       275,044   
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  

                            
Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(as adjusted) (as adjusted) 
(in thousands) 

Operating Activities                          
Net loss    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 )   $ (666,548 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities                          
  Depreciation and amortization      21,850       145,109       246,531   
  Purchased in process research and development      —      —      11,470   
  Impairment related and other      10,475       820,100       160,844   
  Stock-based compensation      13,128       29,103       25,747   
  Deferred tax expense (benefit)      179       (12,584 )     (319,449 ) 
  Equity loss      81,114       1,048,860       980,391   
  Other income (loss)      (93,333 )     109,795       (627,227 ) 
  Minority interest      (15,438 )     (108,223 )     (84,245 ) 
  Loss on discontinued operations      8,956       32,889       7,028   
  Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      —      7,886       —  
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:                          
  Restricted cash      267       (10,457 )     —  
  Accounts receivable, net      (821 )     11,716       (24,621 ) 
  Prepaid expenses and other assets      13,918       121       (21,504 ) 
  Accounts payable      (3,913 )     (13,716 )     20,825   
  Accrued expenses      (12,210 )     (10,605 )     21,680   
  Deferred revenue      (2,073 )     12,747       206   
  Other liabilities      (6,237 )     8,271       2,682   
                    
Cash used in operating activities      (86,357 )     (267,718 )     (266,190 ) 
Investing Activities                          
  Capital expenditures      (961 )     (5,729 )     (50,306 ) 
  Proceeds from sales of available for sale securities      1,559       182,500       179,606   
  Proceeds from sales of Partner Company ownership interests      42,219       168,270       35,310   
  Acquisitions of ownership interests in Partner Companies, net      (21,902 )     (125,918 )     (992,287 ) 
  Other acquisitions, net      —      10,529       600   
  Proceeds/(Purchase) of short-term investments, net      2,952       1,075       (3,878 ) 
  Reduction in cash due to deconsolidation of Partner Companies      (5,876 )     (133,376 )     (2,580 ) 
                    
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities      17,991       97,351       (833,535 ) 
Financing Activities                          
  Issuance of common stock, net      —      851       7,206   
  Long term debt and capital lease obligations, net      (10,627 )     22,220       (10,013 ) 
  Line of credit borrowings      999       6,511       653   
  Line of credit repayments      (805 )     (2,880 )     (77 ) 
  Proceeds from convertible note offering      —      —      4,664   
  Repurchase of convertible notes      (48,752 )     (35,456 )     —  
  Repayment of advances and loans to employees      —      3,437       13,588   
  Advances and loans to employees      —      (1,500 )     —  
  Issuance of stock by subsidiary      9,882       5,491       150,317   
  Other      38       35       —  
                    
Cash provided by (used in) financing activities      (49,265 )     (1,291 )     166,338   
                    
Net decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents      (117,631 )     (171,658 )     (933,387 ) 
                    
  Effect of exchange rates on cash      (1,847 )     (280 )     —  
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of year      238,135       410,073       1,343,460   
                    
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of year    $ 118,657     $ 238,135     $ 410,073   
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DE FICIT)  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Accumulated 

Common Stock Additional Unamortized Notes Other 
Paid-In Accumulated Deferred Receivable- Comprehensive 

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Compensation Stockholders Income (loss) Total 

Balance as of December 31, 1999.      263,579     $ 264     $ 1,513,615     $ (26,539 )   $ (11,846 )   $ (79,790 )   $ 24,517     $ 1,420,221   
Issuance of common stock and income tax benefit upon 

exercise of options      340       —      6,365       —      —      —      —      6,365   

Stockholder loans principal payments      —      —      —      —      —      13,588       —      13,588   
Issuance of common stock for acquisitions      22,585       23       1,556,142       —      —      —      —      1,556,165   
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of Warrants      834       1       840       —      —      —      —      841   
Amortization of deferred compensation      —      —      —      —      7,104       —      —      7,104   
Issuance of stock options to non-employees      —      —      6,698       —      (6,698 )     —      —      —  
Repurchase of common stock from employees      (5,744 )     (6 )     (14,876 )     —      733       14,149       —      —  
Compensation charge in connection with the 

acceleration of vesting      —      —      12,034       —      —      —      —      12,034   
Impact of issuance of common stock by a subsidiary or 

equity method Partner Company, net      —      —      7,912       —      —      —      —      7,912   

Foreign currency adjustment      —      —      —      —      —      —      293       293   
Net unrealized (depreciation) in available-for-sale 

securities and reclassification adjustments      —      —      —      —      —      —      (91,866 )     (91,866 ) 
Other      —      —      58       —      —      —      —      58   
Net loss      —      —      —      (666,548 )     —      —      —      (666,548 ) 
                                                  
Balance as of December 31, 2000 (as adjusted)      281,594       282       3,088,788       (693,087 )     (10,707 )     (52,053 )     (67,056 )     2,266,167   
Issuance of common stock and income tax benefit upon 

exercise of options      313       —      846       —      —      —      —      846   

Stockholder loans principal payments      —      —      —      —      —      3,342       —      3,342   
Issuance of common stock for acquisitions      2,665       3       2,121       —      —      —      —      2,124   
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of warrants      1       —      5       —      —      —      —      5   
Amortization of deferred compensation      —      —      —      —      13,917       —      —      13,917   
Issuance of restricted stock to employees      9,135       9       16,053       —      (16,062 )     —      —      —  
Repurchase of common stock from employees      (6,019 )     (6 )     (19,918 )     —      3,242       16,682       —      —  
Impact of subsidiary equity transactions      —      —      19,706       —      —      —      —      19,706   
Forgiveness of stockholder loans      —      —      —      —      —      795       —      795   
Foreign currency adjustment      —      —      —      —      —      —      (292 )     (292 ) 
Net unrealized appreciation in available-for-sale 

securities and reclassification adjustments      —      —      —      —      —      —      66,857       66,857   

Modifications to stockholder loans      —      —      (26,513 )     —      —      26,513       —      —  
Net loss      —      —      —      (2,338,730 )     —      —      —      (2,338,730 ) 
                                                  
Balance as of December 31, 2001 (as adjusted)      287,689       288       3,081,088       (3,031,817 )     (9,610 )     (4,721 )     (491 )     34,737   
Amortization of deferred compensation              —      —      —      6,393       —      —      6,393   
Forfeitures of restricted stock, net      (969 )     (1 )     (248 )     —      249       —      —      —  
Impact of subsidiary equity transactions      —      —      4,950       —      —      —      —      4,950   
Net unrealized appreciation in available-for-sale 

securities and reclassification adjustments      —      —      —      —      —      —      790       790   
Modifications to stockholder loans      —      —      (558 )     —      —      4,261       —      3,703   
Net loss      —      —      —      (102,219 )     —      —      —      (102,219 ) 
                                                  
Balances as of December 31, 2002.      286,720     $ 287     $ 3,085,232     $ (3,134,036 )   $ (2,968 )   $ (460 )   $ 299     $ (51,646 ) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  

See notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(as adjusted) (as adjusted) 
(in thousands) 

Net Loss    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 )   $ (666,548 ) 
                    
Other comprehensive loss before tax                          
  Unrealized holding losses in available-for-sale securities      (6,875 )     (3,203 )     (188,868 ) 
  Foreign currency translation adjustment      —      (292 )     1,058   

  
Reclassification adjustments/realized net gains on available-for-sale 

securities      7,665       109,613       44,250   
Taxes related to comprehensive loss                          
  Unrealized holding losses in available-for-sale securities      —      —      69,019   

  
Reclassification adjustments/realized net gains on available-for-sale 

securities      —      (39,553 )     (17,032 ) 
                    
Other comprehensive income (loss)      790       66,565       (91,573 ) 
                    
Comprehensive loss    $ (101,429 )   $ (2,272,165 )   $ (758,121 ) 
                    



   

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. Significant Accounting Policies  

      Description of the Company  

      The Company is an information technology company actively engaged in delivering software solutions and services that are designed to 
enhance business operations by increasing efficiency, reducing costs and improving sales results. The Company operates through a network of 
partner companies which deliver those solutions to customers. To help drive partner company progress, the Company provides operational 
assistance, capital support, industry expertise, access to operational best practices, and a strategic network of business relationships. The 
Company was formed in March 1996 and is headquartered in Wayne, Pennsylvania.  

      Although the Company refers to companies in which it has acquired a convertible debt or an equity ownership interest as its “Partner 
Companies” and indicates that it has a “partnership” with these companies, it does not act as an agent or legal representative for any of its 
Partner Companies, it does not have the power or authority to legally bind any of its Partner Companies and it does not have the types of 
liabilities in relation to its Partner Companies that a general partner of a partnership would have.  
   

      The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries. The Consolidated Statements 
of Operations and Cash Flows also include the following majority owned subsidiaries for all or a portion of the periods indicated, each of which 
was consolidated since the date the Company acquired majority control (collectively, the “Consolidated Subsidiaries”):  

      During 2002, 2001 and 2000, certain Partner Companies which had been accounted for as consolidated companies during the year were 
disposed of, ceased operations or the Company’s ownership decreased to a level which resulted in deconsolidation during the year.  
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Basis of Presentation 

          
Year Ended December 31 

2002 2001 2000 

Captive Capital    AssetTrade   Animated Images 
CommerceQuest    Captive Capital   AssetTrade 
eCredit    CommerceQuest   Captive Capital 
FreeBorders    CyberCrop.com, Incorporated (“CyberCrop.com”)   CyberCrop.com 
ICG Commerce    eCredit   EmployeeLife.com, Inc. 
OneCoast    Emptoris   Emptoris 
    eu-Supply.com Svenska AB (“eu-Supply”)   eu-Supply 
    ICG Asia Ltd. (“ ICG Asia” )   ICG Asia 
    ICG Commerce   ICG Commerce 
    Mesania   iParts, Inc. 
    MROLink Corporation (“MRO Link” )   Mesania 
    OneCoast   MROLink 
    OnMedica   OnMedica 
    PaperExchange.com   PaperExchange.com 
    RightWorks   RightWorks 
        StarCite 



   

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

1. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

      The Consolidated Balance Sheets include the following majority owned subsidiaries:  

   

      The various interests that the Company acquires in its Partner Companies are accounted for under three methods: consolidation, equity and 
cost. The applicable accounting method is generally determined based on the Company’s voting interest in a Partner Company.  

      Consolidation. Partner Companies in which the Company directly or indirectly owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting securities are 
generally accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting. Under this method, a Partner Company’s balance sheet and results of 
operations are reflected within the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have 
been eliminated. Participation of other Partner Company stockholders in the net assets and in the earnings or losses of a consolidated Partner 
Company is reflected in the caption “Minority interest” in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and Statements of Operations. Minority 
interest adjusts the Company’s consolidated results of operations to reflect only the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of the 
consolidated Partner Company. The results of operations and cash flows of a consolidated Partner Company are included through the latest 
interim period in which the Company owned a greater than 50% direct or indirect voting interest for the entire interim period or otherwise 
exercised control over the Partner Company. Upon dilution of control below 50%, the accounting method is adjusted to the equity or cost 
method of accounting, as appropriate, for subsequent periods.  

      Equity Method. Partner Companies that are not consolidated, but over which the Company exercises significant influence, are accounted for 
under the equity method of accounting. Whether or not the Company exercises significant influence with respect to a Partner Company depends 
on an evaluation of several factors including, among others, representation on the Partner Company’s Board of Directors and ownership level, 
which is generally a 20% to 50% interest in the voting securities of the Partner Company, including voting rights associated with the Company’s 
holdings in common, preferred and other convertible instruments in the Partner Company. Under the equity method of accounting, a Partner 
Company’s accounts are not reflected within the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets and Statements of Operations; however, the 
Company’s share of the earnings or losses of the Partner Company is reflected in the caption “Equity loss” in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations. The carrying value of equity method Partner Companies is reflected in “Ownership interests in Partner Companies” in the 
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

      When the Company’s investment in an equity method Partner Company is reduced to zero, no further losses are recorded in the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements unless the Company guaranteed obligations of the Partner Company or has committed additional funding. 
When the Partner Company subsequently reports income, the Company will not record its share of such income until it equals the amount of its 
share of losses not previously recognized.  
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December 31, 

2002 2001 

Captive Capital    Captive Capital 
CommerceQuest    CommerceQuest 
eCredit    eCredit 
FreeBorders    Emptoris 
ICG Commerce    ICG Commerce 
OneCoast    OneCoast 
    OnMedica 

Principles of Accounting for Ownership Interests in Partner Companies 



   

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

1. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

      Cost Method. Partner Companies not accounted for under the consolidation or the equity method of accounting are accounted for under the 
cost method of accounting. Under this method, the Company’s share of the earnings or losses of such companies is not included in the Balance 
Sheet or Consolidated Statements of Operations. However, cost method Partner Company impairment charges are recognized in the 
Consolidated Statement of Operations. If circumstances suggest that the value of the Partner Company has subsequently recovered, such 
recovery is not recorded.  

      When a cost method Partner Company qualifies for use of the equity method, the Company’s investment is adjusted retroactively for its 
share of the past results of its operations. Therefore, prior losses could significantly decrease the Company’s basis at that time. See discussion in 
“Prior-period adjustments” below.  

      The Company records its ownership interest in debt securities of Partner Companies accounted for under the cost method at cost because it 
has the ability and intent to hold these securities until maturity. The Company records its ownership interest in equity securities of Partner 
Companies accounted for under the cost method at cost, unless these securities have readily determinable fair values based on quoted market 
prices, in which case these interests are valued at fair value and classified as available-for-sale securities or some other classification in 
accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”. In addition to the Company’s investments 
in voting and non-voting equity and debt securities, it also periodically makes advances to its Partner Companies in the form of promissory notes 
which are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 114, “Accounting By Creditors for Impairment of a Loan”.  
   

      The Company continually evaluates the carrying value of its ownership interests in each of its Partner Companies for possible impairment 
based on achievement of business plan objectives and milestones, the value of each ownership interest in the Partner Company relative to 
carrying value, the financial condition and prospects of the Partner Company, and other relevant factors. The business plan objectives and 
milestones the Company considers include, among others, those related to financial performance such as achievement of planned financial 
results or completion of capital raising activities, and those that are not primarily financial in nature such as obtaining key business partnerships 
or the hiring of key employees.  

      Impairment Charges are determined by comparing the estimated fair value of a Partner Company with its carrying value. Fair value is 
determined by estimating the cash flows related to the asset, including estimated proceeds on disposition. Effective January 1, 2002, the 
Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and other Intangible Assets”. Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, the Company was 
required to reassess the useful lives and residual values of all intangible assets acquired in purchase business combinations. In addition, to the 
extent an intangible asset is identified as having an indefinite useful life, the Company was required to test the intangible asset for impairment in 
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142 within the first interim period. No impairment loss was recognized upon adoption.  

      The Company operates in an industry that is rapidly evolving and extremely competitive. Many internet-based businesses, including some 
with business models similar to the Company’s Partner Companies, have experienced difficulty in raising additional capital necessary to fund 
operating losses and continued investments that their management teams believe are necessary to sustain operations. Valuations of public 
companies operating in the internet e-commerce sector declined significantly during 2001 and 2002. In 1999, 2000 and 2001, the Company 
announced several significant acquisitions that were financed principally with shares of the Company’s stock and, based on the price of the 
Company’s stock at that time, were valued in excess of $1 billion. Based on the Company’s periodic review of its Partner Company holdings, 
impairment charges of $43.5 million and $1.3 billion were recorded in 2002 and 2001, respectively. See Note 2.  
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

1. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  
   

      During 2002 and 2001, the Company’s revenues were primarily attributable to ICG Commerce, OneCoast, CommerceQuest and eCredit. 
During 2000, the Company’s revenues were primarily attributable to PaperExchange.com and RightWorks.  

      ICG Commerce generates revenue from enabled sourcing, full service arrangements and managed eProcurement services. Enabled sourcing 
revenue includes revenue from procurement consulting services, auction services and sourcing programs and is generally recognized as the 
services are rendered. In full service arrangements, ICG Commerce assumes all or a part of the procurement function for a customer. Typically 
in these engagements ICG Commerce is paid a fee based on a percentage of the amount spent by our customer’s purchasing department in the 
specified areas. Managed eProcurement revenue includes transaction fees, which are typically based on a percentage of the cost of the items 
purchased through the exchange. Because ICG Commerce does not carry inventory risk, transaction revenue is recorded under the net method. 
Under this method, the net transaction fees and not the gross amounts charged to customers are recorded as revenues.  

      CommerceQuest and eCredit derive revenue from software license fees and services. Fees from licenses are recognized as revenue upon 
contract execution, provided all shipment obligations have been met, fees are fixed or determinable, collection is probable, and vendor-specific 
objective evidence exists for the undelivered elements of the arrangement. Maintenance revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the 
maintenance contract. Consulting and training revenue is recognized when the services are performed. Implementation fees, which do not relate 
to software license fees including start-up fees, are deferred and generally recognized as revenue on a percentage of completion basis.  

      OneCoast is a manufacturer representative agency which solicits sales of gift and home accessories. OneCoast receives commissions from 
manufacturers based on sale to retail distribution channels. Commission revenue is recorded upon shipment of goods from the manufacturer to 
the retailer.  

      PaperExchange.com operated an e-business marketplace for the pulp and paper industry. PaperExchange.com acted as a principal or as an 
agent under agreements with certain suppliers. The majority of PaperExchange.com’s revenue was the result of arrangements where 
PaperExchange.com acted as a principal, took ownership and bore the risk of loss. An insignificant amount of revenues had been generated from 
amounts for which PaperExchange.com acted as an agent. Revenues were recognized when products were shipped.  

      RightWorks derived revenue from software license fees and services. Fees from licenses were recognized as revenue upon contract 
execution, provided all shipment obligations had been met, fees were fixed or determinable, collection was probable, and vendor-specific 
objective evidence existed to allocate the total fee among all elements of the arrangement. Maintenance revenue was recognized ratably over the 
term of the maintenance contract. Consulting and training revenue was recognized when the services were performed.  
   

      The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.  

      These estimates include evaluation of the Company’s investments in its Partner Companies, investments in marketable securities, asset 
impairment, revenue recognition, income taxes and commitments and contingencies. Certain amounts recorded to reflect the Company’s share of 
losses of Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method are based on unaudited results of operations of those Partner  
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  
   
1. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

Companies and may require adjustments in the future when audits of these entities are made final. It is reasonably possible that the Company’s 
accounting estimates with respect to the useful life and ultimate recoverability of our carrying basis including goodwill in Partner Companies 
could change in the near term and that the effect of such changes on the financial statements could be material. At year end, the Company 
believes the recorded amount of carrying basis including goodwill is not impaired, although there can be no assurance that the Company’s future 
results will confirm this assessment, that a significant write-down or write-off of Partner Company carrying basis including goodwill will not be 
required in the future, or that a significant loss will not be recorded in the future upon the sale of a Partner Company.  
   

      The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity of 90 days or less at the time of purchase to be cash 
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2002 and 2001 are invested principally in money market accounts, certificates of deposit 
and commercial paper.  
   

      The Company considers cash legally restricted held as a compensating balances for letter of credit arrangements as restricted cash. At 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, restricted cash was held in money market accounts.  
   

      Available-for-sale securities are reported at fair value, based on quoted market prices, with the net unrealized gain or loss reported as a 
component of “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” in stockholders’ equity.  
   

      Short-term investments are debt securities maturing in less than one year and are carried at amortized cost, which approximates fair value.  
   

      Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses are carried at cost which approximates fair value due 
to the short-term maturity of these instruments. The Company’s interests in public Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method of 
accounting had a fair value of $12.6 million and $154.8 million as of December 31, 2002 and December 31, 2001, respectively, compared to a 
carrying value of $11.2 million and $41.0 million, respectively. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value. Long-term debt is carried at 
cost, which approximates current market rates. The Company’s convertible subordinated notes had a fair value of $116.1 million and 
$187.4 million as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, versus a carrying value of $283.1 million and $446.1 million. Fair value of the 
Company’s convertible subordinated notes is determined by obtaining thinly traded market quotes from public sources.  
   

      The Company selectively uses derivative financial instruments, including cashless collar agreements (“Collars”) and forward contracts to 
manage its exposure to fluctuations in certain of its investments in publicly held equity securities. The Company has recorded these investments 
at their estimated fair market value, with unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value recorded as a component of 
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)” in stockholders’ equity. Unrealized gains and losses as a  
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  
   
1. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

result of these instruments are recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Operations when the underlying hedged item is extinguished or 
otherwise terminated. The Company does not hold or issue any derivative financial instruments for trading purposes and is not a party to 
leveraged instruments.  

      The credit risks associated with the Company’s derivative financial instruments are controlled through the evaluation and monitoring of the 
creditworthiness of the counter parties. Although the Company may be exposed to losses in the event of nonperformance by the counter parties, 
the Company does not expect such losses, if any, to be significant.  

      Goodwill and Other Intangibles  

      Goodwill and other intangibles, net relate to the Company’s acquisitions of its consolidated subsidiaries. During the years ended 2001 and 
2000, goodwill was amortized over a period of three years and assessed for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 121. Effective January 1, 
2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” and, as a result, the Company no longer amortizes goodwill 
and assesses the impairment of goodwill in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142. Goodwill associated with the Company’s equity 
method investments is no longer amortized and continues to be assessed for impairment under the provisions of Accounting Principles Board 
(APB) No. 18 “Equity Method Investments”.  

      Effective January 1, 2002, intangibles meeting the criteria in SFAS No. 142 for amortizable intangibles continue to be amortized over their 
remaining useful life. Amortization of intangibles not meeting the criteria in SFAS No. 142 for amortizable intangibles ceased as of January 1, 
2002 and the intangibles are tested for impairment under the provisions of SFAS No. 142.  

      Deferred Revenue  

      Deferred revenue consists primarily of payments received in advance of revenue being earned under purchasing sourcing arrangements, 
software licensing, software installation, maintenance agreements and various start up fees.  

      Research and Development  

      Research and development costs are charged to expense as incurred.  

      Income Taxes  

      Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method whereby deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 
estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities 
and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is 
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.  

      Net Loss Per Share  

      Basic net loss per share (EPS) is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during each period. Diluted 
EPS includes common stock equivalents, unless anti-dilutive, that would arise from the exercise of stock options and conversion of other 
convertible securities and is adjusted, if applicable, for the effect on net income (loss) of such transactions. If a consolidated or equity method 
Partner Company has dilutive options or securities outstanding, diluted net income per share is computed by  
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1. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

deducting from income (loss) from continuing operations the income attributable to the potential exercise of the dilutive options or 
securities of the Partner Company.  

      As the Company has incurred losses for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the effect of diluted securities are not included 
as they would be anti-dilutive.  

      Issuances of Stock By Partner Companies  

      At the time a Partner Company accounted for under the consolidation or equity method of accounting issues its common stock at a price 
different from the Partner Company’s book value per share, the Company’s share of the Partner Company’s net equity changes and the Company 
adjusts the basis in the Partner Company accordingly. If at that time, the Partner Company is not a newly-formed, non-operating entity, nor a 
research and development, start-up or development stage company, nor is there question as to the Company’s ability to continue in existence, the 
Company records the change in its share of the Partner Company’s net equity as a gain or loss in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. See 
Note 18.  

      Foreign Currency Translation  

      The functional currency for the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is the local currency of the country in which it operates. Assets and liabilities 
are translated using the exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Revenue, expenses, gains and losses are translated at the average exchange rate 
in the month those elements are recognized. Translation adjustments, which have not been material to date, are included in Other comprehensive 
income (loss) in our Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss.  

      Stock Based Compensation  

      As permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation,” the Company measures compensation cost in accordance with 
APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related interpretations. Accordingly, no compensation expense is 
recorded for stock options issued to employees that are granted at fair market value until they are exercised. Stock options issued to non-
employees are recorded at fair value at the date of grant. Fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes model and the expense is amortized 
over the vesting period.  

      In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an 
amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” which provides optional transition guidance for those companies electing to voluntarily adopt the 
accounting provisions of SFAS No. 123. In addition, the statement mandates certain new disclosures that are incremental to those required by 
SFAS No. 123. The Company will continue to account for stock-based compensation in accordance with APB No. 25. As such, the Company 
does not expect this standard to have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Company has adopted 
the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS No. 148 at December 31, 2002.  

      Had compensation cost been recognized pursuant to SFAS No. 148, the Company’s net loss would have been as follows (unaudited):  
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1. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

      The per share weighted-average fair value of options issued by the Company during 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $0.41, $1.20 and $33.89, 
respectively.  

      The following assumptions were used to determine the fair value of stock options granted to employees by the Company through 
December 31, 2002:  

      The Company also includes its share of its Partner Companies SFAS No. 148 pro forma expense in the Company’s SFAS No. 148 pro forma 
expense. The methods used by the Partner Companies included the minimum value method for private Partner Companies and the Black-Scholes 
method for public Partner Companies.  

      Comprehensive Income (Loss)  

      The Company reports and displays comprehensive income (loss) and its components in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive 
Income (Loss). Comprehensive income (loss) is the change in equity of a business enterprise during a period from non-owner sources. Excluding 
net income (loss), the Company’s sources of comprehensive income (loss) are from net unrealized appreciation on its available-for-sale 
securities and foreign currency translation adjustments; such translation adjustments have been negligible to date. Reclassification adjustments 
result from the recognition in net income of gains or losses that were included in comprehensive income (loss) in prior periods.  

      Prior-period adjustments  

      In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, the Company has retroactively adjusted the prior periods to reflect the impact 
of a change in accounting for the Company’s ownership in Jamcracker from the cost method of accounting to the equity method of accounting. 
See Note 2.  

      Reclassifications  

      Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. The impact of these changes is not material 
and did not affect net income (loss).  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Net loss, as reported    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 )   $ (666,548 ) 
Add stock-based employee compensation expense included in 

reported net loss, net of tax      
13,128 

      
29,103 

      
25,747 

  

Deduct total stock-based employee compensation expense 
determined under fair-value-based method for all rewards, net 
of tax      (37,282 )     (49,694 )     (210,787 ) 

                    
Pro forma net loss    $ (126,373 )   $ (2,359,321 )   $ (851,588 ) 
                    
Net loss per share, as reported    $ (0.38 )   $ (8.40 )   $ (2.42 ) 
Pro forma net loss per share    $ (0.47 )   $ (8.48 )   $ (3.10 ) 

      
Volatility    96-156.5% 
Average expected option life    5 years 
Risk-free interest rate    2.87-6.74% 
Dividend yield    0.0% 
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1. Significant Accounting Policies — (Continued)  

      Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

      In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations.” SFAS No. 143, which addresses accounting 
and reporting for obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs is effective for 
fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002. The Company does not expect the adoption of this new standard to have a material impact on its 
results of operations or financial position.  

      In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” which supersedes 
SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be Disposed Of,” and certain portions of 
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a 
Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS No. 144 provides updated guidance 
concerning the recognition and measurement of an impairment loss for certain types of long-lived assets, and requires that long-lived assets to be 
disposed of by sale be measured at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell, and reported separately in the assets and 
liabilities sections of the consolidated balance sheet. SFAS No. 144 also expands the reporting of discontinued operations to include components 
of an entity that have been or will be disposed of. The scope of SFAS No. 144 excludes long-lived assets, goodwill and other intangibles that are 
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 142. The adoption of SFAS No. 144, as of January 1, 2002, impacted the Company’s consolidated 
results of operations and statements of cash flows with the sale of assets related to two of the Company’s partner companies, Delphion and 
Logistics. See Note 9.  

      In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, 
and Technical Corrections,” which is effective for fiscal years beginning after May 15, 2002. This statement rescinds the indicated statements 
and amends other existing pronouncements to make various technical corrections, clarify meanings, or describe their applicability under changed 
conditions. SFAS No. 145 encourages early adoption of the provision of this standard that rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses 
from Extinguishments of Debt.” Accordingly, the Company elected to early adopt this provision during the second quarter of fiscal 2002. The 
Company reclassified extraordinary gains related to the early retirement of debt to Other Income (Expense) in the Consolidated Statements of 
Operations during the year ended December 31, 2001. The adoption of the remaining provisions of this new standard did not have a material 
impact on the Company’s results of operations or financial position.  

      In March 2002, the EITF reached consensus on Issue 50, “Accounting for the conversion of a recourse note to a nonrecourse note” of EITF 
No. 00-23, “Issues Related to the Accounting for Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No. 25 and FASB Interpretation No. 44.” This 
consensus establishes that the conversion of a substantive recourse note to a nonrecourse note should be accounted for as the repurchase of the 
shares previously exercised where the repurchase amount is equal to the sum of (a) the then-current principal balance of the recourse note, 
(b) accrued interest, if any and (c) the intrinsic value of the new option. In most instances, compensation expense is recorded where the fair 
market value of the repurchased shares is less than the repurchase amount at the date of conversion. This consensus was applied prospectively to 
conversions of recourse notes to nonrecourse notes occurring after March 21, 2002 and resulted in compensation expense of approximately 
$3.7 million for 2002.  

      In July 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities,” which is effective for exit 
or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002. This statement nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3, “Liability 
Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructur-  
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ing).” This statement requires that liabilities associated with exit or disposal activities initiated after adoption be recognized and 
measured at fair value when incurred as opposed to at the date an entity commits to the exit or disposal plans. The Company expects the 
adoption of this new standard to have an impact on the timing of any future restructuring charges.  

      In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including 
Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” which expands previously issued accounting guidance and disclosure requirements for certain 
guarantees. The interpretation requires an entity to recognize an initial liability for the fair value of an obligation assumed by issuing a guarantee. 
The provision for initial recognition and measurement of the liability will be applied on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after 
December 31, 2002. The Company does not expect this interpretation to have a material impact on its consolidated financial position or results 
of operations.  

      In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51,” 
which requires all variable interest entities (VIEs) to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity that holds 
the majority of the beneficial interests in the VIE. In addition, the interpretation expands disclosure requirements for both variable interest 
entities that are consolidated as well as VIEs from which the entity is the holder of a significant amount of the beneficial interests, but not the 
majority. The disclosure requirements of this interpretation are effective for all financial statements issued after January 31, 2003. The 
consolidation requirements of this interpretation are effective for all periods beginning after June 15, 2003. It is possible that under the 
consolidation provisions we may be required to consolidate previously unconsolidated partner companies. The Company’s management is still 
assessing the impact of this interpretation.  

      In December 2002, the FASB finalized EITF Issue No. 00-21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” This 
issue addresses how to account for arrangements that may involve the delivery or performance of multiple products, services, and/or rights to use 
assets. The final consensus of this issue is applicable to agreements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2003. Additionally, 
companies will be permitted to apply the guidance in this issue to all existing arrangements as the cumulative effect of a change in accounting 
principle in accordance with APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes.” The Company does not believe that adoption of this issue will have a 
material impact on its consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or liquidity.  

2. Acquisitions and impairments/dispositions of ownership interests in Partner Companies  

      The following summarizes the Company’s goodwill and other intangibles, ownership interests in Partner Companies and impairments by 
method of accounting.  
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December 31, 

2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Goodwill    $ 61,938     $ 55,806   
Other intangibles      16,728       29,090   
              
    $ 78,666     $ 84,896   
              
Ownership interest in Partner Companies — Equity Method    $ 58,822     $ 152,240   
Ownership interests in Partner Companies — Cost Method      12,910       27,147   
              
    $ 71,732     $ 179,387   
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2. Acquisitions and impairments/dispositions of ownership interests in Partner Companies — (Continued)  

      Consolidated Companies — Acquisitions  

      During 2002 and 2001, the Company completed acquisitions of new or follow-on majority ownership positions in Partner Companies, which 
were accounted for under the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price, including the carrying value of the ownership interest for 
Partner Companies previously accounted for under the equity method, have been allocated to the assets and the liabilities based upon their fair 
values at the date of the acquisition. The results of operations of each acquisition are included in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of 
Operations from the date of each acquisition. The assets and liabilities for these acquisitions were allocated as follows:  

      Presented below is unaudited selected pro forma financial information for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 as if the acquired 
Partner Companies accounted for under the consolidation method were included in the financial statements as consolidated subsidiaries for the 
entire periods presented. The unaudited selected financial information may not be indicative of the actual results that would have occurred had 
the acquisitions been consummated at the beginning of the period presented and is not intended to be a projection of future results.  

      Consolidated Companies — Impairments  

      In June 2000, the Company acquired a controlling interest in RightWorks for 5,892,048 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at 
$754 million ($128 per share) and $22 million in cash. On March 8,  
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Impairments 

Statements of Year Ended December 31, 
Operations 

Presentation 2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Consolidation Method    Impairment related and other   $ —    $ 770,535     $ 134,925   
Equity Method    Equity loss     29,498       440,484       157,768   
Cost Method    Other income (loss), net     13,992       64,922       55,904   
                        
        $ 43,490     $ 1,275,941     $ 348,597   
                        

                          
Goodwill and Other Working Capital Other Assets 

Intangible Assets (Deficit) (Liabilities), Net 

(in thousands) 
2002 Acquisitions                          
FreeBorders    $ 1,375     $ 625     $ —  
CommerceQuest    $ 6,500     $ 1,500     $ —  
ICG Commerce    $ 7,500     $ 18,500     $ —  
2001 Acquisitions                          
CommerceQuest    $ 44,047     $ 1,014     $ (8,998 ) 
OneCoast    $ 20,354     $ (3,143 )   $ (8,704 ) 
eCredit    $ 11,097     $ (1,377 )   $ 7,183   

                  
Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 

(as adjusted) 
(in thousands) 

Revenue    $ 114,293     $ 120,733   
Net loss    $ (107,634 )   $ (2,371,546 ) 
Basic and Diluted Net Loss per share    $ (0.40 )   $ (8.52 ) 
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2001, the Company announced the merger of RightWorks with i2 Technologies. Based on the closing price of i2 Technologies stock at the date 
of the announcement ($21.43 per share), the Company recorded a non-cash, pre-tax loss of approximately $672.3 million. At March 8, 2001, all 
of RightWorks’ long-term net assets were classified as assets held for sale. As of March 31, 2001, i2 Technologies stock had declined 
significantly resulting in revaluation of the assets held for sale and an additional loss of $26.9 million or a total loss on sale of $699.2 million. On 
August 23, 2001, the merger closed and the Company received approximately 4.5 million shares of i2 Technologies common stock.  

      In May 2000, the Company acquired a controlling interest in Harbour Ring International Holdings Limited, a listed company on the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange which was renamed ICG Asia, for $116.5 million in cash. In June 2001, the Company agreed to sell its stake in ICG Asia 
to Asian conglomerate Hutchison Whampoa Limited and Reading Investments Limited for $98.6 million, which included proceeds from the sale 
of the Company’s subsidiary in Japan to ICG Asia, and recorded a net loss on sale of $15.2 million.  

      In September 2000, after the Company acquired a controlling interest in PaperExchange.com for 4,864,221 shares of the Company’s 
common stock valued at $165.8 million, the plans to develop relationships with an existing paper consortium and exploit relationships with 
certain strategic partners deteriorated and the Chief Executive Officer of PaperExchange.com resigned. The impairment charge of $128.2 million 
was based on the estimated fair value of PaperExchange.com, which was determined by estimating the discounted future cash flows of the 
Company including the estimated proceeds upon disposition. PaperExchange.com ceased operations and filed for Chapter 7 bankruptcy in 2001.  

      Also included in “Impairment related and other” are other impairment charges of $56.1 million and $6.7 million, for the years ended 
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively related to five other consolidated Partner Companies for which the Company had determined that it 
will not be able to recover its full investment. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2002, our consolidated Partner Companies 
recorded impairment charges, principally related to other intangibles, of approximately $2.4 million.  

      Equity Method Companies — Acquisitions  

      The Company’s original cost basis of Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method was $822.5 million and $859.7 million at 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The excess of the Company’s carrying value in the ownership interests in these Partner Companies 
over its share of their net equity resulted in amortization of $141.3 million and $299.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, 
respectively.  

      The Company’s ownership in a Core partner company increased from 8% at December 31, 2001 to 21% at March 31, 2002. In accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, the Company has retroactively adjusted the prior periods to reflect the impact of a change in 
accounting for the Company’s ownership in this company from the cost method of accounting to the equity method of accounting. Equity loss 
was increased by $9.6 million and $6.6 million to reflect the Company’s loss for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively, as 
if this partner company was accounted for as an equity method company.  

      The following unaudited summarized financial information for Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting at 
December 31, 2002 and 2001 has been compiled from the financial statements of the respective Partner Companies.  
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      Balance Sheets  

      Results of Operations  

      Equity Method Companies — Impairments  

      In June 2000, the Company acquired a 39% interest in eCredit for 4,655,558 shares of the Company’s common stock valued at 
$424.7 million or approximately $91 per share. The Company increased its interest in eCredit to approximately 42% for an additional 
$25.6 million in cash and notes through the remainder of 2000. In accordance with its accounting policy, the Company determined that it was 
necessary to record an impairment charge of $367.5 million as of March 31, 2001. The impairment charge was based on the estimated current 
fair value of eCredit, which was determined by estimating the Company’s future discounted cash flows related to eCredit including the estimated 
proceeds upon disposition.  

      In December 1999, the Company acquired an ownership interest in MetalSite, Inc. (“MetalSite”) for the company’s common stock valued at 
$150 million (approximately $176 per share) and cash of $30 million. During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company determined that there was 
an other than temporary decline in the fair value of MetalSite and recorded an impairment charge of $112.7 million, in accordance with its 
accounting policy.  

      In addition to the equity impairments noted above, the Company also recorded impairment charges during the years ended December 31, 
2002, 2001 and 2000 of $29.5 million, $73.0 million and $45.1 million, respectively, related to thirteen other equity method Partner Companies 
of which eleven have been subsequently disposed of or ceased operations. The impairment charges of these equity method companies have been 
included in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations as “Equity loss”.  

      Cost Method Companies — Impairments  

      The Company’s original cost basis of Partner Companies accounted for by the cost method was $39.3 million and $74.8 million at 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.  
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As of December 31, 

2002 2001 

(as adjusted) 
(in thousands) 

Current assets    $ 203,954     $ 471,160   
Non-current assets      152,912       463,945   
              
  Total assets    $ 356,866     $ 935,105   
              
Current liabilities    $ 136,732     $ 308,551   
Non-current liabilities      76,759       137,582   
Stockholders’  equity      143,375       488,972   
              
  Total liabilities and Stockholders’  equity    $ 356,866     $ 935,105   
              

                          
Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(as adjusted) (as adjusted) 
(in thousands) 

Revenue    $ 391,991     $ 1,778,900     $ 1,150,258   
Net loss    $ (225,137 )   $ (1,564,427 )   $ (1,594,498 ) 
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      The Company recorded $14.0 million, $64.9 million and $55.9 million in impairment charges during the years ended December 31, 2002, 
2001 and 2000, respectively, related to cost method Partner Companies for which it has been determined that the Company will not be able to 
recover its full investment”.  

3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  

      Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS No. 142 no longer permits 
the amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Instead, these assets must be reviewed annually for impairment in accordance 
with this statement. Accordingly, the Company ceased amortization of all goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as of January 1, 2002. 
During the first quarter of 2002, the Company completed the transitional impairment test of other intangible assets, which indicated that the 
Company’s other intangible assets were not impaired. During the second quarter of 2002, the Company completed the transitional impairment 
test of goodwill, which indicated that the Company’s goodwill was not impaired. As of December 31, 2002, goodwill was allocated to the 
Company’s segments as follows: Core — $60.8 million; Emerging —$1.1 million. Amortizable intangible assets as of December 31, 2002 and 
2001 of $16.0 million and $28.3 million, respectively, are included in other assets in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. 
Unamortizable intangible assets of $0.8 million and $0.8 million, as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, are included in other assets in 
the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. Other intangible assets that meet the new criteria continue to be amortized over their useful lives as 
shown in the table below.  

      Amortization expense for intangible assets that meet the new criteria during years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 was $12.0 million and 
$6.1 million, respectively. Additionally, there was amortization expense related to pre SFAS No. 142 goodwill and intangibles in the years ended 
December 31, 2001 and 2000 of $119.8 million and $239.8 million, respectively.  

      Estimated amortization expense for the five succeeding fiscal years ended is as follows (in thousands):  

57  

                                  
As of December 31, 2002 

Useful Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying 
Amortizable Intangible Assets Life Amount Amortization Amount 

(in thousands) 
Customer Base      3-5 years     $ 15,540     $ (7,051 )   $ 8,489   
Technology      3-5 years       20,890       (13,397 )     7,493   
                            
            $ 36,430     $ (20,448 )   $ 15,982   
                            
                                  

As of December 31, 2001 

Useful Gross Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying 
Life Amount Amortization Amount 

Customer Base      3-5 years     $ 16,640     $ (2,275 )   $ 14,365   
Technology      3-5 years       20,148     $ (6,173 )     13,975   
                            
            $ 36,788     $ (8,448 )   $ 28,340   
                            

          
December 31, 2003    $ 9,755   
December 31, 2004    $ 4,364   
December 31, 2005    $ 1,737   
December 31, 2006    $ 126   
December 31, 2007 and thereafter    $ —  
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3. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets — (Continued)  

      The following table reconciles the “reported” net loss to the “as adjusted” net loss after adding pre SFAS No. 142 goodwill and intangibles 
amortization back to the net loss and net loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001:  

4. Derivative Financial Instruments  

      In September 2001, the Company entered into a variable share forward contract to hedge 1.8 million shares of its holdings of i2 Technologies 
common stock. At December 31, 2001, approximately 0.5 million shares were held in escrow. These shares were released to the Company in 
2002, are still held and have not been hedged. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company’s holdings of i2 Technologies and related forward 
contract was valued at $10.1 million and $16.1 million, respectively. Based on the terms of the contract, the i2 Technologies forward contract 
and related shares will be worth a minimum of $9.7 million or $5.38 per share and a maximum of $20.2 million or $11.23 per share at maturity 
in September 2003. The forward contract limits the Company’s exposure to and benefits from price fluctuations in the underlying equity 
securities. The Company has designated the forward contract as a cash flow hedge and recorded the forward contract at its estimated fair value, 
with unrealized gains and losses resulting from changes in fair value recorded as a component of “Accumulated other comprehensive loss” and 
changes due to the ineffectiveness of these instruments in “Other income (loss), net”. Unrealized gains and losses as a result of these instruments 
are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations when the underlying hedged item is extinguished or otherwise terminated.  

      The adoption of SFAS No. 133 resulted in recording $7.9 million of decline in fair value of warrants held in Partner Companies to 
“Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle” in the Consolidated Statement of Operations as of January 1, 2001. The fair value of 
warrants held in Partner Companies was $53.7 million on January 1, 2001. Estimated losses on the fair value of all outstanding warrants for 
years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, was approximately $0.9 million and $53.9 million, respectively. The Company acquired warrants 
which had a value of $13.1 million and disposed of warrants which had a value of $6.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2001. The 
Company exercised warrants which had a value of $0.4 million and $4.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, 
respectively. The estimated fair value of warrants held in Partner Companies was approximately $0.8 million and $2.1 million at December 31, 
2002 and 2001, respectively.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 

(as adjusted) 
(in thousands, except for per 

share data) 
Reported net loss    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 ) 
Amortization of goodwill      —      119,740   
Equity loss — goodwill amortization      —      125,735   
              
Adjusted loss    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,093,255 ) 
              
Basic and diluted income (loss) per share:                  
Reported    $ (0.38 )   $ (8.40 ) 
Amortization of goodwill      —      0.43   
Equity loss — goodwill amortization      —      0.45   
              
Adjusted net loss per share    $ (0.38 )   $ (7.52 ) 
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5. Available-for-Sale Securities  

      Available-for-sale securities represent the Company’s holdings in marketable equity securities and related hedge. The cost, unrealized 
holding gains/(losses), and fair value of available-for-sale securities at December 31, 2002 and 2001 were as follows:  

6. Debt  

      In December 1999, the Company issued $566.3 million of convertible subordinated notes. The notes bear interest at an annual rate of 5.5% 
and mature in December 2004. The notes are convertible at the option of the holder, at any time on or before maturity into shares of the 
Company’s common stock at a conversion price of $127.44 per share, which is equal to a conversion rate of 7.8468 shares per $1,000 principal 
of notes. Additionally, the notes may be redeemed by the Company if the Company’s closing stock price exceeds 150% of the conversion price 
then in effect for at least 20 trading days within a period of 30 consecutive trading days. The conversion rate is subject to adjustment.  

      In 2002 and 2001, the Company purchased and extinguished $163.0 million and $120.2 million face value of convertible subordinated notes 
for $48.8 million and $35.5 million in cash, respectively. The purchases resulted in a gain, net of expenses from the extinguishments in the 
amounts of $111 million and of $81 million, respectively, that were included in “Other income (expense), net” in the Company’s Consolidated 
Statement of Operations.  

      The Company recorded interest expense of $20.0 million and $29.7 million relating to these notes during the years ended December 31, 2002 
and 2001, respectively, with interest payments due semi-annually through December 21, 2004. Issuance costs of $18.3 million have been 
recorded in other assets and are being amortized as interest expense over the term of the notes using the effective interest method. In connection 
with the Company’s early extinguishments of debt in 2002 and 2001, approximately $4.9 million of these issuance costs was immediately 
expensed and included in the computation of the gain. As of December 31, 2002, the remaining balance of these issuance costs is approximately 
$3.3 million and is included in other assets in the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

      Loan and Credit Agreements  

      On September 30, 2002, the Company entered into a loan agreement with Comerica Bank to provide for the issuance of letters of credit (the 
“Loan Agreement”). The Loan Agreement provides for issuances of letters of credit up to $20 million subject to a cash-secured borrowing base 
as defined by the Loan Agreement. Issuance fees of 0.50% per annum of the face amount of each letter of credit will be paid to Comerica Bank 
subsequent to issuance. The Loan Agreement also is subject to a 0.25% per annum unused commitment fee  
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Unrealized Holding 

Cost Gains/(Losses) Fair Value 

(in thousands) 
2002                          
i2 Technologies    $ 9,763     $ 377     $ 10,140   
divine      166       (78 )     88   
                    
    $ 9,929     $ 299     $ 10,228   
                    
2001                          
i2 Technologies    $ 15,791     $ 287     $ 16,078   
divine      2,033       (996 )     1,037   
Other equity securities      56       218       274   
                    
    $ 17,880     $ (491 )   $ 17,389   
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6. Debt — (Continued)  

payable to the bank quarterly. As of December 31, 2002, $5.9 million in letters of credit were outstanding under the loan agreement and amounts 
secured under the Loan Agreement is included in “Restricted Cash” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2001, 
$8.6 million in letters of credit from the Company’s previous credit facility were outstanding under the previous agreement and was reported as 
“Restricted Cash” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

      Other Long-Term Debt  

      The Company’s long-term debt at December 31, 2002 of $19.6 million relates to its Consolidated Partner Companies, and primarily consists 
of secured notes due to stockholders and outside lenders of CommerceQuest, FreeBorders, OneCoast and capital lease commitments. 
$3.3 million of this debt is secured by cash collateral, which is included in “Restricted Cash” on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

      Aggregate maturities for long-term debt at December 31, 2002 are $11.7 million in 2003, $7.1 million in 2004 and $0.8 million in 2005.  

7. Fixed Assets  

      Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $9.8 million, $18.3 million and $6.7 million, respectively.  

8. Restructuring  

      During 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company and its consolidated Partner Companies implemented restructuring plans designed to reduce cost 
structures by closing and consolidating offices, disposing of fixed assets and reducing their workforces. In 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company 
and its consolidated partner companies recorded $10.0 million, $56.2 million and $25.9 million, respectively, primarily consisting of additional 
employee severance and office closure costs related to workforce reductions. The restructuring costs  
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As of December 31, 

Interest Rates 2002 2001 

Bank Debt      Prime + 1.75%     $ 3,300     $ 3,250   
Notes payable      4.25% - 40.51%       15,567       23,208   
Capital leases      12.0% - 14.39%       780       1,343   
                      
              19,647       27,801   
Current maturities              (11,728 )     (17,156 ) 
                      
Long term debt            $ 7,919     $ 10,645   
                      

                          
As of December 31, 

Useful Life 2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Computer equipment and software, office equipment and furniture      3 - 10 years     $ 35,947     $ 38,438   
Leasehold improvements      1 - 7 years       6,753       6,116   
                      
              42,700       44,554   
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization              (32,408 )     (23,819 ) 
                      
            $ 10,292     $ 20,735   
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8. Restructuring — (Continued)  

include the estimated costs to close offices including costs to fulfill the Company’s obligations under signed lease contracts and the write-
off of leasehold improvements. Employee severance and related benefits include the estimated costs of cash severance and non-cash 
charges for the acceleration of stock options and forgiveness of interest on employee stock option loans. Cash severance was paid in a 
lump sum or over the shorter of a six-month period or until new employment. These charges are included in “Impairment related and 
other” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  

      Restructuring activity is summarized as follows:  

9. Discontinued Operations  

      In 2002, two Partner Companies of the Company sold substantially all of their assets. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, these Partner 
Companies have been treated as discontinued operations. Accordingly, the operating results of these two discontinued operations have been 
presented separately from continuing operations and include the gains recognized on disposition. The gain on sale of $10.3 million related to 
these two transactions is included in the line item “Loss on discontinued operations” in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Accordingly, 
revenues and operating results for 2002, 2001 and 2000 is presented, net, in one line item “Loss on discontinued operations” in our Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. These two former consolidated subsidiaries, Delphion and Logistics.com, had aggregate revenues of $16.1 million, 
$8.0 million and $0.7 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The Company’s share of the net losses of Delphion and Logistics.com 
totaled $19.3 million, $32.9 million and $7.0 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

      The sale of the assets of Delphion occurred on December 13, 2002 with proceeds distributed to the Company of approximately $10.0 million. 
Additional proceeds of $2.9 million could be distributed to the Company within eighteen months of the sale transaction. This amount is being 
held in escrow as security for any potential future indemnification obligations. The Company will record a “Gain on Discontinued Operations” if 
these additional amounts are received.  

      The sale of the assets of Logistics.com occurred on December 31, 2002 with proceeds distributed to the Company of approximately 
$10.8 million. The Company received an additional $0.5 million in early January  
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Non-cash 

Accrual at Items Accrual at 
December 31, Restructuring Cash Expensed December 31, 

2001 Charges Payments Immediately 2002 

(in thousands) 
Restructuring — 2002                                          
Office closure cost    $ —    $ 3,402     $ (434 )   $ (1,573 )   $ 1,395   
Employee severance and related benefits      —      7,093       (5,867 )     (40 )     1,186   
                                
      —      10,495       (6,301 )     (1,613 )     2,581   
Restructuring — 2001                                          
Office closure cost      11,807       —      (2,684 )     —      9,123   
Employee severance and related benefits      2,650       (486 )     (1,904 )     —      260   
                                
      14,457       (486 )     (4,588 )     —      9,383   
Restructuring — 2000                                          
Lease Termination Costs      203       —      (54 )     —      149   
                                
    $ 14,660     $ 10,009     $ (10,943 )   $ (1,613 )   $ 12,113   
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9. Discontinued Operations — (Continued)  

2003. Additional proceeds of $1.4 million could be distributed to the Company within twelve months of the sale transaction. This amount is 
being held in escrow as security for any potential future indemnification obligations. The Company will record a “Gain on Discontinued 
Operations” if these additional amounts are received.  

10. Segment Information  

      The Company’s reportable segments using the “management approach” under SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure About Segments of a Business 
Enterprise and Related Information,” consist of two operating segments, the Core Operating Segment and the Emerging Operating Segment. 
Each segment includes the results of the Company’s Consolidated Partner Companies and records the Company’s share of earnings and losses of 
Partner Companies accounted for under the equity method of accounting and captures our basis in the assets of all of our partner companies. The 
Company’s and Partner Companies’ operations were principally in the United States of America during all periods presented.  

      The Core operating segment includes those partner companies in which the Company’s management takes a very active role in providing 
strategic direction and management assistance. The Emerging operating segment includes investments in companies that are, in general, 
managed to provide the greatest near term stockholder value.  

      The following summarizes the unaudited selected information related to the Company’s segments. All significant intersegment activity has 
been eliminated. Assets are owned or allocated assets used by each operating segment.  
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For the Year Ended December 31, 2002 

Reconciling Items 

Discontinued 
Operations 

Total and Consolidated 
Core Emerging Segment Dispositions Corporate Other Results 

(in thousands) 
Revenues    $ 107,964     $ 507     $ 108,471     $ —    $ —    $ (14 )   $ 108,457   
Net loss    $ (104,608 )   $ (17,272 )   $ (121,880 )   $ (4,750 )   $ (55,026 )   $ 79,437     $ (102,219 ) 
Assets    $ 221,188     $ 17,451     $ 238,639     $ 5,746     $ 121,861     $ —    $ 366,246   
Capital expenditures    $ (959 )   $ (2 )   $ (961 )   $ —    $ —    $ —    $ (961 ) 
                                                          

For the Year Ended December 31, 2001 

Reconciling Items 

Discontinued 
Operations 

Total and Consolidated 
Core Emerging Segment Dispositions Corporate Other Results 

(in thousands) 
Revenues    $ 91,155     $ 2,936     $ 94,091     $ 22,855     $ —    $ (1,295 )   $ 115,651   
Net loss    $ (525,202 )   $ (102,232 )   $ (627,434 )   $ (394,786 )   $ (108,617 )   $ (1,207,893 )   $ (2,338,730 ) 
Assets    $ 236,589     $ 64,302     $ 300,891     $ 67,158     $ 286,998     $ —    $ 655,047   
Capital expenditures    $ (2,302 )   $ (184 )   $ (2,486 )   $ (2,895 )   $ (348 )   $ —    $ (5,729 ) 
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10. Segment Information — (Continued)  

11. Parent Company Financial Information  

      Parent company financial information is provided to present the financial position and results of operations of the Company as if the Partner 
Companies accounted for under the consolidation method of accounting were accounted for under the equity method of accounting for all 
applicable periods presented. The Company’s share of the consolidated Partner Companies’ losses is included in “Equity loss” in the Parent 
Company Statements of Operations for all periods presented based on the Company’s ownership percentage in each period. The carrying value 
of the consolidated companies as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 is included in “Ownership interests in Partner Companies” in the Parent 
Company Balance Sheets.  

      Parent Company Balance Sheets  

                                                          
For the Year Ended December 31, 2000 (as adjusted) 

Reconciling Items 

Discontinued 
Operations 

Total and Consolidated 
Core Emerging Segment Dispositions Corporate Other Results 

(in thousands) 
Revenues    $ 7,809     $ 2,979     $ 10,788     $ 33,770     $ —    $ (2,320 )   $ 42,238   
Net loss    $ (472,191 )   $ (91,056 )   $ (563,247 )   $ (705,398 )   $ (135,860 )   $ 737,957     $ (666,548 ) 
Assets    $ 1,010,527     $ 197,593     $ 1,208,120     $ 1,698,553     $ 423,910     $ —    $ 3,330,583   
Capital expenditures    $ (16,951 )   $ (2,543 )   $ (19,494 )   $ (19,349 )   $ (11,463 )   $ —    $ (50,306 ) 

*  Other reconciling items to loss are as follows: 
                          

2002 2001 2000 

Impairment (Note 2)    $ (43,490 )   $ (1,275,941 )   $ (348,597 ) 
Taxes      (179 )     12,584       319,449   
Minority interest      15,438       108,223       84,245   
Change in accounting principle      —      (7,886 )     —  
Other income (Note 18)      107,668       (44,873 )     682,860   
                    
    $ 79,437     $ (1,207,893 )   $ 737,957   
                    

                      
As of December 31, 

2002 2001 

(as adjusted) 
(in thousands) 

Assets                  
  Current assets    $ 100,968     $ 238,402   
  Ownership interests in Partner Companies      140,621       236,832   
  Available for sale securities and other      18,408       37,916   
              
    Total assets    $ 259,997     $ 513,150   
              
Liabilities and stockholders’  equity                  
  Current liabilities    $ 28,529     $ 32,352   
  Convertible subordinated notes      283,114       446,061   
  Stockholders’  equity (deficit)      (51,646 )     34,737   
              
    Total liabilities and stockholders’  equity    $ 259,997     $ 513,150   
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      Parent Company Statements of Operations  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(as adjusted) (as adjusted) 
(in thousands) 

Revenue    $ —    $ —    $ —  
  Operating Expenses                          
  General and administrative      34,680       51,964       85,832   
  Impairment related and other      1,499       32,862       25,919   
  Research and development      —      —      22,548   
                    
Total operating expenses      36,179       84,826       134,299   
                    
      (36,179 )     (84,826 )     (134,299 ) 
    Other income (expense), net      103,993       (107,703 )     626,956   
    Interest expense, net      (18,847 )     (23,791 )     (1,561 ) 
                    
Income (loss) before income taxes and equity loss      48,967       (216,320 )     491,096   
    Income taxes      —      12,174       318,317   
    Equity loss      (151,186 )     (2,126,698 )     (1,475,961 ) 
                    
Loss before cumulative effect of change in 

accounting principle      (102,219 )     (2,330,844 )     (666,548 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting 

principle      
—

      
(7,886 ) 

    
—

  

                    
Net loss    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 )   $ (666,548 ) 
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(as adjusted) (as adjusted) 
(in thousands) 

Operating Activities                          
Net loss    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 )   $ (666,548 ) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities                          
  Depreciation and amortization      1,741       1,872       2,442   
  Purchased in process research and development      —      —      11,470   
  Impairment related and other      1,499       9,014       25,919   
  Stock-based compensation      9,525       11,764       7,104   
  Equity loss      151,186       2,126,698       1,475,961   
  Other income (loss)      (103,993 )     107,703       (626,956 ) 
  Deferred taxes      —      (12,174 )     (318,317 ) 
  Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      —      7,886       —  
Change in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:                          
  Restricted cash      549       (9,729 )     —  
  Accounts receivable, net      58       1,373       (1,561 ) 
  Prepaid expenses and other assets      8,968       4,843       (10,534 ) 
  Accounts payable      40       (5,976 )     102   
  Accrued expenses      (9,025 )     4,089       10,653   
  Deferred revenue      —      —      100   
  Other liabilities      —      —      180   
                    
    Net cash used in operating activities      (41,671 )     (91,367 )     (89,985 ) 
                    
Investing Activities                          
  Capital expenditures      —      (658 )     (11,463 ) 
  Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets      40       310       —  
  Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale securities      87       182,500       179,606   
  Proceeds from sales of ownership interests in Partner Companies      42,219       168,270       35,310   
  Acquisitions of ownership interests in Partner Companies, net      (88,781 )     (162,265 )     (1,300,812 ) 
  Purchase of short-term investments      (1,996 )     —      (10,057 ) 
  Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments      4,948       95       —  
                    
    Net cash (used in) provided by in investing activities      (43,283 )     188,252       (1,107,416 ) 
                    
Financing activities                          
  Issuance of common stock, net      —      846       7,206   
  Repurchase of convertible subordinated notes      (48,752 )     (35,456 )     —  
  Repayment of loans from employees      —      3,342       13,588   
  Other      —      11       —  
                    
    Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities      (48,752 )     (31,257 )     20,794   
                    
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents      (133,706 )     65,628       (1,176,607 ) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning at year      215,581       149,953       1,326,560   
                    
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year    $ 81,875     $ 215,581     $ 149,953   
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12. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)  

      During 2000, the Company increased its authorized capital stock to 2,000,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share. The 
holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share and are entitled to dividends as declared.  

      Dividends may be restricted by the inability to liquidate ownership interests in Partner Companies to fund cash dividends and may be subject 
to the preferential rights of the holders of the Company’s preferred stock, if any. No cash dividends have been declared to date and may not be 
declared for the foreseeable future.  

      The Company may establish one or more classes or series of preferred stock. The holders of the preferred stock may be entitled to 
preferences over common stockholders with respect to dividends, liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, as established by the 
Company’s Board of Directors. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock were authorized; no shares have been 
issued.  

   Stockholder Rights Plan  

      During 2000, the Company enacted a stockholder rights plan. Under the stockholder rights plan, preferred stock purchase rights were 
distributed as a dividend at the rate of one right for each share of Common Stock outstanding as of the close of business on December 6, 2000. 
Each right entitles the holder to purchase from the Company one ten-thousandth of a share of Series A Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the 
Company at an exercise price of $100 per right. The rights attached to the Company’s Common Stock are not currently exercisable. The rights 
become exercisable and will separate from the Common Stock (1) ten calendar days after a person or group acquires, or announces the intent to 
acquire, beneficial ownership of 15% or more of the Company’s Common Stock, or (2) ten business days (or a later date following such 
announcement if determined by the Board of Directors of the Company in accordance with the plan) after the announcement of a tender offer or 
an exchange offer to acquire 15% or more of the Company’s outstanding Common Stock.  

      The rights are redeemable for $0.0001 per right at the option of the Company’s Board of Directors at any time prior to the close of business 
on the tenth business day after the announcement of a stock acquisition event described above. If not redeemed, the rights will expire on 
November 22, 2010. Prior to the date upon which the rights would become exercisable under the plan, the Company’s outstanding stock 
certificates will represent both the shares of Common Stock and the rights will trade only with the shares of common stock.  

      Generally, if the rights become exercisable, then each stockholder, other than the acquirer, is entitled to purchase, for the purchase price, that 
number of shares of Common Stock that, at the time of the transaction, will have a market value of three times the exercise price of the rights. In 
addition, if, after the rights become exercisable, the Company is acquired in a merger or other business combination, or 50% or more of its assets 
or earning power are sold, each right will entitle the holder to purchase, at the exercise price of the rights, that number of shares of common 
stock of the acquiring company that, at the time of the transaction, will have a market value of three times the exercise price of the rights.  

   Common Stock Issued for Acquisitions  

      During 2001 and 2000, the Company issued 2,664,904 and 22,584,094 shares of common stock for acquisitions of Partner Companies. These 
transactions resulted in recording increases to additional paid-in capital of $2.1 million and $1.6 billion for 2001 and 2000, respectively. See 
Note 2.  
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13. Stock Option Plans  

      Incentive or non-qualified stock options may be granted to Company employees, directors and consultants under the Membership Profit 
Interest Plan (“MPI Plan”), the 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (“1999 Plan”) or the LGO Corporation 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (f/k/a 
Logistics.com 2001 Equity Compensation Plan) (“LGO Plan”, together with the MPI Plan and the 1999 Plan, the “Plans”). Generally, the grants 
vest over a two to five year period and expire eight to ten years after the date of grant. At December 31, 2002, the Company reserved 9.2 million 
shares of common stock under the Plans, for possible future issuance. Most Partner Companies also maintain their own stock option plans.  

      The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s stock option plans:  

      At December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000 there were 7,616,707, 4,898,462 and 8,431,637 options exercisable at a weighted average exercise 
price of $7.51, $13.47 and $41.78 per share under the plans, respectively.  

      The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31:  

      In 2002 and 2001, the Company issued a total of 10,385,350 shares of restricted stock to employees which vested in 2002 and vest in 2003. 
Recipients of restricted stock do not pay any cash consideration to the Company for the shares, have the right to vote all shares subject to such 
grant, and receive all dividends with respect to such shares, whether or not the shares have vested. The value of the restricted stock at the date of 
grant of $1.2 million and $16.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, was  
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Weighted Average 

Shares Exercise Price 

Outstanding at December 31, 1999      5,173,000     $ 23.74   
Options granted      30,667,758       39.63   
Options exercised      (340,087 )     3.04   
Options canceled/forfeited      (6,185,636 )     61.34   
                
Outstanding at December 31, 2000      29,315,035       29.47   
Options granted      14,420,500       1.74   
Options exercised      (663,333 )     1.27   
Options canceled/forfeited      (17,348,284 )     41.99   
                
Outstanding at December 31, 2001      25,723,918       9.30   
Options granted      8,104,446       0.42   
Options canceled/forfeited      (11,851,023 )     12.46   
                
Outstanding at December 31, 2002      21,977,341     $ 4.32   
                

                                                  
Weighted Weighted Weighted 
Average Average Average 

Remaining Remaining Remaining 
Number Contractual Number Contractual Number Contractual 

Outstanding Life Outstanding Life Outstanding Life 
Exercise Price at 2002 (in Years) at 2001 (in Years) at 2000 (in Years) 

$ 0.23 – $  5.00      19,118,178       8.7       18,394,137       9.1       7,765,334       9.2   
$ 5.01 – $ 15.00      1,574,257       7.9       3,692,318       8.9       7,867,950       9.6   
$15.01 – $ 50.00      1,069,466       7.5       2,245,589       8.5       6,726,119       9.8   
$50.01 – $110.50      215,440       7.2       1,391,874       8.2       6,955,632       9.9   
                                            
      21,977,341               25,723,918               29,315,035           
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recorded as deferred compensation. Compensation expense totaled $4.5 million and $9.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 
2001, respectively, related to this restricted stock. During 2002, 2,204,155 shares of restricted stock were forfeited upon employee terminations 
with deferred compensation totaling $2.0 million being reversed. There were 3,453,583 shares of restricted stock subject to vesting at 
December 31, 2002.  

      In April through July 1999, the Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors authorized the acceptance of full recourse 
promissory notes totaling $79.8 million from certain employees and a director as consideration for exercising all or a portion of their vested and 
unvested stock options issued under the 1999 Plan (a total of 35,991,500 shares of common stock were issued in connection with these 
exercises). These notes receivable were recorded as a reduction of Stockholders’ Equity. The Company has the right, but not the obligation, to 
repurchase unvested shares under certain circumstances. The exercise of unvested options by the employees and director and the acceptance of 
promissory notes by the Company was in accordance with the terms of the Company’s equity compensation plans and related option agreements. 
The Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors also approved loaning employees the funds, under the terms of full recourse 
promissory notes, to pay the income taxes that became due in connection with the option exercises. The tax loans totaled approximately 
$8.1 million and were included in other assets on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, the Company had been accruing 
interest on these notes which totaled approximately $5.4 million. During the fourth quarter of 2002, as the Company was reviewing the 
recoverability of these tax loans and interest receivable, it was determined that it was appropriate to record a provision for a possible loss in the 
amount of approximately $5.5 million relating to the tax loans and the interest receivable. This provision was included in selling, general and 
administrative expense on the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations during the year ended December 31, 2002.  

      In March 2001, the Company’s Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors approved the modification of certain of the promissory 
notes from full recourse to 25% recourse of the original loan principal, the modification of the interest rate on the notes to the applicable Federal 
rate as of the date of modification and extension of the term of the loan from five years to seven years. These modifications were communicated 
to eligible employees shortly after such approval and were documented during the course of 2001, with the final documents executed in 
December 2001. The Company also offered eligible employees the opportunity to receive accelerated vesting of restricted stock underlying the 
loans in exchange for extended vesting of stock options and/or restricted stock previously granted in 2001. The 2001 modifications to the notes 
resulted in accounting for the notes and underlying stock as options to purchase common stock. Accordingly, the remaining principal balances of 
the notes subject to the modifications of approximately $26.5 million were reclassified to additional paid-in capital at December 31, 2001. As of 
the modification date, these new options have been treated for accounting purposes as variable awards The impact of these variable awards has 
not been significant through December 31, 2002.  

      During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company modified the loan recourse for certain stockholder loans for former employees who had been 
laid off in 2000 and 2001 from full recourse to 25% recourse of the original loan principal. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 00-23, “Issues 
Related to the Accounting for Stock Compensation under APB Opinion No. 25 and FASB Interpretation No. 44”, the Company recorded this 
modification as a treasury stock transaction for the repurchase of outstanding shares at the fair value of the stock underlying the notes (which 
was $0.6 million at the date of the modification). The principal balance of the notes of $4.3 million was reduced and compensation expense of 
$3.7 million was recorded for the amount of the note in excess of the repurchase amount.  

      During 2002 and 2001, the Company exercised its rights to repurchase a total of 11,763,650 shares of stock underlying the notes at cost in 
exchange for cancellation of the associated promissory notes totaling $30.8 million upon the termination of the employee noteholders.  
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  
   
13. Stock Option Plans (Deficit) — (Continued)  

      Included in the 2000 option grants are 188,750 stock options to non-employees. The fair value of these options of $6.7 million was recorded 
as deferred compensation in 2000 and is being amortized over the vesting period. The fair value of these options was determined using the 
Black-Scholes model assuming a volatility range of approximately 100-150%, a dividend yield of 0%, a contractual option life of 10 years and 
risk-free interest rates ranging from 5.4-5.7%.  

14. Income Taxes  

      Total income tax expense (benefit) was allocated as follows:  

      The provision for income tax expense (benefit) consists of:  

      The current expense consists of foreign income taxes.  

      At December 31, 2002, the Company had net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $705 million which may be used to offset 
future taxable income. Approximately $424 million of these carry forwards are subject to significant limitations on their utilization due to 
ownership changes experienced by certain consolidated Partner Companies. Additional limitations on the utilization of these carry forwards may 
be imposed if the Company experiences a change in ownership. These carry forwards expire between 2008 and 2022.  

      A valuation allowance has been provided for the Company’s net deferred tax asset as the Company believes, after evaluating all positive and 
negative evidence, historical and prospective, that it is more likely than not that these benefits will not be realized.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Income from continuing operations    $ 179     $ (12,584 )   $ (319,449 ) 
Discontinued operations      —      (2,917 )     (7,806 ) 
                    
  Total    $ 179     $ (15,501 )   $ (327,255 ) 
                    

                            
Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Current    $ 179     $ 49     $ 428   
Deferred      —      (15,550 )     (327,683 ) 
                    
  Total    $ 179     $ (15,501 )   $ (327,255 ) 
                    



   

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

14. Income Taxes — (Continued)  

      The Company’s net deferred tax asset (liability) consists of the following:  

      The effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate as follows:  

15. Related Parties  

      The Company provides strategic and operational support to its Partner Companies in the normal course of its business. These services are 
generally provided by the Company’s employees, members of its Advisory Board and Board of Directors and outside consultants. The costs 
related to employees are paid by the Company and are reflected by the Company in general and administrative expenses. Members of the 
Company’s Advisory Board are generally compensated with stock options in the Company which are accounted for in accordance with SFAS 
No. 123 with any expense related to these options included in stock-based compensation. Members of the Company’s Board of Directors are 
generally compensated with stock options and cash in the Company which are accounted for in accordance APB No. 25. The costs of outside 
consultants are generally paid directly by the Partner Company.  

      The Company entered into various cost sharing arrangements with a stockholder, Safeguard Scientifics, during 2002, 2001 and 2000, 
whereby the Company reimbursed, under fair market terms, this stockholder for  
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As of December 31, 

2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Net operating loss carry forward    $ 260,922     $ 107,068   
Capital loss carry forward      137,044       94,382   
Tax credit carry forward      1,233       1,233   
Other comprehensive income      (111 )     182   
Reserves and accruals      15,479       5,077   
Other, net      1,470       1,735   
Partner Company basis difference      359,926       433,481   
Stock compensation      (811 )     (1,444 ) 
Intangible assets      3,931       12,338   
Valuation allowance      (779,083 )     (654,052 ) 
              
Net deferred tax asset (liability)    $ —    $ —  
              

                          
As of December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

Tax benefit at statutory rate      (35.0 )%     (35.0 )%     (35.0 )% 
Stock-based compensation      1.7 %     0.2 %     0.6 % 
Non-deductible expenses and other      4.4 %     0.4 %     0.8 % 
In process research and development      —      —      0.4 % 
Amortization of goodwill and other intangibles      —      4.7 %     2.5 % 
Foreign and state taxes, net      0.1 %     —      (1.7 )% 
Consolidated subsidiaries provision      —      —      (0.2 )% 
Losses not benefited      —      0.9 %     —  
Valuation allowance      29.0 %     28.3 %         
                    
      0.2 %     (0.5 )%     (32.6 )% 
                    



   

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

certain operational expenses. The amounts incurred for such items were $0.4 million, $0.6 million and $1.0 million in 2002, 2001 and 2000, 
respectively.  

      The Company paid $11.1 million to a Partner Company during 2000 for research and development projects principally relating to the 
development of a technology platform to allow market makers to conduct business-to-business transactions.  

      The Company provided executive recruiting services to its Partner Companies in the normal course of business. These services were 
provided by the Company’s employees and were billed under fair market terms. During 2001 and 2000, Partner Companies incurred costs of 
$0.8 million and $6.2 million, respectively, payable to the Company, and $0.1 million is included in accounts receivable, net, on the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2001 related to these services. The Company discontinued these services in 2001.  

      The Company has leased one of its executives to an equity method Partner Company. As of December 31, 2002, the Company has recorded a 
receivable totaling $0.2 million for reimbursement of services.  

      Also see Note 19.  

16. Other supplemental non-cash financing and investing activities  

      Interest paid in 2002, 2001 and 2000, was $21.0 million, $40.7 million and $33.2 million, respectively.  

      No income taxes were paid in 2002, 2001 or 2000 as the Company had a net operating loss.  

17. Defined Contribution and Benefit Plans  

      The Company has defined contribution plans that cover substantially all employees. Participants may contribute a percentage of pre-tax 
compensation, as defined, not to exceed IRS limitations.  

      During 2002, one of the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries made matching contributions of $0.1 million. At December 31, 2002 and 2001, 
one of the Company’s consolidated subsidiaries maintained a defined benefit plan covering the majority of its German employees. At 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, a liability of $4.2 million and $3.2 million, respectively, is included in “Other liabilities” in the Company’s 
Consolidated Balance Sheets.  

18. Other Income  
   

      Other income (loss), net consists of the effect of transactions and other events incidental to the Company’s ownership interests in its Partner 
Companies and its operations in general.  
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18. Other Income — (Continued)  

      During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company realized $7.7 million in losses related to the impairment of its holdings in 
i2 Technologies and divine. During the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, the Company realized $107.5 and $44.0 million, respectively, 
in losses principally related to its sale of available for sale securities, primarily Ariba and i2 Technologies.  

      During the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company sold its ownership interests in various Partner Companies in 
exchange for cash, available-for-sale securities, additional ownership interest in existing Partner Companies and contingent consideration. 
Significant gains resulted from the sale of Tradex in exchange for 2.9 million shares of Ariba ($449.3 million in 2000), the sale of 
Centrimed.com, Inc. for $30.7 million in cash and other consideration ($3.1 million in 2001 and $25.3 million in 2000), the sale of CourtLink 
Corporation for $16.2 million ($1.6 million in 2002 and $14.6 million in 2001), the sale of ServiceSoft Technologies, Inc. in exchange for 
1.3 million shares of Broadbase Software, Inc. which subsequently merged with KANA Software, Inc. ($6.5 million in 2000), a distribution in 
the form of a dividend from Onvia.com ($4.5 million in 2002) and the sale of buy.co.uk Limited in exchange for additional ownership in an 
existing Partner Company ($7.3 million in 2001).  

      The Company’s share of net equity of its public partner companies changed as a result of the Partner Company issuing additional shares for 
acquisitions and other purposes. These increases/ decreases adjusted the Company’s carrying values and resulted in non-operating gains/ losses 
for the periods indicated in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy. The gains were principally from issuances of stock by Verticalnet 
and Universal Access.  

19. Commitments and Contingencies  

      The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In 
the opinion of management, the amount of the ultimate liability with respect to these actions will not materially affect the financial position, 
results of operations or cash flows of the Company and its subsidiaries.  

      As of December 31, 2002, the Company has approximately $22.7 million of funding and guarantee commitments related to its partner 
companies. Of this amount, $16.0 million is scheduled to be funded in 2003 and $6.7 million is scheduled to be funded in 2004.  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(In thousands) 
Gain on debt extinguishment (Note 6)    $ 111,423     $ 81,009     $ —  
Realized losses on available-for-sale securities      (7,665 )     (107,459 )     (44,005 ) 
Partner Company impairment charges (Note 2)      (13,992 )     (64,922 )     (55,904 ) 
Loss on Partner Company warrants (Note 4)      (905 )     (53,933 )     —  
Sales/distributions of ownership interests in Partner Companies      4,919       24,489       480,840   
Issuance of stock by public Partner Companies      (959 )     6,267       246,055   
Other      512       4,754       241   
                    
    $ 93,333     $ (109,795 )   $ 627,227   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

19. Commitments and Contingencies — (Continued)  

      The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries lease their facilities under operating lease agreements expiring 2003 through 2007. Future 
minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2002 under the leases are as follows:  

      Rent expense under the noncancelable operating leases was $10.5 million in 2002, $9.1 million in 2001 and $9.5 million in 2000.  

      Included in the above lease agreements are leases regarding one Partner Company that leases equipment under non-cancelable operating 
leases expiring through February 2006 in which the Partner Company leases equipment and automobiles to lease to customers. When leasing on 
behalf of its customers, the Partner Company simultaneously enters into a lease with the vendor and a lease with the customer (“pass-through 
leases”). Pass-through lease income and expenses are recorded on a net basis as revenue in the accompanying statements of operations. The 
Partner Company had $36.6 million in future minimum pass-through leases which expire in 2006.  

      Because many of its Partner Companies are not majority-owned subsidiaries, changes in the value of the Company’s interests in Partner 
Companies and the income or loss and revenue attributable to them could require the Company to register under the Investment Company Act 
unless it takes action to avoid being required to register. However, the Company believes it can take steps to avoid being required to register 
under the Investment Company Act, which would not adversely affect its operations or stockholder value.  

      If a certain consolidated Partner Company achieves a fair market value in excess of $1.0 billion, the Company will be obligated to pay, in 
cash or the Company’s common stock at the Company’s option, 4% of the Partner Company’s fair market value in excess of $1.0 billion, up to a 
maximum of $70 million of additional purchase price consideration to a venture capital firm. The Company and a significant stockholder of the 
Company and certain executive officers of the Company are limited partners of this venture capital firm. This contingent obligation expires on 
the earlier to occur of May 31, 2005 or an unaffiliated company sale if the valuation milestone is not achieved. Currently, the fair market value 
of this Partner Company is well below $1.0 billion.  
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(in thousands) 

2003    $ 30,467   
2004    $ 21,405   
2005    $ 10,209   
2006    $ 3,253   
2007    $ 3,058   
2008 and thereafter    $ 3,043   
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20. Net Loss per Share  

      The calculations of Net Loss per Share were:  

      The following options and warrants were not included in the computation of diluted EPS as their effect would have been anti-dilutive: 
options to purchase 21,977,341, 25,723,918 and 29,315,035 shares of common stock at average prices of $4.32, $9.30 and $29.47, respectively, 
outstanding as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000; options to purchase 14,873,132 shares of common stock at an average price of $2.18 that 
were previously exercised but subsequent modifications resulted in variable accounting, outstanding as of December 31, 2002; 3,453,583 and 
8,781,100 shares of unvested restricted stock outstanding as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively; warrants to purchase 1,470,676 and 
1,475,775 shares of common stock at $6.00, outstanding as of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively; convertible subordinated notes 
convertible into 2,221,547 shares of common stock as of December 31, 2002, 3,500,151 shares of common stock at December 31, 2001 and 
4,443,267 shares of common stock outstanding as of December 31, 2000.  

21. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)  

      The following table sets forth selected quarterly consolidated financial information for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001. The 
operating results for any given quarter are not necessarily indicative of results for any future period. Certain amounts reported in the 2002 and 
2001 Form 10-Q’s have been reclassified to conform with the current presentation. The impact of these changes is not material and did not affect 
net income (loss).  
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Year Ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(as adjusted) (as adjusted) 
(in thousands, except per share data) 

Basic and Diluted:                          
Loss before discontinued operations and cumulative effect of 

change in accounting principle    
$ (93,263 ) 

  
$ (2,297,955 ) 

  
$ (659,520 ) 

Loss on discontinued operations, net of gain of $10,317 (2002) and 
tax benefit of $2,917 (2001)      (8,956 )     (32,889 )     (7,028 ) 

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      —      (7,886 )     —  
                    
Net loss    $ (102,219 )   $ (2,338,730 )   $ (666,548 ) 
                    
Average common shares outstanding      267,998       278,353       275,044   
                    
Basic and diluted loss per share:                          
Loss before discontinued operations and cumulative effect of 

change in accounting principle    $ (0.35 )   $ (8.25 )   $ (2.40 ) 
Loss on discontinued operations      (0.03 )     (0.12 )     (0.02 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle      —      (0.03 )     —  
                    
    $ (0.38 )   $ (8.40 )   $ (2.42 ) 
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21. Selected Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited) — (Continued)  
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Fiscal 2002 Quarter Ended Fiscal 2001 Quarter Ended 

(as adjusted) 
Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31 Mar. 31 Jun. 30 Sep. 30 Dec. 31 

(in thousands) 
Revenue    $ 24,819     $ 25,585     $ 27,338     $ 30,715     $ 26,944     $ 21,882     $ 33,083     $ 33,742   
Operating Expenses                                                                  
  Cost of revenue      18,341       17,267       16,557       16,930       27,633       21,485       15,577       20,123   
  Selling, general & administrative      24,738       22,868       18,706       25,558       87,543       66,130       53,285       37,308   
  Research and development      6,488       6,931       5,548       5,133       15,317       11,243       10,725       6,503   

  
Amortization of goodwill and other 

intangibles      
3,100 

      
3,131 

      
2,883 

      
2,886 

      
80,838 

      
10,171 

      
14,795 

      
20,050 

  

  Impairment related and other      1,490       7,274       2,056       1,556       752,297       72,978       14,718       11,264   
                                                  
      (29,338 )     (31,886 )     (18,412 )     (21,348 )     (936,684 )     (160,125 )     (76,017 )     (61,506 ) 
Other income (expense) net      (5,895 )     58,230       44,297       (3,299 )     (145,676 )     (9,498 )     (17,791 )     63,170   
Interest income      1,398       962       1,177       561       7,046       4,937       2,740       2,503   
Interest expense      (7,557 )     (6,255 )     (5,425 )     (4,618 )     (11,370 )     (9,599 )     (12,870 )     (9,162 ) 
                                                  
Income (loss) before income taxes, 

Minority interest and equity loss      
(41,392 ) 

    
21,051 

      
21,637 

      
(28,704 ) 

    
(1,086,684 ) 

    
(174,285 ) 

    
(103,938 ) 

    
(4,995 ) 

Income taxes      —      —      —      (179 )     (25,785 )     44       8,291       30,034   
Minority interest      5,717       5,560       3,182       979       40,239       41,245       18,327       8,412   
Equity loss      (20,607 )     (34,666 )     (7,158 )     (18,683 )     (612,571 )     (220,590 )     (154,208 )     (61,491 ) 
                                                  
Net income (loss) before 

discontinued operations and 
cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle  

    

(56,282 ) 

    

(8,055 ) 

    

17,661 

      

(46,587 ) 

    

(1,684,801 ) 

    

(353,586 ) 

    

(231,528 ) 

    

(28,040 ) 
Loss on discontinued operations      (5,366 )     (5,084 )     (4,832 )     6,326       (10,966 )     (3,272 )     (6,080 )     (12,571 ) 
Cumulative effect of change in 

accounting principle      —      —      —      —      (7,886 )     —      —      —  

                                                  
Net income (loss)    $ (61,648 )   $ (13,139 )   $ 12,829     $ (40,261 )   $ (1,703,653 )   $ (356,858 )   $ (237,608 )   $ (40,611 ) 
                                                  
Net income (loss) before 

discontinued operations and 
cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle — per share  

  

$ (0.20 ) 

  

$ (0.03 ) 

  

$ 0.06 

    

$ (0.17 ) 

  

$ (6.01 ) 

  

$ (1.28 ) 

  

$ (0.83 ) 

  

$ (0.10 ) 
                                                  
Net income (loss) — per share    $ (0.22 )   $ (0.05 )   $ 0.05     $ (0.15 )   $ (6.07 )   $ (1.29 )   $ (0.86 )   $ (0.15 ) 
                                                  



   

Item 9.      Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures  

      None.  

PART III  

Item 10.      Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant  

      We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Election of Directors (Item 1 on Proxy Card)”, “Section 16(a) 
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and “Executive Officers” in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2003 annual meeting of 
stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Report pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

Item 11.      Executive Compensation  

      We incorporate by reference the information contained under the captions “Executive Compensation”, “Compensation Tables” and “Other 
Forms of Compensation” in our Definitive Proxy Statement for our 2003 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the 
end of the year covered by this Report pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

Item 12.      Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management  

      We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Directors 
and Officers” in our Definitive Proxy Statements for our 2003 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the 
year covered by this Report pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

Item 13.      Certain Relationships and Related Transactions  

      We incorporate by reference the information contained under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in our Definitive 
Proxy Statement for our 2003 annual meeting of stockholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Report 
pursuant to Regulation 14 A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  

Item 14.      Controls and Procedures  

      Within 90 days of the filing of this Report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of management, 
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-14 and 
15d-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer 
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective in timely alerting them to material information required to be included in 
periodic filings with the SEC.  

      There were no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these internal controls subsequent 
to the date of our most recent evaluation.  

PART IV  

Item 15.      Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K  

1.     Consolidated Financial Statements  

      The Consolidated Financial Statements and related Notes thereto as set forth under Item 8 of this Report are incorporated herein by 
reference.  

76  



   

2.     Financial Statement Schedule  

Report of Independent Auditors  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.:  

      Under date of February 20, 2003, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and subsidiaries as of 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and 
comprehensive loss for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002. In connection with our audits of the aforementioned 
consolidated financial statements, we also audited the related consolidated financial statement schedule. The consolidated financial statement 
schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statement 
schedule based on our audits.  

      In our opinion, such consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements 
taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.  

      Our report dated February 20, 2003 contains an explanatory paragraph that describes Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s change in its method of 
accounting for goodwill, discontinued operations, accounting for an investment, accounting for notes receivable from stockholders and reporting 
gains on extinguishment of debt in 2002 and derivatives in 2001.  

/s/ KPMG LLP  

Philadelphia, Pennsylvania  
February 20, 2003  

      The following financial statement schedule of Internet Capital Group, Inc. for each of the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 
should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto.  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP  
SCHEDULE II — VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS  

Years Ended December 31, 2000, 2001 and 2002  
(in thousands)  
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Balance at Charged to Balance at 

the beginning costs and the end of 
of the year expenses Write -offs the year 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:                                  
  December 31, 2000    $ 67     $ 4,707 (a)   $ (16 )   $ 4,758   
  December 31, 2001    $ 4,758     $ 5,309 (b)   $ (4,818 )(c)   $ 5,249   
  December 31, 2002    $ 5,249     $ 1,748 (d)   $ (2,742 )   $ 4,255   

(a)  Reserve of $3,462 established from partner companies acquired in 2000 or consolidated during 2000. 
  
(b)  Reserve of $2,300 was established upon acquisitions of partner companies during 2001. 
  
(c)  Reserve of $3,512 was eliminated upon deconsolidation of partner companies during 2001. 
  
(d)  Reserve of $115 was established upon acquisitions of partner companies during 2002. 



   

3.     List of Exhibits  

      The exhibits required by this Item are listed under Item 14(c).  

      (a) Reports on Form 8-K  

      On November 14, 2002, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K dated November 14, 2002 in connection with the certifications of 
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 which accompanied our 
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, in accordance with Regulation FD.  

      (b) Exhibits  

Exhibit Index  

      The following list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K filed as part of this Annual Report. Where so indicated by footnote, 
exhibits which were previously filed are incorporated by reference. For exhibits incorporated by reference, the location of the exhibit in the 
previous filing is indicated in parentheses.  
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Exhibit 
Number Document 

  
2.1 

    
Agreement of Merger, dated February 2, 1999, between Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed by the Company on May 11, 
1999 (Registration No. 333-78193) (the “ IPO Registration Statement”)) 

  
3.1 

    
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-
A filed by the Company on August 4, 1999 (Registration No. 000-26989) (the “8-A Registration Statement”)) 

  3.2     Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the 8-A Registration Statement) 
  3.3     Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation 

  
4.1 

    
Specimen Certificate for Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to 
Amendment No. 3 to the IPO Registration Statement filed by the Company on August 2, 1999 (Registration No. 333-
78193) (the “ IPO Amendment No. 3” )) 

  
4.2 

    
Indenture between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Chase Manhattan Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee, 
for the 5 1/2% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2000 (File No. 000-26929) (the “10-K Annual Report for 2000” )) 

  4.3     Form of 5 1/2% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2004 of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.2 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2000) 

  

4.4 

    

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2000, between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and ChaseMellon Shareholder 
Services, L.L.C., as Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit B thereto the Form of Rights Certificate, incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated December 1, 2000 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 1, 2000 (File No. 0-26929)) 

  
10.1 

    
Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. 1998 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the IPO 
Registration Statement) 

  
10.1.1 

    
Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated July 25, 2001 (the “Internet 
Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.4 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2002 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2001”)) 
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Exhibit 
Number Document 

  10.1.2     Amendment No. 1 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan 
  10.1.3     Amendment No. 2 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan 

  
10.2 

    
Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. Option Plan for Non-Employee Managers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to 
the IPO Registration Statement) 

  
10.2.1 

    
Internet Capital Group, Inc. Directors’  Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.1 to the IPO Registration 
Statement) 

  10.2.2     Internet Capital Group, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, amended and restated effective September 1, 2002 
  10.3     Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan 
  10.3.1     Amendment No. 1 to the Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan 

  
10.4 

    
Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. Membership Profit Interest Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the IPO 
Registration Statement) 

  10.5     Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C., dated January 4, 1999 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.1 to the IPO Registration Statement) 

  
10.6 

    
Exchange Offer Agreement dated as of February 24, 2000 by and among eCredit.com, Inc., Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
and ICG Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 
filed April 13, 2000 (Registration No. 333-34722) (the “S-4” )) 

  
10.7 

    
Stock Purchase Agreement between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and International Business Machines Corporation 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the IPO Registration Statement filed by the 
Company on July 16, 1999 (Registration No. 333-79193)) 

  
10.8 

    
Lease dated January 1, 2000 between Bebob Associates and Internet Capital Group, Inc. for premises located in Wayne, 
Pennsylvania (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
quarter ended June 30, 2000) 

  
10.9 

    
Amendment to Lease dated February 1, 2000 between Bebob Associates and Internet Capital Group, Inc. for additional 
space in Wayne, Pennsylvania (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 
l0-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000) 

  
10.10 

    
Second Amendment to Lease dated May 9, 2000 between Bebob Associates, Inc. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
June 30, 2000) 

  10.11     Third Amendment to Lease dated November 29, 2000 between Bebob Associates, Inc. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2000) 

  
10.12 

    
Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated December 31, 2000 among Internet Capital Group, Inc., Internet Capital 
Group Operations, Inc. and Bebob Associates (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Annual Report for 
2000) 

  
10.13 

    
Lease dated March 27, 2000 between the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States and Internet Capital 
Group, Inc. for premises located in Boston, Massachusetts (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000) 
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10.14 

    
Form of Promissory Note issued in connection with the exercise of Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s stock options in May, 
June and July of 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Amendment No. 1 to the IPO Registration 
Statement filed by the Company on June 22, 1999 (Registration No. 333-78913) (the “ IPO Amendment No. 1”)) 

  10.15     Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement issued in connection with the exercise of Internet Capital Group’s stock 
options in May, June and July of 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the IPO Amendment No. 1) 

  
10.16 

    
Securities Purchase Agreement dated October 27, 1999 by and among eMerge Interactive, Inc., J. Technologies, LLC 
and Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
November 22, 1999 (File No. 0-26929)) 

  
10.17 

    
Joint Venture Agreement dated October 26, 1999 by and between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Safeguard Scientifics, 
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registration Statement filed by the Company on November 22, 
1999 (Registration No. 333-91447)) 

  
10.18 

    
Purchase Agreement dated December 6, 1999 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and AT&T Corp. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registration Statement filed by the Company on December 6, 1999 (Registration 
No. 333-91447) (the “Follow-on Amendment No. 1” )) 

  10.19     Purchase Agreement dated December 6, 1999 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Internet Assets, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Follow-on Amendment No. 1) 

  
10.20 

    
Purchase Agreement dated December 6, 1999 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Ford Motor Company 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement filed by the Company on 
December 15, 1999 (Registration No. 333-91447)) 

  10.21     Severance and Change in Control Agreement dated as of January 1, 2001 by and between Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
and Edward H. West (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2001) 

  
10.22 

    
Form of Letter Agreement dated September 20, 2001 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and certain of its officers (the 
“Form Severance Letter Agreement” ) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2001) 

  
10.23 

    
Separation of Employment Agreement and General Release between Nigel Andrews and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
dated March 2, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ending March 31, 2001) 

  
10.24 

    
Separation of Employment Agreement and General Release between Ronald W. Hovsepian and Internet Capital Group, 
Inc. dated April 15, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
for the quarter ended March 31, 2002) 

  
10.25 

    
Amendment dated December 11, 2002 to Severance Letter Agreement dated as of September 20, 2001 by and between 
Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Henry Nassau which is substantially in the form of the Form Severance Letter 
Agreement 

  10.26     Severance Letter Agreement dated February 4, 2003 by and between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Anthony Dolanski 

  
10.27 

    
Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock of Internet Capital Group, Inc. issued to AT&T Corp., dated January 29, 
2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending 
March 31, 2001) 
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Exhibit 
Number Document 

  
10.28 

    
Tender Agreement among Fir Tree Value Fund, L.P., Fir Tree Institutional Value Fund, L.P., Fir Tree Value Partners, 
LDC, Fir Tree Recovery Master Fund, L.P. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. dated October 29, 2001 (incorporated by 
reference to the Company’s filing on Form SC TO-I/ A filed on November 1, 2001 (File No. 005-578-57841)) 

  

10.29 

    

First Amendment to Tender Agreement among Fir Tree Value Fund, L.P., Fir Tree Institutional Value Fund, L.P., Fir 
Tree Value Partners, LDC, Fir Tree Recovery Master Fund, L.P. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. dated October 31, 
2001 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s filing on Form SC TO-I/ A filed on November 1, 2001 (File No. 005-
578-57841)) 

  
10.30 

    
Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of September 30, 2002, by and between Comerica Bank-California and Internet 
Capital Group, Inc., ICG Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002) 

  
10.31 

    
Form of Promissory Note (Option Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its 
officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended September 30, 2002) 

  
10.32 

    
Form of Share Pledge Agreement by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002) 

  
10.33 

    
Form of Promissory Note (Tax Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002) 

  
11.1 

    
Statement Regarding Computation of Per Share Earnings (included herein at Note 1-“Significant Accounting Policies” 
in the subsection “Net Loss Per Share” to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 20 — ” Net Loss Per Share” 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements) 

  

13.1 

    

Sections entitled “Election of Directors (Item 1 on Proxy Card),” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting 
Compliance,” “Executive Compensation,” “Other Forms of Compensation,” “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under 
Equity Compensation Plans,” “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Directors and Officers” and 
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement relative to its annual 
meeting of shareholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Form 10-K Report pursuant 
to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 

  21.1     Subsidiaries of Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
  23.1     Consent of KPMG LLP regarding Internet Capital Group, Inc. 



   

SIGNATURES  

      Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Security Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this Report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

      Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the Registrant and in the capacities set forth above.  
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Date: March 31, 2003    INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC. 
  

    

By: /s/ ANTHONY P. DOLANSKI  

Name: Anthony P. Dolanski  
Title: Chief Financial Officer 

      
Signature Title 

/s/ WALTER W. BUCKLEY, III  

Walter W. Buckley, III 
  

Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman of the Board of 
Directors (Principal Executive Officer) 

  
/s/ ANTHONY P. DOLANSKI  

Anthony P. Dolanski 
  

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 

  
/s/ DAVID J. BERKMAN  

David J. Berkman 
  

Director 

  
/s/ THOMAS P. GERRITY  

Thomas P. Gerrity 
  

Director 

  
/s/ ROBERT E. KEITH, JR.  

Robert E. Keith, Jr. 
  

Director 

  
/s/ WARREN V. MUSSER  

Warren V. Musser 
  

Director 

  
/s/ PHILIP J. RINGO  

Philip J. Ringo 
  

Director 

  
/s/ MICHAEL D. ZISMAN  

Michael D. Zisman 
  

Director 



   

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

      I, Walter W. Buckley, III, certify that:  

Date: March 31, 2003  
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        1.     I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Internet Capital Group, Inc.; 
  
        2.     Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect 
to the period covered by this annual report; 

  
        3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in 

all material respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
annual report; 

  
        4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant, and we have: 

        a.     designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report 
is being prepared; 

  
        b.     evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing 

date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and 
  
        c.     presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 

evaluation as of the Evaluation Date: 

        5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and 
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

        a.     all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize, and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal 
controls; and 

  
        b.     any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal controls; and 

        6.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal 
controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any 
corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

  /s/ WALTER W. BUCKLEY, III 

  
  Walter W. Buckley, III 

  Chief Executive Officer 



   

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER  

      I, Anthony P. Dolanski, certify that:  

Date: March 31, 2003  
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        1.     I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Internet Capital Group, Inc.; 
  
        2.     Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect 
to the period covered by this annual report; 

  
        3.     Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in 

all material respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this 
annual report; 

  
        4.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 

(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant, and we have: 

        a.     designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this annual report 
is being prepared; 

  
        b.     evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date with 90 days prior to the filing 

date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date”); and 
  
        c.     presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 

evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 

        5.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and 
the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

        a.     all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize, and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in internal 
controls; and 

  
        b.     any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal controls; and 

        6.     The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have indicated in this annual report whether there were significant changes in internal 
controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent evaluation, including any 
corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

  /s/ ANTHONY P. DOLANSKI 

  
  Anthony P. Dolanski 

  Chief Financial Officer 



   

EXHIBIT INDEX  

      The following list of exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K filed as part of this Annual Report. Where so indicated by footnote, 
exhibits which were previously filed are incorporated by reference. For exhibits incorporated by reference, the location of the exhibit in the 
previous filing is indicated in parentheses.  
          

Exhibit 
Number Document 

  
2.1 

    
Agreement of Merger, dated February 2, 1999, between Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 filed by the Company on May 11, 
1999 (Registration No. 333-78193) (the “ IPO Registration Statement” )) 

  3.1     Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registration Statement on Form 8-A 
filed by the Company on August 4, 1999 (Registration No. 000-26989) (the “8-A Registration Statement” )) 

  3.2     Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the 8-A Registration Statement) 
  3.3     Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Incorporation 

  
4.1 

    
Specimen Certificate for Internet Capital Group, Inc.’ s Common Stock (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to 
Amendment No. 3 to the IPO Registration Statement filed by the Company on August 2, 1999 (Registration No. 333-
78193) (the “ IPO Amendment No. 3”)) 

  
4.2 

    
Indenture between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Chase Manhattan Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee, 
for the 5 1/2% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 16, 2000 (File No. 000-26929) (the “10-K Annual Report for 2000” )) 

  
4.3 

    
Form of 5 1/2% Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2004 of Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.2 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2000) 

  

4.4 

    

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 22, 2000, between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and ChaseMellon Shareholder 
Services, L.L.C., as Rights Agent, which includes as Exhibit B thereto the Form of Rights Certificate, incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 1.1 to Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A, dated December 1, 2000 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 1, 2000 (File No. 0-26929)) 

  10.1     Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. 1998 Equity Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the IPO 
Registration Statement) 

  
10.1. 1 

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan as Amended and Restated July 25, 2001 (the “ Internet 
Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1.4 to the Company’s 
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on April 1, 2002 (the “10-K Annual Report for 2001” )) 

  10.1. 2   Amendment No. 1 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan 
  10.1. 3   Amendment No. 2 to the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan 

  
10.2 

    
Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. Option Plan for Non-Employee Managers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the 
IPO Registration Statement) 

  
10.2. 1 

  
Internet Capital Group, Inc. Directors’ Option Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2.1 to the IPO Registration 
Statement) 

  10.2. 2   Internet Capital Group, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, amended and restated effective September 1, 2002 
  10.3     Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan 
  10.3. 1   Amendment No. 1 to the Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan 

  10.4     Internet Capital Group, L.L.C. Membership Profit Interest Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the IPO 
Registration Statement) 

  
10.5 

    
Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C., dated January 4, 1999 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.1 to the IPO Registration Statement) 



   

          
Exhibit 
Number Document 

  
10.6 

    
Exchange Offer Agreement dated as of February 24, 2000 by and among eCredit.com, Inc., Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
and ICG Holdings, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 of the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 
filed April 13, 2000 (Registration No. 333-34722) (the “S-4” )) 

  
10.7 

    
Stock Purchase Agreement between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and International Business Machines Corporation 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23.1 to Amendment No. 2 to the IPO Registration Statement filed by the 
Company on July 16, 1999 (Registration No. 333-79193)) 

  
10.8 

    
Lease dated January 1, 2000 between Bebob Associates and Internet Capital Group, Inc. for premises located in Wayne, 
Pennsylvania (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter 
ended June 30, 2000) 

  
10.9 

    
Amendment to Lease dated February 1, 2000 between Bebob Associates and Internet Capital Group, Inc. for additional 
space in Wayne, Pennsylvania (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form l0-
Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000) 

  
10.10 

    
Second Amendment to Lease dated May 9, 2000 between Bebob Associates, Inc. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
June 30, 2000) 

  
10.11 

    
Third Amendment to Lease dated November 29, 2000 between Bebob Associates, Inc. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2000) 

  10.12     Assignment and Assumption Agreement dated December 31, 2000 among Internet Capital Group, Inc., Internet Capital 
Group Operations, Inc. and Bebob Associates (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Annual Report for 2000) 

  
10.13 

    
Lease dated March 27, 2000 between the Equitable Life Assurance Society of the United States and Internet Capital 
Group, Inc. for premises located in Boston, Massachusetts (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2000) 

  
10.14 

    
Form of Promissory Note issued in connection with the exercise of Internet Capital Group, Inc.’s stock options in May, 
June and July of 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 to Amendment No. 1 to the IPO Registration Statement 
filed by the Company on June 22, 1999 (Registration No. 333-78913) (the “ IPO Amendment No. 1” )) 

  10.15     Form of Restrictive Covenant Agreement issued in connection with the exercise of Internet Capital Group’s stock options 
in May, June and July of 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to the IPO Amendment No. 1) 

  
10.16 

    
Securities Purchase Agreement dated October 27, 1999 by and among eMerge Interactive, Inc., J. Technologies, LLC and 
Internet Capital Group, Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
November 22, 1999 (File No. 0-26929)) 

  
10.17 

    
Joint Venture Agreement dated October 26, 1999 by and between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Safeguard Scientifics, 
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to the Registration Statement filed by the Company on November 22, 
1999 (Registration No. 333-91447)) 

  
10.18 

    
Purchase Agreement dated December 6, 1999 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and AT&T Corp. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.25 to the Registration Statement filed by the Company on December 6, 1999 (Registration 
No. 333-91447) (the “Follow-on Amendment No. 1” )) 

  10.19     Purchase Agreement dated December 6, 1999 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Internet Assets, Inc. (incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Follow-on Amendment No. 1) 

  
10.20 

    
Purchase Agreement dated December 6, 1999 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Ford Motor Company 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement filed by the Company on 
December 15, 1999 (Registration No. 333-91447)) 

  10.21     Severance and Change in Control Agreement dated as of January 1, 2001 by and between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and 
Edward H. West (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2001) 
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Number Document 

  10.22     Form of Letter Agreement dated September 20, 2001 between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and certain of its officers (the 
“Form Severance Letter Agreement” ) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the 10-K Annual Report for 2001) 

  
10.23 

    
Separation of Employment Agreement and General Release between Nigel Andrews and Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
dated March 2, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the 
quarter ending March 31, 2001) 

  
10.24 

    
Separation of Employment Agreement and General Release between Ronald W. Hovsepian and Internet Capital Group, 
Inc. dated April 15, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for 
the quarter ended March 31, 2002) 

  10.25     Amendment dated December 11, 2002 to Severance Letter Agreement dated as of September 20, 2001 by and between 
Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Henry Nassau which is substantially in the form of the Form Severance Letter Agreement 

  10.26     Severance Letter Agreement dated February 4, 2003 by and between Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Anthony Dolanski 

  
10.27 

    
Warrant to Purchase Shares of Common Stock of Internet Capital Group, Inc. issued to AT&T Corp., dated January 29, 
2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ending 
March 31, 2001) 

  
10.28 

    
Tender Agreement among Fir Tree Value Fund, L.P., Fir Tree Institutional Value Fund, L.P., Fir Tree Value Partners, 
LDC, Fir Tree Recovery Master Fund, L.P. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. dated October 29, 2001 (incorporated by 
reference to the Company’s filing on Form SC TO-I/ A filed on November 1, 2001 (File No. 005-578-57841)) 

  

10.29 

    

First Amendment to Tender Agreement among Fir Tree Value Fund, L.P., Fir Tree Institutional Value Fund, L.P., Fir 
Tree Value Partners, LDC, Fir Tree Recovery Master Fund, L.P. and Internet Capital Group, Inc. dated October 31, 2001 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s filing on Form SC TO-I/ A filed on November 1, 2001 (File No. 005-578-
57841)) 

  
10.30 

    
Letter of Credit Agreement dated as of September 30, 2002, by and between Comerica Bank-California and Internet 
Capital Group, Inc., ICG Holdings, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002) 

  
10.31 

    
Form of Promissory Note (Option Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002) 

  
10.32 

    
Form of Share Pledge Agreement by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002) 

  
10.33 

    
Form of Promissory Note (Tax Loan) by and between Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. and certain of its officers 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended 
September 30, 2002) 

  
11.1 

    
Statement Regarding Computation of Per Share Earnings (included herein at Note 1-“Significant Accounting Policies” in 
the subsection “Net Loss Per Share” to the Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 20 — ” Net Loss Per Share” to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements) 

  

13.1 

    

Sections entitled “Election of Directors (Item 1 on Proxy Card),” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting 
Compliance,” “Executive Compensation,” “Other Forms of Compensation,” “Securities Authorized for Issuance Under 
Equity Compensation Plans,” “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Directors and Officers” and 
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement relative to its annual 
meeting of shareholders, to be filed within 120 days after the end of the year covered by this Form 10-K Report pursuant 
to Regulation 14A under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended 

  21.1     Subsidiaries of Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
  23.1     Consent of KPMG LLP regarding Internet Capital Group, Inc. 



EXHIBIT 3.3  

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT  

OF  

RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION  

OF  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

Internet Capital Group, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under and by virtue of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware 
(the "Company"), does hereby certify:  

FIRST: At a meeting held on March 3, 2000 the Board of Directors adopted a resolution setting forth a proposed amendment to the Company's 
Restated Certificate of Incorporation to increase the authorized number of shares of Common Stock by 1,700,000,000 shares to an aggregate of 
2,000,000,000 shares. The resolution declares advisability of the proposed amendment and directs that the proposed amendment be considered at 
the annual meeting of shareholders. The proposed amendment deletes the first paragraph of Article Four of the Restated Certificate of 
Incorporation and replaces it in its entirety with the following:  

4. Authorized Capital. The aggregate number of shares of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 2,010,000,000 shares, 
divided into two classes consisting of 10,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share ("Preferred Stock"), and 2,000,000,000 
shares of Common Stock, par value $.001 per share ("Common Stock").  

SECOND: That thereafter, pursuant to the resolution of the board of directors, the proposed amendment was approved by a majority of 
stockholders of the Company at an annual meeting held on May 31, 2000.  

THIRD: That said amendment was duly adopted in accordance with the provision of Section 242 of the General Corporation Law of the State of 
Delaware.  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused this Certificate to be executed by Henry N. Nassau, its Managing Director, General 
Counsel and Secretary, this 9th day of June, 2000.  

 

By: /s/ Henry N. Nassau 
    ------------------- 
    Name: Henry N. Nassau 
    Title: Managing Director, General 
           Counsel and Secretary 



EXHIBIT 10.1.2  
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
1999 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN  

(as amended and restated, effective July 25, 2001)  

WHEREAS, Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the "Company") maintains the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (as 
amended and restated, effective July 25, 2001) (the "Plan") for the benefit of its eligible employees, certain advisors and consultants who 
perform services for the Company, and non-employee members of the Company's Board of Directors;  

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") desire to amend the Plan to: (i) increase the number of shares subject to the 
automatic stock option grants made to individuals who are first elected as a member of the Board and who are not employees of the Company; 
(ii) (A) increase the number of shares subject to automatic stock option service grants to members of the Board who are not employees of the 
Company ("Non-Employee Directors"), (B) provide that such service grants will be made on a yearly basis to Non-Employee Directors, and (C) 
provide that service grants will become fully vested on the first anniversary of the date of grant; and (iii) increase the aggregate limit of initial 
grants and service grants that can be made to Non-Employee Directors under the Plan; and  

WHEREAS, Section 19(a) of the Plan provides that the Board may amend the Plan at any time.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in accordance with the foregoing, effective January 1, 2001, the Plan shall be amended as follows:  

1. The first sentence of Section 6(a) of the Plan shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

"Initial Grants. On the date that an eligible Non-Employee Director is first elected to the Board, such Non-Employee Director shall receive a 
Nonqualified Option under the Plan to purchase 300,000 Shares (an "Initial Grant")."  

2. Section 6(b) of the Plan shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

"Service Grants. Each year on the anniversary of the date that an eligible Non-Employee Director was initially elected to the Board (or, if 
applicable, the Board of Managers of Internet Capital Group, L.L.C.), such Non-Employee Director shall be granted a Nonqualified Stock 
Option for an additional 75,000 Shares (a "Service Grant")."  



3. Section 6(d) of the Plan shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

"Aggregate Limitation on Grants. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, the maximum number of Shares subject to Initial 
Grants, Service Grants, and Conversion Grants which may be awarded to any Non-Employee Director under the Plan shall not exceed 750,000 
Shares."  

4. The second sentence of Section 6(e)(ii) of the Plan shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

"Each Service Grant shall vest in full on the first anniversary of the date of the grant of such Option."  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and as evidence of the adoption of Amendment No. 1 set forth herein, the Board has caused this Amendment to be 
executed this 16th day of October, 2001.  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

 

BY:/s/ Henry N. Nassau 
   ------------------- 
TITLE: Managing Director 
       ----------------- 



EXHIBIT 10.1.3  
AMENDMENT NO. 2 TO THE  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
1999 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN  

(as amended and restated, effective July 25, 2001)  

WHEREAS, Internet Capital Group, Inc. (the "Company") maintains the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 1999 Equity Compensation Plan (as 
amended and restated, effective July 25, 2001) (the "Plan") for the benefit of its eligible employees, certain advisors and consultants who 
perform services for the Company, and non-employee members of the Company's Board of Directors;  

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") desires to amend the Plan to: (i) (A) increase the aggregate total number of 
shares that will be granted to members of the Board who are not employees of the Company ("Non-Employee Directors") as automatic stock 
option service grants, (B) provide that the automatic stock option service grants to Non-Employee Directors will be made on a quarterly basis, 
and (C) increase the aggregate limit of initial grants, service grants and conversion grants that may be made to Non-Employee Directors under 
the Plan; and (ii) provide that "restricted shares" may be granted under the Plan without restrictions; and  

WHEREAS, Section 19(a) of the Plan provides that the Board may amend the Plan at any time.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in accordance with the foregoing, the Plan shall be amended as follows:  

1. Effective as of July 1, 2003, Section 6(b) of the Plan shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

"Service Grants. On the first day of each January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1, commencing on July 1, 2003, each Non-Employee Director 
shall be granted a Nonqualified Stock Option to purchase 25,000 Shares; provided that on each such grant date the Non-Employee Director is a 
member of the Board (a "Service Grant")."  

2. Effective as of July 1, 2003, Section 6(d) of the Plan shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

"Aggregate Limitation on Grants. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, the maximum number of Shares subject to Initial 
Grants, Service Grants, and Conversion Grants which may be awarded to any Non-Employee Director under the Plan shall not exceed 1,000,000 
Shares."  



3. Effective as of July 1, 2003, the second sentence of Section 6(e)(ii) of the Plan shall be amended in its entirety as follows:  

"Each Service Grant shall vest as follows: Service Grants made on (A) July 1 shall vest 12 months from the date of the grant of such Option, (B) 
October 1 shall vest 9 months from the date of the grant of such Option, (C) January 1 shall vest 6 months from the date of the grant of such 
Option, and (D) April 1 shall vest 3 months from the date of the grant of such Option."  

4. Effective as of December 16, 2002, the first sentence of  
Section 8(a) of the Plan shall be amended in its entirety to read as follows:  

"Shares issued or transferred pursuant to Restricted Share Grants may be issued or transferred for consideration or for no consideration, and 
subject to restrictions or no restrictions, as determined by the Committee."  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and as evidence of the adoption of Amendment No. 2 set forth herein, the Board has caused this Amendment to be 
executed this 16th day of December, 2002.  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  

 

BY: /s/ Henry N. Nassau 
    ------------------- 
TITLE: Managing Director 
       ----------------- 



EXHIBIT 10.2.2  

INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
EXECUTIVE DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

AMENDED AND RESTATED EFFECTIVE SEPTEMBER 1, 2002  



INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
EXECUTIVE DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  
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INTERNET CAPITAL GROUP, INC.  
EXECUTIVE DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

AMENDED AND RESTATED EFFECTIVE SEPTEMBER 1, 2002  

ARTICLE I  

ESTABLISHMENT OF THE PLAN  

Internet Capital Group, Inc. and Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc. (collectively the "Company") adopted the Internet Capital Group, Inc. 
Executive Deferred Compensation Plan (the "Plan"), effective as of January 1, 2002, to allow a select group of key management or other highly 
compensated employees of the Company and certain specified executives of a partner company, Logistics.com, Inc. ("Logistics"), to defer the 
receipt of income and the tax consequences resulting from the vesting of certain restricted shares of the Company's common stock that would 
otherwise be realized by them. The Company intends that the Plan shall at all times be maintained on an unfunded basis for federal income tax 
purposes under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), and administered as a non-qualified, "top hat" plan exempt from 
the substantive requirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"). Pursuant to authority reserved in 
Section 8.14, the Board hereby amends and restates the Plan, effective September 1, 2002, to read as follows:  

ARTICLE II  

DEFINITIONS  

For ease of reference, the following definitions will be used in the Plan:  

2.1. Account(s). "Account" or "Accounts" means the account or accounts maintained on the books of the Company used solely to calculate the 
amount payable to each Participant under this Plan and shall not constitute a separate fund of assets. The Accounts available for each Participant 
shall be identified as (a) In-Service Account and (b) Retirement Account. Each Participant may maintain up to two In-Service Accounts based 
upon selecting different times of payment under Article VI.  

2.2. Base Salary. "Base Salary" means the annual rate of base salary paid to each Participant as of any date of reference before any reduction for 
amounts deferred by the Participant pursuant to a Code Section 401(k) plan or Code Section 125 plan, or pursuant to this Plan or any other non-
qualified plan that permits voluntary deferrals of compensation.  

2.3. Beneficiary(ies). "Beneficiary" or "Beneficiaries" means the person or persons designated by the Participant to receive distributions under 
this Plan in the event of the Participant's death, as provided in Section 8.3.  
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2.4. Board or Board of Directors. "Board" or "Board of Directors" means the Board of Directors of Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

2.5. Bonus Compensation. "Bonus Compensation" means the total amount of the semi-annual bonus to be paid by the Company to a Participant 
for a Plan Year.  

2.6. Change of Control. "Change of Control" means (a) the stockholders of the Company approve (or, if stockholder approval is not required, the 
Board approves) an agreement providing for (i) the merger or consolidation of the Company with another corporation where the stockholders of 
the Company, immediately prior to the merger or consolidation, will not beneficially own, immediately after the merger or consolidation, shares 
of the Company entitling such stockholders to more than 50% of all votes to which all stockholders of the surviving corporation would be 
entitled in the election of directors (without consideration of the rights of any class of stock to elect directors by a separate class vote), (b) the 
sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company, (c) a liquidation or dissolution of the Company, (d) the 
acquisition by any "person" (as such term is used in sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934) other than Safeguard 
Scientifics, Inc. or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, of the "beneficial ownership" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly 
or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing a majority of the voting power of the then outstanding securities of the Company except 
where the acquisition is approved by the Board, or (e) any person has commenced a tender offer or exchange offer for a majority of the voting 
power of the then outstanding shares of the Company.  

2.7. Committee. "Committee" means at least three individuals appointed by the Board to administer the Plan pursuant to Article III and which 
also may act for the Company or the Board in making decisions and performing specified duties under the Plan.  

2.8. Company. "Company" means Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

2.9. Compensation. "Compensation" means an Eligible Employee's (i) Base Salary, and (ii) Bonus Compensation.  

2.10. Effective Date. "Effective Date" means the effective date of the Plan which is January 1, 2002.  

2.11. Eligible Employee. "Eligible Employee" means (i) a managing director, a vice president or higher level employee of the Company, or (ii) 
an executive of Logistics, as designated by the Committee, acting on behalf of the Company, and, in either case, whose Base Salary is at least 
$150,000, as adjusted for inflation by the Committee, and who is a member of a group of key management or other highly compensated 
employees of the Company or Logistics within the meaning of Sections 201(2), 301(a)(3) and 401(a)(1) of ERISA.  

2.12. Employment Commencement Date. "Employment Commencement Date" means the first day on which an individual became an employee 
for the Company or Logistics.  

2.13. Enrollment and Distribution Agreement. "Enrollment and Distribution Agreement" means the authorization form which an Eligible 
Employee files annually with the  
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Committee to participate in the applicable Plan Year for making elective deferrals or indicating the timing distributions from his or her 
Accounts.  

2.14. Participant. "Participant" means any Eligible Employee who has elected to defer Compensation or Restricted Shares (as defined below) 
under the Plan in accordance with provisions of Article IV. An individual shall remain a Participant until that individual has received full 
distribution of any amount credited to the Participant's Account.  

2.15. Plan. "Plan" means this Internet Capital Group, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation Plan as described herein and as it may be amended 
from time to time.  

2.16. Plan Year. "Plan Year" means the 12 month period beginning on each January 1 and ending on the following December 31.  

2.17. Restricted Shares. "Restricted Shares" means restricted shares of the Company's common stock that would otherwise vest and be 
transferable to certain Participants in the Plan Year beginning on or after May 1, 2002.  

2.18. Termination Date. "Termination Date" means the date of termination of a Participant's active employment with the Company or Logistics 
without regard to any compensation continuation arrangement.  

2.19. Valuation Funds. "Valuation Funds" means one or more of the independently established funds or indices that are identified by the 
Committee. These Valuation Funds are used solely to calculate the earnings that are credited to each Participant's Account(s) in accordance with 
Article V, below, and do not represent any beneficial interest on the part of the Participant in any asset or other property of the Company. The 
determination of the increase or decrease in the performance of each Valuation Fund shall be made by the Committee in its reasonable 
discretion. Valuation Funds may be replaced, new funds may be added, or both, from time to time at the discretion of the Committee.  

ARTICLE III  

ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN  

3.1. Committee. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee appointed by the Board of Directors. The Board shall designate one of the 
members of the Committee to serve as Chairperson thereof. The Board shall also designate a person to serve as Secretary of the Committee, 
which person may be, but need not be, a member of the Committee. A member of the Committee may resign by delivering a written notice of 
resignation to the Board. The Board, in its sole discretion, may remove any member of the Committee. Vacancies in the membership of the 
Committee shall be filled promptly by the Board.  

3.2. Action by the Committee. A majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at a meeting 
of the Committee and the Committee may delegate any of its functions hereunder. Any action of the Committee may be  
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taken upon the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Committee at a meeting, or at the direction of the Chairperson, without a 
meeting by mail, telegraph, telephone or electronic communication device; provided that all of the members of the Committee are informed of 
their right to vote on the matter before the Committee and of the outcome of the vote thereon.  

3.3. Committee Authority and Duties. The Committee shall have the full power, authority and discretion to construe, interpret and administer the 
Plan, to correct deficiencies therein, to supply omissions, and to make factual determinations. All decisions, actions and interpretations of the 
Committee shall be final, binding and conclusive upon all persons having any interest in the Plan.  

3.4. Compensation, Expenses and Indemnification. Members of the Committee shall receive no compensation for their services as such. All 
reasonable expenses of the Committee shall be paid or reimbursed by the Company upon proper documentation. The Company shall indemnify 
and hold harmless each member of the Committee from any and all claims, losses, damages, expenses (including counsel fees) and liability 
(including any amounts paid in settlement of any claim or any other matter with the consent of the Company) arising from any act or failure to 
act with respect to this Plan on account of such member's service on the Committee, except in the case of gross negligence or willful misconduct. 

ARTICLE IV  

PARTICIPATION  

4.1 Election to Participate. Any Eligible Employee may enroll in the Plan annually by filing a completed and fully executed Enrollment and 
Distribution Agreement with the Committee, electing to defer, in a full percentage, (i) no later than 30 days prior to the first day as of which the 
election is to be effective, his or her Base Salary for the balance of the Plan Year, (ii) on or before October 1 of the current Plan Year, his or her 
Bonus Compensations payable in the next Plan Year, or (iii) no later than 15 days prior to a Plan Year, his or her Restricted Shares that will vest 
in that Plan Year. The Participant shall designate the portion of each such deferral that shall be allocated to the various Accounts and the timing 
of distributions from such Accounts. For the first Plan Year beginning on January 1, 2002, the Enrollment and Execution Agreement must be 
completed, fully executed and filed no later than December 24, 2001. A Participant may elect, in the manner prescribed by the Committee, to 
cease his or her deferral election during a current Plan Year. If such an election to cease deferrals is made for a current Plan Year, a Participant 
shall not be allowed to make further deferrals for the remainder of the current Plan Year nor will he or she be allowed to make deferrals for the 
following Plan Year. A Participant's execution of the Enrollment and Distribution Agreement shall also constitute acknowledgment that all 
decisions, interpretations and determinations by the Committee shall be final and binding on the Company, Participants, Beneficiaries and any 
other persons having or claiming an interest hereunder.  

4.2 Deferral Limits. The maximum amount of Base Salary in a Plan Year that may be deferred shall be seventy-five percent (75%). The 
maximum amount of Bonus Compensation in  
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a Plan Year that may be deferred shall be one hundred percent (100%). The Committee may also establish minimum deferral percentages and 
may change such minimum as well as maximum standards from time to time. Any such limits shall be communicated by the Committee prior to 
the due date for the applicable Enrollment and Distribution Agreement.  

4.3 Period of Commitment. A Participant's Enrollment and Distribution Agreement as to a deferral pursuant to Article IV shall remain in effect 
only for the immediately succeeding Plan Year, unless otherwise allowed by the Committee.  

4.4 New Eligible Employees. The Committee may, in its discretion, permit an employee who first becomes an Eligible Employee after the 
beginning of a Plan Year, to enroll in the Plan for that Plan Year by filing an Enrollment and Distribution Agreement, in accordance with Section 
4.1, as soon as practicable following the date the employee becomes an Eligible Employee but, in any event, within 30 days after the employee 
becomes an Eligible Employee. Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, any election by an Eligible Employee to defer Compensation pursuant 
to this Section shall apply only to Compensation to be paid after the date on which such Enrollment and Distribution Agreement is filed.  

4.5 Change of Status. If a Participant ceases to be employed by the Company as an Eligible Employee, or if the Committee, in its sole discretion, 
determines that the Participant no longer qualifies as a member of a select group of key management or other highly compensated employees 
under ERISA, the Participant's most recent deferral pursuant to Article IV shall terminate, the employee shall be prohibited from making further 
deferrals.  

ARTICLE V  

PARTICIPANT ACCOUNTS  

5.1. Establishment of Accounts. The Company shall establish and maintain separate Accounts with respect to a Participant. The amount of 
Compensation deferred pursuant to Section 4.1 shall be credited by the Company to the Participant's Accounts as soon as practicable after the 
date on which such Compensation would otherwise have been paid, in accordance with the Participant's election. A Participant's Accounts shall 
reflect and be credited with stock units based on the fair market value of the Company's common stock for the Restricted Shares deferred 
pursuant to Section 4.1 that would otherwise have vested in the Plan Year of deferral. The Participant's Accounts shall be reduced by the amount 
of payments made by the Company to the Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary pursuant to this Plan.  

5.2. Earnings (or Losses) on Accounts. In the Plan Year beginning on the Effective Date, a Participant's Accounts shall also be credited with a 
fixed rate of return, equal to the prime rate of interest, as charged by PNC Bank, plus 300 basis points, applied to the Compensation so deferred, 
and a Participant may elect, in the manner prescribed by the Committee, to continue having his or her Accounts credited with that interest rate 
until December 31, 2002. At such time as the Committee designates Valuation Funds for the deemed investment of each Participant's Account 
balance, each Participant's Accounts shall then be  
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credited daily with all deemed earnings (or losses) generated by the Valuation Funds, as elected by the Participant, as if the designated balance of 
the Account had been invested in the applicable Valuation Fund. Notwithstanding that the rates of return credited to Participants' Accounts are 
based upon the actual performance of the corresponding Valuation Funds, the Company shall not be obligated to invest any Compensation 
deferred by Participants under this Plan in such Valuation Funds or in any other investment funds. Upon notice to the Committee in the manner it 
prescribes, a Participant may reallocate the Funds to which his or her Accounts or subsequent Compensation deferred are deemed to be allocated 
on a prospective basis. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, stock units credited to a Participant's Account shall also be deemed 
invested in shares of the Company's common stock, with any dividends paid on actual shares deemed reinvested in additional stock units based 
on the value of the Company's common stock on the day a dividend is paid on such shares.  

5.3. Valuation of Accounts. The value of a Participant's Accounts as of any date shall equal the amounts and stock units theretofore credited to 
such Accounts, including any earnings (positive or negative) deemed to be earned on such Account in accordance with Section 5.2, less the 
amounts theretofore deducted from such Accounts.  

5.4. Statement of Accounts. The Committee shall provide to each Participant, not less frequently than quarterly, a statement in such form as the 
Committee deems desirable setting forth the balance standing to the credit of each Participant's Account(s).  

5.5. Distributions from Accounts. Any distribution made to or on behalf of a Participant from his or her Accounts in an amount which is less 
than the entire balance of any such Account shall be made (i) pro rata from each of the Valuation Funds to which such Account is then allocated 
and (ii) pro rata from the current number of the stock units which shall be converted to cash based on the value of the Company's common shares 
on the day before distribution under the Plan.  

5.6. Vesting. A Participant's Account balances shall be fully vested at all times.  

ARTICLE VI  

BENEFITS TO PARTICIPANTS  

6.1. Benefits from a Retirement Account. Benefits from a Retirement Account shall be paid to a Participant as follows:  

(a) The Participant's Retirement Account shall be distributed in a lump sum as soon as practicable following the Participant's Termination Date. 
Any lump-sum benefit payable in accordance with this Section shall be in an amount equal to the value of such Retirement Account as of the 
business day the Valuation Funds are deemed to be liquidated and stock units are converted into shares of common stock of the Company to 
make the payment.  
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(b) Upon the death of a Participant prior to the commencement of benefits under this Plan from any particular Account, the Participant's 
designated Beneficiary shall be treated as a Participant under  
Section 6.1(a) with the distribution to be made to such Beneficiary.  

6.2. Benefits from an In-Service Account. Benefits under the In-Service Account shall be distributed to the Participant beginning on the date 
chosen by the Participant in the first Enrollment and Distribution Agreement which designated all or a portion of the Compensation deferred to 
be allocated to the In-Service Account or stock units to be allocated to the In-Service Account. In no event shall the date selected be earlier than 
the first day of the third Plan Year following the Plan Year in which the initial filing of the Enrollment and Distribution Agreement was made 
with respect to that In-Service Account. The Participant may, subsequently amend the intended date of payment to a date later than that date 
initially chosen, by filing such amendment with the Committee no later than 12 months prior to the date of payment originally chosen. The 
Participant may file this amendment to defer the receipt of benefits under this Section only twice, and each amendment must provide for a 
payout under this Section at a date later than the election in force immediately prior to a filing of such amendment. The Participant's In-Service 
Distribution Account(s) shall be paid to the Participant in either: (i) one lump sum payment commencing no later than January 31 of the Plan 
Year elected by the Participant in the Enrollment and Distribution Agreement pursuant to which such In-Service Account was established, as it 
may have been amended in accordance with the preceding paragraph; or (ii) annual installments payable over up to four years. Any lump-sum 
benefit payable in accordance with this Section shall be paid no later than January 31 of the Plan Year elected by the Participant in an amount 
equal to the value of such In-Service Account as of the business day the Valuation Funds are deemed to be liquidated and stock units are 
converted into cash to make the payment. Annual installment payments, if any, shall commence no later than January 31 of the Plan Year elected 
by the Participant in an account equal to (iii) the value of such In-Service Account as of the business day the Valuation Funds are deemed to be 
liquidated and stock units are converted into shares of common stock of the Company to make the payment. The remaining annual installments 
shall be paid not later than January 31 of each succeeding Plan Year in an amount equal to (iv) the value of such In-Service Account as of the 
last business day of the immediately preceding Plan Year, divided by (v) the number of installments remaining. In the case of a Participant 
whose Termination Date is prior to the date on which the Participant's In-Service Account(s) would otherwise be distributed, such In-Service 
Account(s) shall be distributed under  
Section 6.1(a) or (b), as applicable without regard to the Participant's elections.  

6.3. Change of Control. In the event of a Change of Control, within 60 days thereafter, a Participant may elect to receive the full value then 
credited to the Participant's Accounts. If a Participant elects to be paid a benefit under this Section 6.3, the lump sum payment due to the 
Participant (or Beneficiary, in the event of the Participant's death) under this Section shall be made in the calendar year following the calendar 
year in which the election is made by the Participant and on the first business day of the seventh month following the date of such election.  

6.4. Unforeseeable Financial Emergency. In the event that the Committee, upon written request of a Participant, determines that the Participant 
has suffered an unforeseeable financial emergency, the Company shall pay to the Participant from the Participant's Account(s), as soon as 
practicable following such determination, an amount necessary to meet the emergency  
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(the "Emergency Benefit"), after deduction of any and all taxes as may be required pursuant to Section 6.6. For purposes of this Plan, an 
unforeseeable financial emergency is an unexpected need for cash arising from an illness, casualty loss, sudden financial reversal, or other such 
unforeseeable occurrence. Cash needs arising from foreseeable events such as the purchase of a house or education expenses for children shall 
not be considered to be the result of an unforeseeable financial emergency. Emergency Benefits shall be paid first from the Participant's In-
Service Accounts, if any, to the extent the balance of one or more of such In-Service Accounts is sufficient to meet the emergency, in the order 
in which such Accounts would otherwise be distributed to the Participant. If the distribution exhausts the In-Service Accounts, the Retirement 
Account may be accessed. With respect to that portion of any Account which is distributed to a Participant as an Emergency Benefit, in 
accordance with this Article, no further benefit shall be payable to the Participant under this Plan. Notwithstanding anything in this Plan to the 
contrary, a Participant who receives an Emergency Benefit in any Plan Year shall not be entitled to make any further deferrals for the remainder 
of such Plan Year. It is intended that the Committee's determination as to whether a Participant has suffered an "unforeseeable financial 
emergency" shall be made consistent with the requirements under section 457(d) of the Code.  

6.5. Withdrawal of Participation. The Participant may elect to cause all or a portion of the Participant's Account balances to be distributed in 
accordance with this Article VI as if the Participant had terminated service with the Company as of the time of such election, except that the 
amount distributed to the Participant shall be reduced by a penalty of ten percent (10%), but not in excess of $50,000. Upon filing of this 
election, any election to defer further Compensation or Restricted Shares for the current Plan Year shall be terminated and the Participant shall 
be prohibited from making any deferrals of Compensation during the Plan Year immediately following the Plan Year in which the withdrawal is 
made.  

6.6. Withholding Taxes. The Company may make such provisions and take such action as it may deem necessary or appropriate for the 
withholding of any taxes which the Company is required by any law or regulation of any governmental authority, whether federal, state or local, 
to withhold in connection with any benefits under the Plan, including, but not limited to, the withholding of appropriate sums from any amount 
otherwise payable to the Participant (or his or her Beneficiary). Each Participant, however, shall be responsible for the payment of all individual 
tax liabilities relating to any such benefits.  

6.7. Effect of Payment. The full payment of the applicable benefit under this Article VI shall completely discharge all obligations on the part of 
the Company to the Participant (and the Participant's Beneficiary) with respect to the operation of this Plan, and the Participant's (and 
Participant's Beneficiary's) rights under this Plan shall terminate.  
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ARTICLE VII  

CLAIMS PROCEDURES  

7.1. Claim. A Participant who believes that he or she is being denied a benefit to which he or she is entitled under the Plan may file a written 
request for such benefit with the Committee, setting forth the claim.  

7.2. Claim Decision. Upon receipt of a claim, the Committee shall advise the Participant that a reply will be forthcoming within 90 days and 
shall, in fact, deliver such reply within such period. The Committee may, however, extend the reply period for an additional 90 days for 
reasonable cause.  

(a) If the claim is denied in whole or in part, the Participant shall be provided a written opinion, using language calculated to be understood by 
the Participant, setting forth:  

(i) the specific reason or reasons for such denial;  

(ii) the specific reference to relevant provisions of this Plan on which such denial is based;  

(iii) a description of any additional material or information necessary for the Participant to perfect his or her claim and an explanation why such 
material or such information is necessary;  

(iv) appropriate information as to the steps to be taken if the Participant wishes to submit the claim for review;  

(v) the time limits for requesting a review under Section 7.3 and for review under Section 7.4 hereof; and  

(vi) the Participant's right to bring an action for benefits under Section 502 of ERISA.  

7.3. Request for Review. Within 60 days after the receipt by the Participant of the written opinion described above, the Participant may request 
in writing that the Committee review the determination of the Committee. The Participant or his or her duly authorized representative may, but 
need not, review the relevant documents and submit issues and comment in writing for consideration by the Committee. If the Participant does 
not request a review of the initial determination within such 60-day period, the Participant shall be barred and stopped from challenging the 
determination.  

7.4. Review of Decision. After considering all materials presented by the Participant, the Committee will render a written opinion, setting forth 
the specific reasons for the decision and containing specific references to the relevant provisions of this Plan on which the decision is based. The 
Committee shall within 30 days of receipt of the Participant's request for review shall schedule a meeting to review the Participant's request.  
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ARTICLE VIII  

MISCELLANEOUS  

8.1. Protective Provisions. Each Participant and Beneficiary shall cooperate with the Committee by furnishing any and all information requested 
by the Committee in order to facilitate the payment of benefits hereunder. If a Participant or Beneficiary refuses to cooperate with the 
Committee, the Company shall have no further obligation to the Participant or Beneficiary under the Plan, other than payment of the then-current 
balance of the Participant's Accounts in accordance with prior elections.  

8.2. Inability to Locate Participant or Beneficiary. In the event that the Committee is unable to locate a Participant or Beneficiary within two 
years following the date the Participant was to commence receiving payment, the entire amount allocated to the Participant's Accounts shall be 
forfeited. If, after such forfeiture, the Participant or Beneficiary later claims such benefit, such benefit shall be reinstated without interest or 
earnings from the date payment was to commence pursuant to Article VI.  

8.3. Designation of Beneficiary. Each Participant may designate in writing a Beneficiary or Beneficiaries (which Beneficiary may be an entity 
other than a natural person) to receive any payments which may be made following the Participant's death. No Beneficiary designation shall 
become effective until it is in writing and it is filed with the Committee. Such designation may be changed or canceled by the Participant at any 
time without the consent of any such Beneficiary. Any such designation, change or cancellation must be made in a form approved by the 
Committee and shall not be effective until received by the Committee, or its designee. A Beneficiary designation under the Plan may be separate 
from all other retirement-type plans sponsored by the Company. If a Participant designates more than one Beneficiary, the interests of such 
Beneficiaries shall be paid in equal shares, unless the Participant has specifically designated otherwise. If there is no Beneficiary designation in 
effect, or if there is no surviving designated Beneficiary, then the Participant's surviving spouse shall be the Beneficiary. If there is no surviving 
spouse to receive any benefits payable in accordance with the preceding sentence, the duly appointed and currently acting personal 
representative of the participant's estate (which shall include either the Participant's probate estate or living trust) shall be the Beneficiary. In any 
case where there is no such personal representative of the Participant's estate duly appointed and acting in that capacity within 90 days after the 
Participant's death (or such extended period as the Committee determines is reasonably necessary to allow such personal representative to be 
appointed, but not to exceed 180 days after the Participant's death), then Beneficiary shall mean the person or persons who can verify by affidavit 
or court order to the satisfaction of the Committee that they are legally entitled to receive the benefits specified hereunder. In the event any 
amount is payable under the Plan to a minor, payment shall not be made to the minor, but instead be paid (i) to that person's living parent(s) to 
act as custodian, (ii) if that person's parents are then divorced, and one parent is the sole custodial parent, to such custodial parent, or (iii) if no 
parent of that person is then living, to a custodian selected by the Committee to hold the funds for the minor under the Uniform Transfers or 
Gifts to Minors Act in effect in the jurisdiction in which the minor resides. If no parent is living and the Committee decides not to select another 
custodian to hold the funds for the minor, then payment shall be made to the duly appointed and  
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currently acting guardian of the estate for the minor or, if no guardian of the estate for the minor is duly appointed and currently acting within 60 
days after the date the amount becomes payable, payment shall be deposited with the court having jurisdiction over the estate of the minor.  

8.4. No Contract of Employment. Neither the establishment of the Plan, nor any modification thereof, nor the creation of any fund, trust or 
account, nor the payment of any benefits shall be construed as giving any Participant or any person whosoever, the right to be retained in the 
service of the Company, and all Participants and other employees shall remain subject to discharge to the same extent as if the Plan had never 
been adopted.  

8.5. No Limitation on Company Actions. Nothing contained in the Plan shall be construed to prevent the Company from taking any action which 
is deemed by it to be appropriate or in its best interest. No Participant, Beneficiary, or other person shall have any claim against the Company as 
a result of such action.  

8.6. Obligations to Company. If a Participant becomes entitled to a distribution of benefits under the Plan, and if at such time the Participant has 
outstanding any debt, obligation, or other liability representing an amount owing to the Company, then the Company may offset such amount 
owed to it against the amount of benefits otherwise distributable. Such determination shall be made by the Committee.  

8.7. Nonalienation of Benefits. The Company shall pay all amounts payable hereunder only to the person or persons designated by the Plan and 
not to any other person or corporation. No part of a Participant's Accounts shall be liable for the debts, contracts, or engagements of any 
Participant, his or her Beneficiary, or successors in interest, nor shall a Participant's Accounts be subject to execution by levy, attachment, or 
garnishment or by any other legal or equitable proceeding, nor shall any such person have any right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, 
encumber, or assign any benefits or payments hereunder in any manner whatsoever. If any Participant, Beneficiary or successor in interest is 
adjudicated bankrupt or purports to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber or charge any distribution or payment from the 
Plan, voluntarily or involuntarily, the Committee, in its discretion, may cancel such distribution or payment (or any part thereof) to or for the 
benefit of such Participant, Beneficiary or successor in interest in such mariner as the Committee shall direct. The Company's obligations under 
this Plan are not assignable or transferable except to (a) any corporation or partnership which acquires all or substantially all of the Company's 
assets or (b) any corporation or partnership into which the Company may be merged or consolidated. The provisions of the Plan shall inure to the 
benefit of each Participant and the Participant's Beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administrators or successors in interest.  

8.8. Unfunded Status of Plan. The Plan is intended to constitute an "unfunded" deferred compensation plan for Participants. Nothing contained in 
the Plan, and no action taken pursuant to the Plan, shall create or be construed to create a trust of any kind. The Company shall reflect in 
Accounts on its books the Participants' interests hereunder, but no Participant or any other person shall under any circumstances acquire any 
property interest in any specific assets of the Company. Nothing contained in this Plan and no action taken pursuant hereto shall create or be 
construed to create a fiduciary relationship between the Company and any Participant  
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or other person. A Participant's right to receive payments under the Plan shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured general creditor of the 
Company. Except to the extent that the Board determines that a "rabbi" trust may be established in connection with the Plan, all payments shall 
be made from the general funds of the Company, and no special or separate fund shall be established and no segregation of assets shall be made 
to assure payment.  

8.9. Severability of Provisions. If any provision of this Plan shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not 
affect any other provisions hereof, and this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such provisions had not been included.  

8.10. Governing Law. This Plan shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to the 
extent not superseded by federal law, without reference to the principles of conflict of laws.  

8.11. Headings and Captions. The headings and captions herein are provided for reference and convenience only, shall not be considered part of 
the Plan, and shall not be employed in the construction of the Plan.  

8.12. Gender, Singular and Plural. All pronouns and any variations thereof shall be deemed to refer to the masculine, feminine, or neuter, as the 
identity of the person or persons may require. As the context may require, the singular may read as the plural and the plural as the singular.  

8.13. Notice. Any notice or filing required or permitted to be given to the Committee under the Plan shall be sufficient if in writing and hand 
delivered, or sent by registered or certified mail, to the Company's Vice President - Human Resources, or to such other person or entity as the 
Committee may designate from time to time. Such notice shall be deemed given as to the date of delivery, or, if delivery is made by mail, as of 
the date shown on the postmark on the receipt for registration or certification.  

8.14. Amendment and Termination. The Plan may be amended, suspended, or terminated at any time by the Board; provided, however, that no 
such amendment, suspension or termination shall reduce or in any manner adversely effect the rights of any Participant with respect to benefits 
payable or may become payable under the Plan; and provided, further, that upon a termination of the Plan the Company may immediately 
liquidate the Plan and pay all benefits whether or not a Participant has reached his or her Termination Date.  
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EXHIBIT 10.3  

LOGISTICS.COM, INC.  

2001 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN  

The purpose of the Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (the "Plan") is to provide (i) designated employees of Logistics.com, Inc. 
(the "Company") and its affiliates or subsidiaries, (ii) designated employees of entities in which the Company has a greater than 50% ownership 
interest, (iii) certain advisors and consultants who perform services for the Company, its affiliates or its subsidiaries, and (iv) non-employee 
members of the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") with the opportunity to receive grants of nonqualified options, share 
appreciation rights, restricted shares, performance shares, dividend equivalent rights and cash awards. The Company believes that the Plan will 
encourage the participants to contribute materially to the growth of the Company, thereby benefiting both the Company's stockholders and 
Internet Capital Group, Inc.'s ("ICG") stockholders, and will align the economic interests of the participants with those of the Company's 
stockholders and ICG's stockholders.  

1. ADMINISTRATION  

(a) Committee. The Plan shall be administered and interpreted by a committee appointed by the Board (the "Committee"). The Committee may 
consist of two or more persons appointed by the Board, all of whom may be "non-employee directors" as defined under Rule 16b-3 promulgated 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). However, the Board may ratify or approve any grants as it or the 
Committee deems appropriate. To the extent that the Board ratifies or approves grants, references in the Plan to the "Committee" shall be 
deemed to refer to the Board.  

(b) Committee Authority. The Committee shall have the sole authority to (i) determine the individuals to whom grants shall be made under the 
Plan, (ii) determine the type, size and terms of the grants to be made to each such individual, (iii) determine the time when the grants will be 
made and the duration of any applicable exercise or restriction period, including the criteria for exercisability and the acceleration of 
exercisability, (iv) amend the terms of any previously issued grant, and (v) make all determinations with respect to any other matters arising 
under the Plan.  

(c) Committee Determinations. The Committee shall have full power and authority to administer and interpret the Plan, to make factual 
determinations, and to adopt or amend such rules, regulations, agreements and instruments for implementing the Plan and for the conduct of its 
business as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion. The Committee's interpretations of the Plan and all determinations made by the 
Committee pursuant to the powers vested in it hereunder shall be conclusive and binding on all persons having any interest in the Plan or in any 
awards granted hereunder. All powers of the Committee shall be executed in its sole discretion, in the best interest of the Company, not as a 
fiduciary, and in keeping with the  



objectives of the Plan. Determinations made by the Committee under the Plan need not be uniform as to similarly situated individuals.  

2. GRANTS  

Awards under the Plan may consist of grants of (i) nonqualified options as described in Section 5 ("Nonqualified Options" or "Options"), (ii) 
stock appreciation rights as described in Section 6 ("SARs"), (iii) restricted shares as described in Section 7 ("Restricted Shares"), (iv) 
performance shares as described in Section 8 ("Performance Shares"), (v) dividend equivalent rights as described in Section 9 ("Dividend 
Equivalent Rights"), and (vi) cash awards as described in Section 10 ("Cash Awards") (hereinafter collectively referred to as "Grants"). All 
Grants shall be subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein and to such other terms and conditions consistent with the Plan as the 
Committee deems appropriate and as are specified in writing by the Committee to the individual in a grant instrument (the "Grant Instrument") 
or an amendment to the Grant Instrument. The Committee shall approve the form and provisions of each Grant Instrument. Grants under a 
particular Section of the Plan need not be uniform as among the grant recipients (the "Grantees").  

3. SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN  

(a) Shares Authorized. For purposes of the Plan, a Share means one share of common stock of ICG, par value $0.001. Subject to adjustments as 
provided in Section 3(b) below, the aggregate number of Shares of ICG that may be issued or transferred under the Plan is 5,000,000 Shares. The 
Shares may be authorized but unissued Shares or reacquired Shares, including Shares purchased by ICG or the Company on the open market for 
purposes of the Plan. If and to the extent Options or SARs granted under the Plan terminate, expire, or are canceled, forfeited, exchanged or 
surrendered without having been exercised, or if any Restricted Shares or Performance Shares are forfeited, the Shares subject to such Grants 
shall again be available for purposes of the Plan.  

(b) Adjustments. If there is any change in the number or kind of Shares outstanding (i) by reason of a dividend, spin-off, recapitalization, split or 
combination or exchange of Shares, (ii) by reason of a merger, reorganization or consolidation in which ICG is the surviving corporation, (iii) by 
reason of a reclassification or change in par value, or (iv) by reason of any other extraordinary or unusual event affecting the outstanding Shares 
of ICG as a class without ICG's receipt of consideration, or if the value of outstanding Shares is substantially reduced as a result of a spin-off of 
ICG or ICG's payment of an extraordinary dividend or distribution, the maximum number of Shares available for Grants, the number of Shares 
covered by outstanding Grants, the kind of Shares issued under the Plan, and the price per Share or the applicable market value of such Grants 
may be appropriately adjusted by the Committee to reflect any increase or decrease in the number of, or change in the kind or value of, issued 
Shares to preclude, to the extent practicable, the enlargement or dilution of rights and benefits under such Grants; provided, however, that any 
fractional Shares resulting from such adjustment shall be eliminated. Any adjustments determined by the Committee shall be conclusive and 
binding on all persons having any interest in the Plan or in any awards granted hereunder. Any Shares, other securities or other property 
distributed to a Grantee, or which a Grantee is entitled to receive, in respect of  
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Restricted Shares, which are then subject to restrictions imposed by Section 7, by reason of any the events described in clauses (i), (ii), (iii), or 
(iv) above shall be subject to the restrictions and requirements imposed on such Restricted Shares, including depositing the certificates therefor 
with the Company and bearing a legend as provided in Section 7(d), unless determined otherwise by the Committee.  

4. ELIGIBILITY FOR PARTICIPATION  

(a) Eligible Persons. All employees of the Company, its parents and its subsidiaries, and entities in which the Company has a greater than 50% 
ownership interest ("Employees"), including persons who have accepted employment with the Company or any parent or subsidiary, Employees 
who are officers or members of the Board, and members of the Board who are not Employees ("Non-Employee Directors"), shall be eligible to 
participate in the Plan. Advisors and consultants who perform services to the Company or any of its parents or its subsidiaries ("Key Advisors") 
shall be eligible to participate in the Plan if the Key Advisors render bona fide services to the Company or its parent or subsidiary, the services 
are not in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction, and the Key Advisors do not directly or indirectly 
promote or maintain a market for the Company's securities. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to contrary, in no event shall officers and 
directors of ICG be eligible to receive grants under this Plan.  

(b) Selection of Grantees. The Committee shall select the Employees, Non-Employee Directors and Key Advisors to receive Grants and shall 
determine the number of Shares subject to a particular Grant in such manner as the Committee determines.  

5. OPTIONS  

(a) Number of Shares. The Committee shall determine the number of Shares that will be subject to each Grant of Options to Employees, Non-
Employee Directors and Key Advisors.  

(b) Type of Option and Price.  

(i) All Options shall be Nonqualified Stock Options, which are not intended to qualify as "incentive stock options" within the meaning of section 
422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"). The Committee may grant Options in accordance with the terms and 
conditions herein set forth. Nonqualified Options may be granted to Employees, Non-Employee Directors and Key Advisors.  

(ii) The purchase price (the "Exercise Price") of Shares subject to an Option shall be determined by the Committee and may be equal to, greater 
than, or less than the Fair Market Value (as defined below) of a Share on the date the Option is granted.  

(iii) If the Shares are publicly traded, then the Fair Market Value per Share shall be determined as follows: (x) if the principal trading market for 
the Shares is a national securities exchange or the Nasdaq National Market, the last reported sale price thereof on the preceding date or, if there 
were no trades on that date, the latest preceding  
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date upon which a sale was reported, or (y) if the Shares are not principally traded on such exchange or market, the mean between the last 
reported "bid" and "asked" prices of a Share on the preceding date, as reported on Nasdaq or, if not so reported, as reported by the National Daily 
Quotation Bureau, Inc. or as reported in a customary financial reporting service, as applicable and as the Committee determines. If the Shares are 
not publicly traded or, if publicly traded, are not subject to reported transactions or "bid" or "asked" quotations as set forth above, the Fair 
Market Value per Share shall be as determined in good faith by the Committee; provided that, if the Shares are publicly traded, the Committee 
may make such discretionary determinations where the shares have not been traded for 10 trading days.  

(c) Option Term. The Committee shall determine the term of each Option. The term of any Option shall not exceed ten years from the date of 
grant.  

(d) Vesting and Exercisability of Options.  

(i) Vesting. Options shall vest in accordance with such terms and conditions as may be determined by the Committee and specified in the Grant 
Instrument or an amendment to the Grant Instrument. The Committee may accelerate the vesting of any or all outstanding Options at any time 
for any reason.  

(ii) Exercisability. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Option may, but need not, include a provision whereby the Grantee may elect at any time 
while an Employee, Non-Employee Director or Key Advisor to exercise the Option as to any part or all of the Shares subject to the Option prior 
to the full vesting of the Option. Any unvested Shares so purchased shall be subject to a repurchase right in favor of the Company, with the 
repurchase price to be equal to the lesser of (x) the original purchase price or (y) the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the date of such 
repurchase, or to any other restriction the Committee determines to be appropriate.  

(e) Termination of Employment, Retirement, Disability or Death.  

(i) Except as provided below and subject to the provisions of the Grant Instrument, an Option may only be exercised while the Grantee is an 
Employee, Key Advisor or member of the Board. In the event that a Grantee has a Termination of Service (as defined below) for any reason 
other than Retirement (as defined below), Disability (as defined below), death or Cause (as defined below), any Option which is otherwise 
exercisable by the Grantee shall terminate unless exercised within 90 days after the date of such termination (or within such other period of time 
as may be specified by the Committee), but in any event no later than the date of expiration of the Option term. Except as otherwise provided by 
the Committee, any of the Grantee's Options that are not otherwise exercisable as of the date on which the Grantee has such a Termination of 
Service shall terminate as of such date.  

(ii) In the event the Grantee has a Termination of Service on account of a termination for Cause by the Company, unless otherwise determined 
by the Committee  
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(x) any Option held by the Grantee shall terminate as of the date of such Termination of Service and (y) the Grantee shall automatically forfeit 
all Shares underlying any exercised portion of an Option for which the Company has not yet delivered the certificates, upon refund by the 
Company of the Exercise Price paid by the Grantee for such Shares.  

(iii) In the event the Grantee has a Termination of Service on account of Retirement, any Option which is otherwise exercisable by the Grantee 
shall terminate unless exercised within three years after the date of such Termination of Service (or within such other period of time as may be 
specified by the Committee), but in any event no later than the date of expiration of the Option term. Except as otherwise provided by the 
Committee, any of the Grantee's Options which are not otherwise exercisable as of the date of such Termination of Service shall terminate as of 
such date.  

(iv) In the event the Grantee has a Termination of Service on account of Disability, any Option which is otherwise exercisable by the Grantee 
shall terminate unless exercised within three years after the date of such Termination of Service (or within such other period of time as may be 
specified by the Committee), but in any event no later than the date of expiration of the Option term. Except as otherwise provided by the 
Committee, any of the Grantee's Options which are not otherwise exercisable as of the date of such Termination of Service shall terminate as of 
such date.  

(v) If the Grantee dies while an Employee, Key Advisor or member of the Board or within 90 days after the date on which the Grantee has a 
Termination of Service specified in Section 5(e)(i) above (or within such other period of time as may be specified by the Committee), any 
Option that is otherwise exercisable by the Grantee shall terminate unless exercised within three years after the date of such death or Termination 
of Service (or within such other period of time as may be specified by the Committee), but in any event no later than the date of expiration of the 
Option term. Except as otherwise provided by the Committee, any of the Grantee's Options that are not otherwise exercisable as of the date of 
such Termination of Service shall terminate as of such date.  

(vi) For purposes of Sections 5(e), 6, 7 and 8 of the Plan:  

(A) "Cause" shall mean, except to the extent specified otherwise by the Committee, a finding by the Committee that (1) the Grantee has breached 
his or her employment, service, noncompetition, nonsolicitation or other similar contract with the Company or its parent and subsidiary 
corporations, (2) has been engaged in disloyalty to the Company or its parent and subsidiary corporations, including, without limitation, fraud, 
embezzlement, theft, commission of a felony or dishonesty in the course of his or her employment or service, (3) has disclosed trade secrets or 
confidential information of the Company or its parents and subsidiary corporations to persons not entitled to receive such information or (4) has 
entered into competition with the Company or its parent or subsidiary corporations. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Grantee has an 
employment  
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agreement with the Company defining "Cause," then such definition shall supersede the foregoing definition.  

(B) "Company" shall mean the Company and its parent and subsidiary corporations or other entities, as determined by the Committee.  

(C) "Disability" shall mean a Grantee's becoming disabled within the meaning of section 22(e)(3) of the Code.  

(D) "Retirement" shall mean a Grantee's Termination of Service with the consent of the Company after the attainment of age 55 and pursuant to 
the Company's retirement plan.  

(E) "Termination of Service" shall mean a Grantee's termination of employment or service as an Employee, Key Advisor or member of the 
Board (so that, for purposes of the Plan, cessation of service as an Employee, Key Advisor and member of the Board shall not be treated as a 
Termination of Service if the Grantee continues without interruption to serve thereafter in another one (or more) of such other capacities) unless 
the Committee determines otherwise.  

(f) Exercise of Options. A Grantee may exercise an Option that has become exercisable, in whole or in part, by delivering a notice of exercise to 
the Company with payment of the Exercise Price. The Grantee shall pay the Exercise Price for an Option as specified by the Committee (x) in 
cash, (y) by delivering Shares owned by the Grantee for the period necessary to avoid a charge to the Company's earnings for financial reporting 
purposes and to avoid adverse accounting consequences to the Company (including Shares acquired in connection with the exercise of an 
Option, subject to such restrictions as the Committee deems appropriate) and having a Fair Market Value on the date of exercise equal to the 
Exercise Price, or by attestation (on a form prescribed by the Committee) to ownership of Shares having a Fair Market Value on the date of 
exercise equal to the Exercise Price, or (z) by such other method as the Committee may approve, including, payment through a broker in 
accordance with procedures permitted by Regulation T of the Federal Reserve Board; provided, that, for purposes of assisting a Grantee to 
exercise an Option, the Company may make loans to the Grantee or guarantee loans made by third parties to the Grantee, on such terms and 
conditions as the Committee may authorize. The Grantee shall pay the Exercise Price at the time of exercise and shall satisfy the withholding tax 
requirements of Section 12.  

6. STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS  

(a) General Requirements. The Committee may grant SARs to an Employee, Non-Employee Director or Key Advisor separately from or in 
tandem with any Option (for all or a portion of the applicable Option). Tandem SARs may be granted either at the time the Option is granted or 
at any time thereafter while the Option remains outstanding. The Committee shall establish the base amount of the SAR at the time the SAR is 
granted. Unless the Committee determines otherwise, the base amount of each SAR shall be equal to the per Share Exercise  
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Price of the related Option or, if there is no related Option, the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the date of grant of the SAR.  

(b) Tandem SARs. In the case of tandem SARs, the number of SARs granted to a Grantee that shall be exercisable during a specified period shall 
not exceed the number of Shares that the Grantee may purchase upon the exercise of the related Option during such period. Upon the exercise of 
an Option, the SARs relating to the Shares purchased pursuant to an Option shall terminate. Upon the exercise of SARs, the related Option shall 
terminate to the extent of an equal number of Shares.  

(c) Exercisability. An SAR shall be exercisable during the period specified by the Committee in the Grant Instrument and shall be subject to such 
vesting and other restrictions as may be specified in the Grant Instrument. The Committee may accelerate the exercisability of any or all 
outstanding SARs at any time for any reason. SARs may only be exercised while the Grantee is as an Employee, Key Advisor or member of the 
Board or during the applicable period after Termination of Service as described in Section 5(e). A tandem SAR shall be exercisable only during 
the period when the Option to which it is related is also exercisable. No SAR may be exercised for cash by an executive officer or director of the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries who is subject to section 16 of the Exchange Act, except in accordance with Rule 16b-3 under the Exchange 
Act.  

(d) Value of SARs. When a Grantee exercises an SAR, the Grantee shall receive in settlement of such SAR an amount, payable in cash, Shares 
or a combination thereof, as determined by the Committee, equal to the amount by which the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of 
exercise of the SAR exceeds the base amount of the SAR as described in Section 6(a).  

(e) Form of Payment. The Committee shall determine whether the appreciation in an SAR shall be paid in the form of cash, Shares, or a 
combination of the two, in such proportion as the Committee deems appropriate. For purposes of calculating the number of Shares to be 
received, Shares shall be valued at their Fair Market Value on the date of exercise of the SAR. If Shares are to be received upon exercise of a 
SAR, cash shall be delivered in lieu of any fractional Share.  

7. RESTRICTED SHARES  

The Committee may issue or transfer Shares to an Employee, Non-Employee Director or Key Advisor under a Grant of Restricted Shares, upon 
such terms as the Committee deems appropriate. The following provisions are applicable to Restricted Shares:  

(a) General Requirements. Shares issued or transferred pursuant to Restricted Share Grants may be issued or transferred for consideration or for 
no consideration, as determined by the Committee. The Committee may establish conditions under which restrictions on Restricted Shares shall 
lapse over a period of time or according to such other criteria as the Committee deems appropriate. The period of time during which the 
Restricted Shares will remain subject to restrictions will be designated in the Grant Instrument as the "Restriction Period."  

7  



(b) Number of Shares. The Committee shall determine the number of Restricted Shares to be issued or transferred and the restrictions applicable 
to such Grant.  

(c) Requirement of Employment or Service. If the Grantee has a Termination of Service during a period designated in the Grant Instrument as 
the Restriction Period, or if other specified conditions are not met, the Restricted Share Grant shall terminate as to all Shares covered by the 
Grant as to which the restrictions have not lapsed, and those Shares must be immediately returned to the Company, and the Company shall 
refund to the Grantee the lesser of (x) the consideration, if any, paid by the Grantee for such Shares and (y) the Fair Market Value of the Shares 
as of the date of such Termination of Service. The Committee may, however, provide for complete or partial exceptions to these requirements as 
it deems appropriate.  

(d) Restrictions on Transfer and Legend on Certificate. During the Restriction Period, a Grantee may not sell, assign, transfer, pledge or 
otherwise dispose of the Restricted Shares except as permitted under Section 13. Each certificate for Restricted Shares shall contain a legend 
giving appropriate notice of the restrictions in the Grant. The Grantee shall be entitled to have the legend removed from the certificate covering 
the Restricted Shares subject to restrictions when all restrictions on such Shares have lapsed. The Committee may determine that the Company 
will not issue certificates for Restricted Shares until all restrictions on such Shares have lapsed, or that the Company will retain possession of 
certificates for Restricted Shares until all restrictions on such Shares have lapsed.  

(e) Right to Vote and to Receive Dividends. Unless the Committee determines otherwise, during the Restriction Period, the Grantee shall have 
the right to vote Restricted Shares and to receive any dividends or other distributions paid on such Shares, subject to any restrictions deemed 
appropriate by the Committee, including, without limitation, the achievement of specific performance goals.  

(f) Lapse of Restrictions. All restrictions imposed on Restricted Shares shall lapse upon the expiration of the applicable Restriction Period and 
the satisfaction of all conditions imposed by the Committee. The Committee may determine, as to any or all Restricted Share Grants, that the 
restrictions shall lapse without regard to any Restriction Period.  

8. PERFORMANCE SHARES  

(a) General Requirements. The Committee may grant Performance Shares ("Performance Shares") to an Employee or Key Advisor. Each 
Performance Share shall represent the right of the Grantee to receive an amount based on the value of the Performance Share, if performance 
goals established by the Committee are met. The value of a Performance Share shall be based on the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the date 
of payment in respect of such Performance Share is to be made or on such other measurement base as the Committee deems appropriate. The 
Committee shall determine the number of Performance Shares to be granted and the requirements applicable to such Shares.  

(b) Performance Period and Performance Goals. When Performance Shares are granted, the Committee shall establish the performance period 
during which performance shall  
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be measured (the "Performance Period"), performance goals applicable to the Shares ("Performance Goals"), if any, and such other conditions of 
the Grant as the Committee deems appropriate. Performance Goals may relate to the financial performance of the Company or its operating 
shares, the performance of Shares, individual performance, or such other criteria as the Committee deems appropriate.  

(c) Payment with Respect to Performance Shares. At the end of each Performance Period, the Committee shall determine to what extent the 
Performance Goals and other conditions of the Performance Shares have been met and the amount, if any, to be paid with respect to the 
Performance Shares. Payments with respect to Performance Shares shall be made in cash, in Shares, or in a combination of the two, as 
determined by the Committee. Any fractional Performance Share shall be paid in cash. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, any 
Performance Shares with respect to which the Committee determines that the applicable Performance Goals or other conditions have not been 
met within the Performance Period shall be forfeited.  

(d) Requirement of Employment or Service. If the Grantee has a Termination of Service during a Performance Period, or if other conditions 
established by the Committee are not met, the Grantee's Performance Shares shall be forfeited. The Committee may, however, provide for 
complete or partial exceptions to this requirement as it deems appropriate.  

(e) Restrictions on Transfer. Rights to payments with respect to Performance Shares granted under the Plan shall not be subject in any manner to 
anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, attachment, garnishment, levy, execution, or other legal or equitable 
process, either voluntary or involuntary; and any attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber, attach or garnish, or levy 
or execute on any right to benefits payable hereunder, shall be void.  

(f) Limited Rights. Performance Shares are solely a device for the measurement and determination of the amounts to be paid to a Grantee under 
the Plan. Each Grantee's right in the Performance Shares is limited to the right to receive payment, if any, as may herein be provided. The 
Performance Shares do not constitute Shares and shall not be treated as (or as giving rise to) property or as a trust fund of any kind; provided, 
however, that the Company may establish a mere bookkeeping reserve to meet its obligations hereunder or a trust or other funding vehicle that 
would not cause the Plan to be deemed to be funded for tax purposes or for purposes of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
of 1974, as amended. The right of any Grantee of Performance Shares to receive payments by virtue of participation in the Plan shall be no 
greater than the right of any unsecured general creditor of the Company. Nothing contained in the Plan shall be construed to give any Grantee 
any rights with respect to Shares or any ownership interest in the Company. Except as may be provided in accordance with Section 9, no 
provision of the Plan shall be interpreted to confer upon any Grantee any voting, dividend or derivative or other similar rights with respect to any 
Performance Share.  

9. DIVIDEND EQUIVALENT RIGHTS  
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(a) General Requirements. The Committee may grant Dividend Equivalent Rights to Employees Non-Employee Directors and Key Advisors. 
Each Dividend Equivalent Right shall represent the right to receive, either credits for or payments of, amounts based on the dividends declared 
on Shares, to be credited or paid as of the dividend payment dates, during the term of the Dividend Equivalent Right as determined by the 
Committee.  

(b) Certain Terms. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee, a Dividend Equivalent Right is exercisable or payable only while the Grantee 
is an Employee, member of the Board or Key Advisor. Payment of the amount determined in accordance with Section 9(a) shall be in cash, in 
Shares or a combination of the two, as determined by the Committee. The Committee may impose such other terms conditions on the grant of a 
Dividend Equivalent Right as it deems appropriate in its discretion as reflected by the terms of the Grant Instrument.  

(c) Dividend Equivalent Right with Other Grants. The Committee may establish a program under which Dividend Equivalent Rights may be 
granted in conjunction with other Grants. For example, and without limitation, the Committee may grant a Dividend Equivalent Right in respect 
of each Share subject to an Option or with respect to a Performance Share, which right would consist of the right to receive a cash payment in an 
amount equal to the dividend distributions paid on a Share from time to time.  

(d) Deferral. The Committee may establish a program under which the payments with respect to Dividend Equivalent Rights may be deferred. 
Such program may include, without limitation, provisions for the crediting of earnings and losses on unpaid amounts, and, if permitted by the 
Committee, provisions under which Grantees may select from among hypothetical investment alternatives for such deferred amounts in 
accordance with procedures established by the Committee.  

10. CASH AWARDS  

The Committee may grant Cash Awards to Employees, Non-Employee Directors and Key Advisors. The cash payment due upon settlement of a 
Cash Award shall be based on the attainment of performance goals and shall be subject to such other conditions, restrictions and contingencies as 
the Committee shall determine as reflected by the terms of the Grant Instrument.  

11. DEFERRALS  

The Committee may permit or require a Grantee to defer receipt of the payment of cash or the delivery of shares that would otherwise be due to 
such Grantee in connection with any Option or SAR, the lapse or waiver of restrictions applicable to Restricted Shares, the satisfaction of any 
requirements or objectives with respect to Performance Shares, or the payment of cash with respect to Cash Awards. If any such deferral election 
is permitted or required, the Committee shall, in its sole discretion, establish rules and procedures for such deferrals.  

12. WITHHOLDING OF TAXES  
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(a) Required Withholding. The Company shall be entitled to withhold from any payments or deemed payments any amount of tax withholding 
(including all federal, state and local taxes) determined by the Committee to be required by law. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 
the Committee may, in its discretion, require the Grantee to pay to the Company at such time as the Committee determines the amount that the 
Committee deems necessary to satisfy the Company's obligation to withhold federal, state or local income or other taxes incurred by reason of (i) 
the exercise of any Option or SAR, (ii) the lapsing of any restrictions applicable to any Restricted Shares, (iii) the receipt of a payment in respect 
of Performance Shares, Dividend Equivalent Rights or Cash Awards or (iv) any other applicable income recognition event (for example, an 
election under section 83(b) of the Code). Notwithstanding anything contained in the Plan to the contrary, the Grantee's satisfaction of any tax-
withholding requirements imposed by the Committee shall be a condition precedent to the Company's obligation as may otherwise be provided 
hereunder to provide Shares to the Grantee and to the release of any restrictions as may otherwise be provided hereunder, as applicable; and the 
applicable options, SARs, Restricted Shares, Performance Shares or Dividend Equivalent Rights shall be forfeited upon the failure of the 
Grantee to satisfy such requirements with respect to, as applicable, (i) the exercise of the option or SAR, (ii) the lapsing of restrictions on the 
Restricted Share (or other income recognition event) or (iii) payments in respect of any Performance Share or Dividend Equivalent Right.  

(b) Election to Withhold Shares. If the Committee so permits, a Grantee may make a written election to satisfy the Company's income tax 
withholding obligation with respect to an Option, an SAR, Restricted Shares, Performance Shares or Dividend Equivalent Rights paid in Shares 
by having Shares withheld by the Company from the Shares otherwise to be received, or to deliver previously owned Shares (not subject to 
restrictions hereunder). In the event that the Committee permits and Grantee makes such an election, the number of Shares so withheld or 
delivered shall have an aggregate Fair Market Value on the date of exercise that does not exceed the Grantee's minimum withholding tax rate for 
federal (including FICA), state and local tax liabilities. The election must be in a form and manner prescribed by the Committee and shall be 
subject to the prior approval of the Committee.  

13. TRANSFERABILITY OF GRANTS  

(a) In General. Except as provided in Section 13(b), only the Grantee may exercise rights under a Grant during the Grantee's lifetime. A Grantee 
may not transfer those rights except by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, or, if permitted in any specific case by the Committee, 
pursuant to a domestic relations order. When a Grantee dies, the personal representative or other person entitled to succeed to the rights of the 
Grantee ("Successor Grantee") may exercise such rights in accordance with the terms of the Plan. A Successor Grantee must furnish proof 
satisfactory to the Company of his or her right to receive the Grant under the Grantee's will or under the applicable laws of descent and 
distribution.  

(b) Transfer of Nonqualified Options. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may provide in a Grant Instrument that a Grantee may 
transfer Nonqualified Options to family members or other persons or entities, consistent with applicable securities laws, according to  
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such terms as the Committee may determine where the Committee determines that such transferability does not result in accelerated federal 
income taxation; provided that the Grantee receives no consideration for the transfer of an Option and the transferred Option shall continue to be 
subject to the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the Option immediately before the transfer.  

14. CHANGE OF CONTROL OF THE COMPANY  

(a) Definition. As used herein, a "Change of Control" shall be deemed to have occurred if:  

(i) The stockholders of the Company approve (or, if stockholder approval is not required, the Board approves) an agreement providing for: (A) 
the merger or consolidation of the Company with another corporation where the stockholders of the Company, immediately prior to the merger 
or consolidation, will not beneficially own, immediately after the merger or consolidation, Shares entitling such stockholders to more than 50% 
of all votes to which all stockholders of the surviving corporation would be entitled in the election of directors (without consideration of the 
rights of any class of stock to elect directors by a separate class vote), (B) the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of 
the Company, or (C) a liquidation or dissolution of the Company.  

(ii) Any "person" (as such term is used in sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act) becomes a "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 
under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company representing a majority of the voting power of the then outstanding 
securities of the Company except where the acquisition is approved by the Board; or  

(iii) Any person has commenced a tender offer or exchange offer for a majority of the voting power of the then outstanding Shares of the 
Company.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a "Change of Control" shall not be deemed to occur if any entity controlled by ICG subsequently acquires the 
Company through a merger or sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company.  

(b) Notice and Termination of Grants. Upon a Change of Control where the Company is not the surviving corporation (or survives only as a 
subsidiary of another corporation), unless the Committee determines otherwise,  
(i) all Options that are not vested and exercisable as of the Change of Control shall automatically terminate at the time of the Change of Control, 
(ii) all vested and exercisable Options that are not exercised as of the Change of Control shall be assumed by, or replaced with comparable 
options or rights by, the surviving corporation (or a parent or subsidiary of the surviving corporation), and (iii) all other outstanding Grants shall 
be converted to similar grants of the surviving corporation (or a parent of subsidiary of the surviving corporation). Such termination of Options 
that are not vested and exercisable shall take place as of the date of the Change of Control or such other date as the Committee may specify.  
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(c) Other Alternatives. Notwithstanding the foregoing, subject to  
Section (d) below, in the event of a Change of Control, the Committee may take any, or a combination of any, of the following actions: (i) 
provide that all outstanding Options and SARs shall automatically accelerate and become fully exercisable, the restrictions and conditions on all 
outstanding Restricted Shares shall immediately lapse, and for Grantees holding Performance Shares, the Grantees will receive a payment in 
settlement of such Performance Shares, in an amount determined by the Committee, based on the Grantee's target payment for the Performance 
Period and the portion of the Performance Period that precedes the Change of Control; (ii) provide that all outstanding Options and SARs that 
are not vested and exercisable will be assumed by, or replaced with comparable options or rights by, the surviving corporation if not the 
Company (or a parent or subsidiary of the surviving corporation if not the Company); or (iii) require that Grantees surrender their outstanding 
Options and SARs in exchange for a payment by the Company, in cash or Shares as determined by the Committee, in an amount equal to the 
amount by which the then Fair Market Value of the Shares subject to the Grantee's unexercised Options and SARs exceeds the Exercise Price of 
the Options or the base amount of the SARs, as applicable.  

(d) Committee. The Committee making the determinations under this  
Section 14 following a Change of Control must be comprised of the same members as those on the Committee immediately before the Change of 
Control. If the Committee members do not meet this requirement, the automatic provisions of  
Section 14(b) above shall apply in the case of such a Change of Control, and the Committee shall not have discretion to vary them.  

(e) Limitations. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, in the event of a Change of Control, unless the Committee determines that 
such action is in the best interests of the Company, the Committee shall not have the right to take any actions described in the Plan (including 
without limitation actions described in Section 14(c) above) that would result in adverse accounting treatment or that would make the Change of 
Control ineligible for desired tax treatment if, in the absence of such right, the Change of Control would qualify for such treatment and the 
Company intends to use such treatment with respect to the Change of Control.  

15. PUBLIC OFFERING  

(a) In the event of a Public Offering, unless the Committee determines otherwise, all outstanding Options that are not vested and exercisable as 
of the date of the Public Offering shall terminate at the time of the Public Offering. Unless the Committee determines otherwise, all vested and 
exercisable Options and all other Grants (regardless of whether vested and exercisable), shall remain unchanged as a result of the Public 
Offering.  

(b) For purposes of this Section 15, "Public Offering" shall mean the consummation of the first registered public offering of the common stock 
of the Company in a firm commitment underwriting.  
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16. REQUIREMENTS FOR ISSUANCE OR TRANSFER OF SHARES  

No Shares shall be issued or transferred in connection with any Grant hereunder unless and until all legal requirements applicable to the issuance 
or transfer of such Shares have been complied with to the satisfaction of the Committee. The Committee shall have the right to condition any 
Grant made to any Grantee hereunder on such Grantee's undertaking in writing to comply with such restrictions on his or her subsequent 
disposition of such Shares as the Committee shall deem necessary or advisable as a result of any applicable law, regulation or official 
interpretation thereof, and certificates representing such Shares may be legended to reflect any such restrictions. Certificates representing Shares 
issued or transferred under the Plan will be subject to such stop-transfer orders, registration and other restrictions as may be required by 
applicable laws, regulations and interpretations, including any requirement that a legend be placed thereon.  

17. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF THE PLAN  

(a) Amendment. The Board may amend or terminate the Plan at any time.  

(b) Termination of Plan. The Plan shall terminate on the day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of its effective date, unless the Plan is 
terminated earlier by the Board.  

(c) Termination and Amendment of Outstanding Grants. A termination or amendment of the Plan that occurs after a Grant is made shall not 
materially impair the rights of a Grantee unless the Grantee consents or unless the amendment is required in order to comply with applicable law. 
The termination of the Plan shall not impair the power and authority of the Committee with respect to an outstanding Grant. Whether or not the 
Plan has terminated an outstanding Grant may be terminated or amended in accordance with the Plan or may be amended by agreement of the 
Company and the Grantee consistent with the Plan.  

(d) Governing Document. The Plan shall be the controlling document. No other statements, representations, explanatory materials or examples, 
oral or written, may amend the Plan in any manner. The Plan shall be binding upon and enforceable against the Company and its successors and 
assigns.  

18. FUNDING OF THE PLAN  

The Plan shall be unfunded. The Company shall not be required to establish any special or separate fund or to make any other segregation of 
assets to assure the payment of any Grants under the Plan. In no event shall interest be paid or accrued on any Grant, including unpaid 
installments of Grants.  

19. RIGHTS OF PARTICIPANTS  

Nothing in the Plan shall entitle any Employee, Non-Employee Director, Key Advisor or other person to any claim or right to be granted a Grant 
under the Plan. Neither the Plan nor any  
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action taken hereunder shall be construed as giving any individual any rights to be retained by or in the employ of the Company or any other 
employment rights.  

20. NO FRACTIONAL SHARES  

No fractional Shares shall be issued or delivered pursuant to the Plan or any Grant. The Committee shall determine whether cash, other awards 
or other property shall be issued or paid in lieu of such fractional Shares or whether such fractional Shares or any rights thereto shall be forfeited 
or otherwise eliminated.  

21. HEADINGS  

Section headings are for reference only. In the event of a conflict between a title and the content of a Section, the content of the Section shall 
control.  

22. EFFECTIVE DATE OF THE PLAN  

The Plan shall be effective on September 5, 2001, subject to the authorization of Shares for issuance under the Plan by ICG's Board of Directors.  

23. MISCELLANEOUS  

(a) Grants in Connection with Corporate Transactions and Otherwise. Nothing contained in the Plan shall be construed to (i) limit the right of the 
Committee to make Grants under the Plan in connection with the acquisition, by purchase, lease, merger, consolidation or otherwise, of the 
business or assets of any corporation, firm or association, including Grants to employees thereof who become Employees or for other proper 
corporate purposes, or (ii) limit the right of the Company to grant stock options or make other awards outside of the Plan. Without limiting the 
foregoing, the Committee may make a Grant to an employee of another corporation who becomes an Employee by reason of a corporate merger, 
consolidation, acquisition of stock or property, reorganization or liquidation involving the Company or any of its subsidiaries in substitution for a 
stock option or restricted share grant made to such employee by such corporation. The terms and conditions of the substitute grants may vary 
from the terms and conditions required by the Plan and from those of the substituted stock incentives. The Committee shall prescribe the 
provisions of the substitute grants.  

(b) Compliance with Law. The Plan, the exercise of Options and SARs and the obligations of the Company to issue or transfer Shares under 
Grants shall be subject to all applicable laws and to approvals by any governmental or regulatory agency as may be required. With respect to 
persons subject to section 16 of the Exchange Act, it is the intent of the Company that the Plan and all transactions under the Plan comply with 
all applicable provisions of Rule 16b-3 or its successors under the Exchange Act. To the extent that any legal requirement of section 16 of the 
Exchange Act as set forth in the Plan ceases to be required under section 16 of the Exchange Act, that Plan provision shall cease to apply. The 
Committee may revoke any Grant if it is contrary to law or modify a Grant to bring it into compliance with any valid and  
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mandatory government regulation. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, agree to limit its authority under this Section 23(b).  

(c) Governing Law. The validity, construction, interpretation and effect of the Plan and Grant Instruments issued under the Plan shall exclusively 
be governed by and determined in accordance with the law of the State of Delaware.  
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       *           *           *            *           *           * 
 
 Date:September 5, 2001                      LOGISTICS.COM, INC. 
 
                                             By: /s/ John P. Lanigan, Jr. 
                                                 ------------------------ 
                                                   John P. Lanigan, Jr. 
                                                   President 
Attest: 
 
By: __________________ 



EXHIBIT 10.3.1  

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO THE  
LOGISTICS.COM, INC.  

2001 EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN  

WHEREAS, on January 2, 2003, Logistics.com, Inc. changed its name to LGO Corporation;  

WHEREAS, LGO Corporation (the "Company") maintains the Logistics.com, Inc. 2001 Equity Compensation Plan (the "Plan") for the benefit 
of its and its parents and subsidiaries eligible employees, certain advisors and consultants who perform services for the Company and its parents 
and subsidiaries, and non-employee members of the Company's Board of Directors;  

WHEREAS, the Company's Board of Directors (the "Board") desires to change the name of the Plan, and all references in the Plan, to reflect the 
change in the name of the Company;  

WHEREAS, the Board also desires to amend the Plan to provide that the Internet Capital Group, Inc. Board of Directors will have authority to 
take all actions that the Board has under the Plan; and  

WHEREAS, Section 17(a) of the Plan provides that the Board may amend the Plan at any time.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in accordance with the foregoing, effective January 23, 2003, the Plan shall be amended as follows:  

1. The Plan shall be renamed as the LGO Corporation 2001 Equity Compensation Plan.  

2. Except as provided in item 3 below, all references in the Plan to "Logistics.com, Inc." shall be changed to "LGO Corporation".  

3. All references in the Plan to the "Logistics.com, Inc. Board of Directors" shall be changed to the "Internet Capital Group, Inc. Board of 
Directors".  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, and as evidence of the adoption of Amendment No. 1 set forth herein, the Board has caused this Amendment to be 
executed this 23rd day of January, 2003.  

LGO CORPORATION  

 

BY: /s/ R. Kirk Morgan 
    ------------------ 
NAME:  R. Kirk Morgan 
TITLE: Vice President 



EXHIBIT 10.25  

December 11, 2002  

Henry Nassau  
113A Swedesford Road  
Wilson Farm  
Malvern, PA 19355  

Dear Henry,  

The Board of Directors and I place a high priority upon retaining your services to ICG and in rewarding for your valuable contributions. In 
addition your advice, guidance, and perspective have been invaluable to members of our management team.  

Therefore, I am very pleased to communicate changes to your compensation and terms of employment approved by the Compensation 
Committee. All other employment terms and conditions remain the same.  

- A promotion to Chief Operating Officer effective January 1, 2003.  

- A target bonus of 150% beginning effective beginning for fiscal year 2002.  

- A modification of your severance agreement dated September 20, 2001 which adds "a voluntary resignation six months after the naming of any 
individual other than Walter Buckley as Chief Executive Officer, or any individual other than yourself as President or Chief Operating Officer 
prior to December 31, 2005", as an eligible termination for severance benefits.  

- A stock option grant of 950,000 shares priced at $0.23. 500,000 of these stock options will vest 25% after one year and the remainder will vest 
monthly over next three years. 225,000 of these stock options cliff vest 100% after four years with accelerated vesting upon achievement of 
specific Core Partner Company positive EBITDA for two consecutive quarters. 225,000 stock options will cliff vest 100% after four years with 
accelerated vesting upon achievement of specific ICG net income for two quarters. You will shortly receive stock option certificates and 
materials detailing the full terms and conditions of this stock option grant.  

My belief is that the current ICG team, including you, is outstanding and will drive our success against our business plan. I sincerely thank you 
for your dedication, commitment, and personal support through the challenges I have faced over the last three years. I look forward to working 
with you even more closely in your new role and have the greatest confidence in our future success as a team.  

Sincerely,  

 

/s/Walter Buckley 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
 
cc: employee file 



EXHIBIT 10.26  

February 4, 2003  

Tony Dolanski  
4 Roselawn Lane  
Malvern, PA 19355  

Dear Tony,  

The Board of Directors and I recognize you as a valuable contributor to Internet Capital Group. We place a high priority upon retaining your 
services to ICG and in rewarding you for your commitment, dedication, and hard work. I am, therefore, very pleased to communicate a 
severance package that will be made available to you should you be terminated other than for cause prior to December 31, 2005. A summary of 
these severance benefits is listed below.  

- SEVERANCE PAY - ICG will pay you at the date of termination of employment a lump sum payment equal to 12 months of base salary plus 
target bonus at the rate existing at termination of employment.  

- ANNUAL BONUS - ICG will pay you at the same time, under the same terms and conditions as other employees, a pro-rated bonus for service 
through your termination date, based on your individual performance and ICG's performance for that period as determined by the Board of 
Directors.  

- EMPLOYEE BENEFITS - ICG will continue to provide you and your family medical and dental insurance at the same percent of premium 
payment existing at the time of termination until the earlier of (A) 12 months after termination of employment; or (B) your eligibility for any of 
these benefits under another employer's or spouse's employer's plan.  

- OUTPLACEMENT - ICG will provide you career counseling until the earlier of (A) 12 months after termination of employment; or (B) your 
employment with a subsequent employer.  

- EQUITY - ICG Management will recommend to the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors that your stock options and restricted 
stock be subject to the better of the following: (A) credit for an additional 12 months service (compared to your actual service with ICG); or (B) 
application of the terms of the relevant option or restricted stock agreement. Such options shall be exercisable after your termination of 
employment to the earlier of 1) twenty-four months or 2) 12 months after the ICG share price is maintained at $10 for 20 trading days.  

- CHANGE IN CONTROL - In the event of an involuntary termination caused by a change in control as defined in the summary plan 
description, you will receive 100% acceleration of all equity grants. The term to exercise any option grant shall be extended to the remaining 
term of the option.  



- RELEASE - Availability of these severance benefits will be conditioned upon your executing, and not rescinding or breaching, upon 
termination of employment a release of liability in a form acceptable to ICG. If you elect not to sign a release of liability, you will be eligible for 
the standard severance package applicable at that time. That package currently consists of one month's pay plus two week's pay per year of 
completed service and paid medical and dental insurance for you and your family for the standard severance period  

My belief is that the current ICG team, including you, is outstanding and will drive our success against our business plan. This success will 
provide meaningful financial rewards to our shareholders and employees.  

Sincerely,  

 

/s/ Walter Buckley 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
 
cc: employee file 



.  
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Exhibit 21.1  

Subsidiaries of Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

 

Name                                                                            Jurisdiction of Incorporation 
----                                                                            ----------------------------- 
Internet Capital Group Operations, Inc.                                                      Delaware 
Internet Capital Group (Europe), Ltd.                                                     United Kingdom 
ICG Holdings, Inc.                                                                           Delaware 
1999 Internet Capital Group (Europe) L.P.                                                    Delaware 
Inreon Holdings L.L.C.                                                                       Delaware 
Agribuys, Inc.                                                                              California 
Anthem/CIC Ventures Fund L.P.                                                                Delaware 
Arbinet - thexchange Inc.                                                                    Delaware 
Blackboard, Inc.                                                                             Delaware 
Captive Capital Corporation (fka eMarket Capital, Inc.)                                      Delaware 
Citadon, Inc.                                                                               California 
ClearCommerce Corporation                                                                    Delaware 
CommerceQuest, Inc.                                                                           Florida 
     Cambridge Information Technology Limited                                             United Kingdom 
ComputerJobs.com, Inc.                                                                        Georgia 
Co-nect Inc. (fka Simplexis.com)                                                             Delaware 
CreditTrade Inc.                                                                             Delaware 
Delphion, Inc.                                                                               Delaware 
eCredit.com, Inc.                                                                            Delaware 
     eCredit.com (India) Private Limited                                                       India 
     eCredit Co., Ltd.                                                                         Japan 
eMerge Interactive, Inc.                                                                     Delaware 
Emptoris, Inc.                                                                               Delaware 
Entegrity Solutions Corporation                                                             California 
FreeBorders, Inc.                                                                            Delaware 
FuelSpot.com, Inc.                                                                           Delaware 
GoIndustry AG                                                                                 Germany 
ICG Commerce Holdings, Inc.                                                                  Delaware 
  Integrated Sourcing, LLC                                                                 Pennsylvania 
  ICG Commerce Investments, LLC                                                              Delaware 
  ICG Commerce International, LLC                                                            Delaware 
  ICG Commerce Mexico I, LLC                                                                 Delaware 
  ICG Commerce Mexico II, LLC                                                                Delaware 
  ICG Commerce UK Limited                                                                 United Kingdom 
  ICG Commerce Asia-Pacific Limited                                                          Hong Kong 
  ICG Commerce Singapore Pte Ltd.                                                            Singapore 
  ICG Commerce Germany GmbH                                                                   Germany 
  ICG Commerce France SAS                                                                     France 
  ICG Commerce Ireland Ltd.                                                                   Ireland 
  ICG Commerce Latin America, S. de. R.L., de C.V.                                            Mexico 
  ICG Commerce Services, S. de. R.L. de C.V.                                                  Mexico 
  epValue.com, Inc.                                                                          Delaware 
  epValue.com (France) SAS                                                                    France 
  epValue.com UK Limited                                                                  United Kingdom 
  hpi GmbH                                                                                    Germany 
inreon Limited                                                                            United Kingdom 
Internet Commerce Systems, Inc.                                                              Delaware 
Investor Force Holdings, Inc.                                                                Delaware 
iSky, Inc.                                                                                   Maryland 
Jamcracker, Inc.                                                                             Delaware 
LinkShare Corporation                                                                        Delaware 
LGO Corporation (fka Logistics.com, Inc.)                                                    Delaware 
Marketron International, Inc. (fka Buymedia, Inc.)                                           Delaware 
Mobility Technologies, Inc. (fka traffic.com, Inc.)                                          Delaware 
OneCoast Network Holdings, Inc. (fka USgift Corporation)                                      Georgia 
OnMedica Group PLC                                                                        United Kingdom 
Onvia.com, Inc.                                                                              Delaware 
Persona, Inc.                                                                                Delaware 
Sourceree Limited                                                                         United Kingdom 
StarCite, Inc.                                                                               Delaware 
Surgency, Inc. (fka Benchmarking)                                                          Massachusetts 



 

Name                                                                            Jurisdiction of Incorporation 
----                                                                            ----------------------------- 
 
Syncra Systems, Inc.                                                                         Delaware 
Tibersoft Corporation                                                                      Massachusetts 
Universal Access Global Holdings, Inc.                                                       Illinois 
Verticalnet, Inc.                                                                          Pennsylvania 
 
 
Unless otherwise provided, each of the subsidiaries named above do business 
under the same name. 



Exhibit 23.1  

Independent Auditors' Consent  

The Board of Directors  
Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

We consent to incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (No. 333-34736) on Form S-8 of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and 
subsidiaries of our reports dated February 20, 2003 with respect to the Consolidated Balance Sheets of Internet Capital Group, Inc. and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the related Consolidated Statements of Operations, Cash Flows, Stockholders' Equity 
(Deficit) and Comprehensive Loss for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2002 and related schedule, which reports 
appear in the December 31, 2002 annual report on Form 10-K of Internet Capital Group, Inc.  

Our report dated February 20, 2003 contains an explanatory paragraph that describes Internet Capital Group, Inc.'s change in its method of 
accounting for goodwill, discontinued operations, accounting for an investment, accounting for notes receivable from stockholders and reporting 
gains on extinguishment of debt in 2002 and derivatives in 2001.  

 

/s/ KPMG LLP 
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 
March 31, 2003 


